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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes (I No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports); and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes & No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this
chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files.
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under
Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C.7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. O

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an
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Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant's
executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes 0 No
The aggregate market value of the registrant’s voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant on June 30, 2023, the last business day of its most recently
completed second fiscal quarter, was approximately $262.44 million based on the closing sales price of the registrant’s common stock on that date. Shares of the registrant's common stock

held by each executive officer and director and by each person who may be deemed to be an affiliate of the registrant have been excluded from this computation. This determination of
affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes.
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stated herein. Such proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the registrant’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2023.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this "Report") to “Forge,” the “Company,” “us,” “we,” “our,”
and any related terms are intended to mean Forge Global Holdings, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Certain statements in this Report may constitute “forward-looking statements” for purposes of the federal securities laws. Our forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our or our management team’s expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions, or strategies regarding
the future. In addition, any statements that refer to projections, forecasts, or other characterizations of future events or circumstances, including any underlying
assumptions, are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intends,” “may,”
“might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would,” and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements, but
the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. Forward-looking statements in this Report may include, for example,
statements about our ability to:

99 ¢ 99 99 99 .

29 ¢, 2 ¢, 29 ¢,

« effectively respond to general macroeconomic and business conditions;

*  execute our business strategy, including monetization of services provided;

* anticipate the uncertainties inherent in the development of new business lines, strategies, products, and services;
*  anticipate rapid technological changes;

* respond to uncertainties associated with product and service development and market acceptance;
¢ increase brand awareness;

e attract, train, and retain effective officers, employees, directors, and other key personnel;

e acquire, develop, and protect intellectual property;

*  maintain key strategic relationships with partners;

* anticipate the significance and timing of contractual obligations;

*  enhance future operating and financial results;

* respond to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates;

* finance operations on an economically viable basis;

*  meet future capital adequacy and liquidity requirements;

*  obtain additional capital, including use of the debt market;

e comply with laws and regulations applicable to our business;

*  stay abreast of modified or new laws and regulations that would apply to our business;

* manage cyber and technology risk management processes, including incident management processes;
e upgrade and maintain information technology systems;

*  maintain disaster recovery and business continuity planning controls;

*  manage vendor and third party processes;

e access, collect, and use personal information and other data about consumers;

*  maintain the listing of our securities on the NYSE or another national securities exchange;

* anticipate the impact of, and response to, new accounting standards;

* anticipate the impact of new tax laws that would apply to our business; and

*  successfully defend litigation.

We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Report.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this
Report primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition, results
of operations, and prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties, and other factors,
including those described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Report. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing
environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact
on the forward-looking statements contained in this Report. We cannot assure you that the results, events, and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking
statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events, or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking
statements.

Neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of any of these forward-looking statements. Moreover, the
forward-looking statements made in this Report relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any
after the date of this Report or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the
plans, intentions, or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking
statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, partnerships, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, or
investments we may make.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based
upon information available to us as of the date of this Report, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such
information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of,
all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.
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Part1
Item 1. Business
Overview

Forge is building the private market of the future — a more accessible, transparent, and liquid market for participating in private market growth. We
offer a trusted trading platform, proprietary data, and insights to inform investment strategies, along with custody services to help companies, stockholders,
institutions, and accredited investors confidently navigate and transact in the private market. Our scaled and integrated business model is at the nexus of the
private market ecosystem, which we believe creates a sustaining competitive advantage fueling our customers' participation in the private market and our
growth. The key solutions offered by our platform include:

e Trading Solutions: Forge Markets is our platform that connects potential investors with private company stockholders and enables them to efficiently
facilitate private share transactions.

*  Custody Solutions: Forge Trust Co. is our non-depository trust company that enables customers to securely custody and manage assets through a
robust and user-friendly online portal.

e Data Solutions: Forge Data is our data business that provides market participants the information and insight to confidently navigate, analyze, and
make investment decisions in the private market.

We have strategically invested in our complementary solutions to collectively drive strong network effects and help power the private market
ecosystem. Our platform serves all private market participants, including companies, employee and investor stockholders, institutional investors, and
sophisticated accredited investors.

We attribute our track record of growth to the key strategic investments we have made since inception, the remarkable efforts of our employees, the
momentum contributed by our many customers, and our commitment to ensuring that our technology performs at the highest level.

Challenges in the Private Markets

Historically, participating in the private market was a complex and opaque endeavor for a number of reasons, including:
Lack of Liquidity

The private markets lacked technology, automated processes, and standardized documentation which led to an inefficient and illiquid market with little
volume. Transactions were primarily fully analog processes, using manual and administratively burdensome steps that demanded significant time and effort.
These issues were compounded because of market fragmentation; there was not a large-scale platform where many buyers and sellers could transact with one
another across a large swath of potential companies.
Lack of Access

Gaining access to opportunities in private companies was extremely difficult and historically was only available to a small number of well-connected
investors primarily made up of brand name angel investors and venture capital firms. In addition, the investment minimums were prohibitively high, usually in
the millions of dollars, which excluded most individual investors from participation.
Lack of Transparency

There was little information on private companies easily accessible to non-insiders. Information such as the amount of buy-side and sell-side interest

in companies, and the pricing of their shares was not readily available to market participants. This lack of transparency created uncertainty with market
participants who lacked the data they needed to make a well-informed investment decision.
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Forge’s Differentiated Solutions

We have developed and continue to enhance our infrastructure and complementary solutions which are purpose-built for the needs of private market
participants. We believe our robust technology platform, as well as our large network of customers, partners, and other market participants, provide us the
opportunity to transform the private market asset class and serve as the foundation on which others build their systems and businesses. Our intuitive online user
experience is supported by our private market specialists and our proprietary trading data, which we believe enables our solutions to work efficiently and
synergistically in one marketplace. Our solutions allow us to support our customer segments along their private market journeys by using our complementary
trading, data, and custody solutions either separately or together.

Trading Solutions

Forge Markets is our platform designed to efficiently connect individual and institutional accredited investors with the stockholders of private
companies. The customer experience is powered by an intuitive user interface that enables investors to register for free, explore private company data and
insights, discover trade opportunities, and easily indicate trade interest for execution in these opportunities.

Each prospective customer must satisfy certain participation criteria (e.g., accreditation) and provide customer identification information. Only
accredited investors are eligible to invest in private securities through our platform. Our Know Your Customer (“KYC”) and Anti-Money Laundering (“AML”)
processes permit us to verify an investor’s accreditation or stockholder’s identity quickly and efficiently.

While sellers do not need to qualify as accredited investors to sell their private securities, the sale of their shares on our platform can enable them to
meet the requirements to qualify as an accredited investor, which in turn provides them with the opportunity to reinvest their money into other available private
company securities.

Inside the Forge Markets experience, customers who are accredited investors can search for companies by name, sector, or valuation. Starting a trade
on the Forge platform commences when a customer submits an indication of interest (“IO0I”) including whether they are buying or selling, the series or class of
equity they want to sell or buy (e.g., preferred, common, or both) and the price range and the volume range at which they are willing to buy or sell. For the year
ended December 31, 2023, the standard minimum transaction size on our platform was $100,000; however, we allow an amount less than this under certain
circumstances such as upon the specific request of certain sellers or to receive a partial execution of a larger order.

We facilitate two main types of trades through Forge Markets. The first is a direct secondary transfer and the second is a pooled investment vehicle
(each, an “Investment Fund”’) which can aggregate multiple buyers and multiple sellers. The transaction flow is similar for both transaction types: a potential
seller and buyer each submit an IOI, the buyers and sellers are matched up, and the company approves the transaction.

We facilitate secondary purchases and/or sales of private company securities (“direct secondary transactions”), such as preferred and common stock,
as well as private fund units of Investment Funds that hold private company securities as underlying assets. Direct secondary transactions are typically
conducted pursuant to Section 4(a)(1), or case law interpretations thereunder, which provides an exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (the "Securities Act"). For the year ended December 31, 2023, transactions on our platform take an average of 42 days to complete from IOl match
to close, and the majority of direct secondary transactions are between one buyer and one seller.

Our process is designed to support the requirements of the applicable exemption from registration. For example, since a buyer through our platform
must at minimum be an ‘accredited investor’ as defined by Rule 501(a) of Regulation D, we collect information from the buyer through an accreditation
process. Additional steps taken to support an exemption from registration, including acquiring some verification of ownership from the seller by which we can
document how the seller came to own the shares, such as a share acquisition agreement or stock certificate.

We also provide a template purchase agreement that the buyer and seller can use to ensure that each party is legally bound to proceed with the
transaction, subject to approval by the issuer. Our template contains standard representations typically used in this type of agreement; however, we are not a
party to the purchase agreement and the buyer and seller are free to negotiate the template or use their own version.
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At the closing of a transaction, we facilitate the execution of the final agreement for transfer of beneficial ownership. Typically, this is an issuer’s
specific stock transfer agreement (“STA”), which supersedes the purchase agreement, and contains applicable restrictions pertaining to the shares, as well as
representations by the buyer, such as (i) that the purchase is solely for investment purposes and not for further distribution, (ii) understanding that the securities
are “restricted securities” and may not be freely traded, and (iii) that the sale of the securities is not registered under the Securities Act. In most cases, the STA
also contains a copy of the legends contained on the stock certificate. Similarly to the purchase agreement, we facilitate the execution of the STA only in and
administrative capacity, and are not a party to and do not control the final terms of the STA.

Forge Markets generates supply through two primary sources: (i) employees and stockholders of private companies seeking to sell shares and (ii)
relationships with private companies who may be seeking to provide liquidity opportunities for their employees ahead of an IPO, acquisition, or other exit
event. We also source supply from financial institutions such as venture capital and private equity firms as well as cross-over institutional investors, hedge
funds, family offices, and capital aggregators that look to us to solve their liquidity needs.

We believe that our participant network, along with the workflows we have created to structure and efficiently process direct secondary and
Investment Fund transactions, are challenging to replicate, create a strong barrier to entry, and provide us the flexibility to optimally serve the private market in
a manner that reflects the needs of both individual and institutional investors and also enables companies to stay private longer while attracting and retaining
talent.

Our platform offers a user friendly workflow for what is otherwise a technically challenging and complex trade flow and allows us to do that at scale.
In addition, our private market specialists support buyers and sellers who have questions or otherwise need help completing their transactions. The expertise
our private market specialists provide is invaluable to help educate customers on the steps needed to access the private markets using our platform. We believe
that through additional investments in technology, our platform will continue to further streamline historically fully analog processes, therefore driving greater
efficiency in the execution of private market trades.

We earn revenue on Forge Markets through placement fee revenue that we charge buyers and/or sellers. These fees, which we call take rates or
commissions, are based on several factors including size of transaction, type of structure, type of buyer and seller, and use of a third-party broker. Participants
may pay a higher commission if the notional amount of the transaction is less than our typical minimum transaction amount. We take into consideration the
following factors for determining any variance in our commissions charged: (i) availability of the security generally, (ii) estimated internal expenses on the
transaction, and (iii) total cost to buyers and sellers (i.e. does the buyer or seller pay additional fees imposed by the issuer, such as for legal opinions, transfer
fees, or escrow fees).

To further strengthen our ties in the private market, our tech-enabled offering private company solutions provide private companies with streamlined
liquidity processes, expert guidance, and relationship management. Our private company solutions leverage our software solution to provide private companies
with oversight and control of company share transactions while reducing administrative burden. We facilitate fixed-price programs and market-based programs
that provide issuer standard documentation and streamlined online workflows to efficiently run liquidity processes for stockholders and investors.

Custody Solutions

Forge Trust makes it easy and seamless for investors, equity holders, and institutions to hold, value, and manage assets. Through a South Dakota trust
company, Forge Trust enables account holders to invest and custody assets such as private company shares, private equity, venture capital, and real estate.

Forge Trust currently serves primarily as a custodian of self-directed individual retirement accounts ("SDIRAs") holding alternative assets. The
evaluation of investment suitability and risks rests with the account holder and their advisor, if any. As a result, Forge Trust is not responsible for the financial
performance of custodial assets and does not provide any insurance coverage for the investment risks that are entirely borne by the SDIRA owner.

In addition, Forge Trust offers a powerful, highly scalable cloud-based custody platform that provides custody-as-a-service to our clients. The custody
platform provides an application programming interface (“API”) that enables our clients to easily integrate and offer our custody platform to their customers.
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Our custody business earns recurring revenue from quarterly account and asset fees, cash administration fees, partnership fees, and other transactional
fees on accounts held at Forge Trust. On a quarterly basis, our SDIRA accounts are assessed maintenance fees and asset-based fees, with asset-based fees based
on the complexity and the number of assets held. In addition, we assess per transaction fees based on the complexity of the transaction. This excludes our
custody-as-a-service account revenues, which are based on contractually negotiated terms with our partners. As of December 31, 2023, Forge Trust had $15.6
billion of assets under custody through 2.1 million accounts.

Data Solutions

We aggregate, verify, anonymize, and supplement private market data, including historical trade and 101 data from our Forge Markets platform. As of
December 31, 2023, this data set contained secondary trading data on more than 1,000 private companies. In addition to this secondary trading data, we provide
non-trading data that investors can also use to research and analyze investment opportunities, including:

*  Company descriptions and information on management teams and investors;

e Primary financing round data;

*  Analytics such as sector insights, peer comparisons, and investment trends of prominent investors;

*  Company waterfall charts, which can be used to analyze the changes in equity ownership and valuation resulting from different exit scenarios;
»  Preferred equity conversion ratios and company protective provisions such as liquidation preferences;

¢ Mutual fund marks; and

e Public company comparable data, such as share price, change in share price, and estimated valuations.

As of December 31, 2023, this data set contained non-trading data on more than 2,500 private companies and 500 previously private, now public
companies. Subscribers can access all such trading and non-trading data through our Forge Intelligence web platform, as well as through our data feed offerings
and file-based and API delivery so that investors can utilize this data set in a manner that best matches their investment processes. Forge Intelligence is our
subscription-based platform that services market participants looking for timely and accurate data about the private market. We aim to grow this revenue stream
moving forward through direct sales, distribution and partnership arrangements, referrals from our Markets and Custody solutions, and by adding new features
and upgrades.

Our Growth Strategy

We believe the private market has an unmet need for the solutions we have built. We expect to leverage our platform to continue to drive growth
primarily in the following areas:

e Additional Scale. We will continue to invest and scale our key solutions and build our customer and investor networks.
*  New Products. We will continue to build and add new products in support of, or in addition to our existing solutions.

e Partnerships. We are building strong relationships with partners that we can work with to create improved technologies and help distribute our
products and services.

o International Expansion. Issuers, buyers, and sellers from over 80 jurisdictions have transacted on our platform since inception (as of December 31,
2023 and including the historical business and companies we have acquired on a pro forma basis). While our operations are chiefly located in the
United States and the majority of our trading revenues are derived from transactions involving U.S. issuers, we have and may continue to expand our
operations internationally in order to match the global demand for our products and services, including our recent expansion into the European private
market with the establishment of Forge Europe with our long-time strategic partner Deutsche Borse. For more information, see “Risk Factors—
Regulatory, Tax, and Legal Risks—We have expanded and may continue to expand into international markets, which expose us to significant new
risks, and our international expansion efforts may not be successful.”

e New Asset Classes. We will continue to explore other asset classes that have significant investor demand.
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e Inorganic Opportunities. We will focus on value-generating mergers, acquisitions and other strategic transactions, drawing on our track record of
successfully completing acquisitions.

Our Competitive Strengths

We have built a leading financial services platform to streamline a complex and historically fully analog process and, in the process, changed the
landscape of private market investing for companies, employees, and investors. We believe we are well-positioned to serve an increasing portion of the broader
financial services ecosystem.

Solely Focused on the Private Market

Since inception, we have built world-class technology and invested heavily in an organization focused solely on facilitating private market
transactions. This proprietary technology and operating expertise is supported by standard documentation and efficient workflows which makes the processing
of trades a more efficient and user-friendly experience. Amassing the technical expertise and know-how to perform these tasks at scale is difficult, and we
believe we are uniquely positioned as we continue to streamline large parts of this traditionally fully analog process.

Strategy Powered by Complementary and Integrated Solutions

We strategically built our business model around complementary solutions to deliver a robust set of products and services that provide a synergized
customer experience, and strong user economics. We believe over time customers will increasingly look to end-to-end providers such as us that can provide a
holistic approach to their private market needs. We believe the investments we have and continue to make will enable us to quickly introduce new products and
services while also providing us the opportunity to quickly and profitably continue to scale.

Leading Platform in the Private Markets Operating at Scale

We believe that we are a leading private market trading platform based on the number of transactions we facilitate and a strong network of
participating companies, employees and investors, as well as strategic investors and commercial partners. We have facilitated over $14 billion in transaction
volume for approximately 25,000 transactions in approximately 570 companies (each figure from inception through December 31, 2023 and including the
historical business and companies we have acquired on a pro forma basis). We have approximately 636,000 registered users, which includes approximately
618,000 individual investors and approximately 18,000 institutional investors, with institutional investors representing approximately 57% of our transaction
volume since inception (each figure from inception through December 31, 2023 and including the historical business and companies we have acquired on a pro
forma basis). We define institutional investors as (i) participants on our platform who report as legal entities with primary business activities related to private
equity, investment activities, or financial services and (ii) participants we verify as such. We continually seek customer feedback and invest resources to
improve the user experience, accelerate liquidity, and attract new customers to our platform.

Technology and Creative Product Design

We believe participation in the private markets at scale can only happen by actively engaging with, and providing access to, a larger portion of the
population through intuitive user-friendly technology and products. We put innovation and design at the center of our products with the goal of making the user
experience as easy and enjoyable as possible. We involve our talented product designers early and often throughout our product development process to create
elegant experiences that solve the private markets’ biggest pain points and address our customers’ largest needs.

Diverse and Experienced Team

We have assembled a deep and experienced leadership team that includes senior executives from innovative technology companies, top-tier financial
firms, leading public market exchanges, and globally recognized asset managers. We operate as one team, leveraging our collective expertise, particularly in
technology and product development, to enhance and expand our operations. We are also proud and fortunate to have talented and passionate employees that

are bold, humble, and accountable and a culture that puts trust, transparency, and collaboration top-of-mind.

Marketing
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Our marketing strategy creates enterprise value by building our brand, attracting, engaging, converting, and retaining customers, and delivering
compelling content and experiences that facilitate private market participation by institutions, accredited investors, and private company stockholders.

We strive to deliver on our brand promise to our customers, partners, and employees each and every day. As such, we know that marketing serves as
our voice to customers and the source of unification across the end-to-end customer journey. Our focus is to amplify Forge’s position as the experts in the
private markets and to develop customer experiences that reinforce that position.

We approach customer engagement and acquisition across a combination of owned, earned, and paid channels including:

*  Anintegrated growth strategy across product, marketing, and sales, that engages our discrete audiences to learn and participate in the private market
with Forge.

*  Arobust content strategy and search engine optimization that drives organic customer awareness and engagement.
*  Public relations, thought leadership, and social media that drives conversations, amplifies our messages, and attracts qualified customers to us directly.
*  Paid channels including paid search, digital acquisition, and sponsorships to target prospective customers across their journey.

*  Astrategic lifecycle communications program - through product and marketing - that engages prospects and customers with content and experiences
that serve to qualify and drive participation in the private market.

We believe we have built a highly effective and efficient approach to new customer engagement and lead acquisition, and are focused on expanding
our full-funnel marketing programs—from awareness to re-engagement—across our priority audiences to extend our reach and reinforce our position in the
market.

Competition

We compete with individual brokers and companies that provide access to private market trading, issuer tender offers, custody services, data products,
and other private market solutions. Competitors in these spaces include other private market platforms and offline brokers, global banks, custodial service
providers, and subscription-based data providers (including data divisions of large stock exchanges).

We believe we are highly differentiated relative to our competition as a result of having a business focused on unified and complementary solutions,
strategic and commercial partners that includes exchanges, global banks, cap table companies, and asset managers, as well as existing scale where volume
begets volume, creating an inflection point that accelerates market adoption for our solutions.

Human Capital Resources

At Forge, we believe that our people are our greatest asset. We welcome a diverse and inclusive environment and foster a culture where everyone can
show up as their whole self each day. We strive to create an environment where employees care for and respect each other, and embrace diversity by celebrating
different perspectives, skills, and experiences. As of December 31, 2023, we had 345 full-time employees. We also engage temporary employees and
consultants as needed to support our operations.

Employee Experience

Our priority is to promote a sense of belonging and community through our commitment to our overall vision and each other. We aim to cultivate
community and collaboration through an excellent employee experience. By providing transparency through continuous, high-impact communication, we
strive to ensure that employees understand what we do, how the organization works, and how their work impacts the greater goals of the organization. We have
also established
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Employee Resource Groups, which consist of our employees and represent our culture, diversity, volunteering, and community to build a stronger community
at Forge.

Diversity and Inclusion

Diversity is about our people, geography and partners. We strive to build a globally inclusive culture and diverse organization. Inclusion is about our
connections. We aim to build skills that nurture respectful conversations, create deeper human connections and encourage diverse interactions.

The purpose of our Diversity and Inclusion programs is advocacy for underrepresented groups, community service, and workplace wellness; ensure all
employees have the opportunity to be heard, valued, and engaged; and to share ideas, drive results, forge relationships, and ensure alignment between business

and diversity strategies.

Our Diversity and Inclusion programs continue to grow and evolve, just as we do as a team. Through our Diversity and Inclusion programs, we seek
to uplift coworkers and communities as we work with teammates across the organization to get involved and give back to the community.

Career Opportunities

Forge offers unique career development and growth opportunities in our fast-paced, high-growth environment. To facilitate this, we regularly promote
high achieving individuals to ensure our employees are recognized and progress through their career paths.

Health, Wellness, and Total Rewards

Our goal is to help our employees thrive by supporting where they are in their lives through competitive compensation and rich benefits offerings. Our
compensation programs are designed to attract, retain, and motivate employees who are highly skilled in their roles and share in our vision and values of being
bold, accountable, and humble. In addition to traditional benefits, we offer employee rewards and recognition programs to recognize and celebrate excellent
work that aligns with our core company values. We provide continuous recognition of employee milestones, wins, and hard work.

Values

We are driven by our dedication to a culture promoting shared values and putting team before self. We believe that this culture is advanced by striving
to be:

*  Bold: Innovate by delivering new ideas and solutions. We have the courage to take risks and push past our comfort zone while respectfully
challenging ideas. We redefine failures as learning opportunities.

e Accountable: Debate, commit, take ownership, and support the team. Once the direction has been determined, we work as a team by going beyond
personal responsibilities to deliver results.

*  Humble: Exemplify excellence without arrogance. We focus on collective success through collaboration while practicing empathy to support the
team. We listen with openness and seek to understand before being understood.

Government Regulation

We operate in a rapidly evolving regulatory environment and are subject to extensive and complex regulations. Any actual or perceived failure to
comply with these requirements may result in, among other things, revocation of required licenses or registrations, loss of approved status, regulatory or
governmental investigations, administrative enforcement actions, sanctions (including monetary penalties, civil, and criminal liability), litigation, reputational
harm, or constraints on our ability to operate. We could be subject to additional legal and regulatory requirements if laws and regulations change in the

jurisdictions we operate.

U.S. Regulation
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U.S. federal and state securities laws establish a system of regulation of securities, fund management, custody, and lending markets in which we
operate. This regulatory framework applies to our U.S. businesses in the following ways:

»  regulation of our broker-dealer and registered investment advisor subsidiaries;
*  regulation of our South Dakota chartered non-depository licensed trust company; and
»  regulation of our California licensed lending subsidiary.

Broker Dealer Regulation. Our broker-dealer subsidiary, Forge Securities LLC ("Forge Securities"), is subject to regulation by the SEC, the Financial
Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”), regulators in all U.S. states, Washington, DC, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands. FINRA is a self-regulatory
organization that oversees and regulates Forge Securities in addition to oversight and regulation by the SEC. Forge Securities also operates an SEC-regulated
alternative trading system that facilitates the purchase and sale of unregistered securities. Forge Securities is subject to the Bank Secrecy Act, as amended by
the USA PATRIOT Act (the "Bank Secrecy Act"), the regulations promulgated by the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (“FinCEN”), as well as the
economic and trade sanction programs administered by the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”).

Investment Advisor Regulation. Our investment adviser subsidiary, Forge Global Advisors LLC (“FGA?”), is registered with and subject to regulation
by the SEC under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (the "Advisers Act”). FGA provides advisory and management services to our Investment Funds that are
not registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940. The Advisers Act imposes duties and restrictions on FGA, including requirements relating to the
custody of client assets, prohibitions of fraudulent activities, disclosure and reporting obligations, and fiduciary duty obligations.

Trust Regulation. Our state-chartered non-depository trust company subsidiary, Forge Trust Co., is subject to regulation and examination by the South
Dakota Division of Banking. Forge Trust Co. provides individual investors custodial services for self-directed Traditional Individual Retirement Accounts,
Roth Individual Retirement Accounts, SIMPLE Accounts, SEP Accounts, and Coverdell Education Savings Accounts, as well as Inherited IRAs, Individual
Solo 401k plans, Private Fund Custody, and safekeeping. Forge Trust Co. is also subject to the Bank Secrecy Act, the regulations promulgated by FinCEN, as
well as the economic and trade sanction programs administered by OFAC.

Lending Regulation. Forge Lending LLC (“Forge Lending”), our licensed lender with the State of California, is subject to regulation and examination
by the Department of Financial Protection and Innovation pursuant to the California Financing Law. Forge Lending is engaged in the business of originating
loans to option holders in the stock of unregistered private companies for the purpose of exercising these options in connection with a follow up sale of the
acquired securities on Forge Markets.

European Regulation. Our European-based subsidiaries, Forge Europe GmbH (“Forge GmbH”) and Forge Europe UK Ltd (“Forge UK”) have
commenced their business operations in Germany and the United Kingdom. Forge GmbH has applied for a license with the Federal Financial Supervisory
Authority ("BaFin”) in order to provide investment brokerage services in Germany. While this application is under review by BaFin, Forge GmbH has
registered with BaFin as a tied agent to provide investment brokerage services in Germany exclusively under the license and liability of Effecta GmbH, an
independent third-party which is registered with BaFin as an investment firm. In addition, Forge UK, a wholly owned subsidiary of Forge GmbH, is an
appointed representative of Kroll Securities Limited, an independent third-party which is authorized and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority to
facilitate transactions in securities.

Data Privacy

Our businesses collect, store, share, transfer, use and otherwise process the personal data of individuals worldwide. Laws and regulations such as the
European Union General Data Protection Regulation, the California Consumer Privacy Act, and other U.S. state regulations may impose stringent data
protection requirements on our businesses and grant covered individuals various rights with regard to personal information relating to them, including in some
cases the right to request disclosure of the categories and specific pieces of personal information collected by our businesses and the right to request erasure of

such personal information.

Intellectual Property
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At Forge, we rely primarily on trade secret, copyright, and trademark law to protect our proprietary intellectual property in the United States and
foreign jurisdictions. Because federal, state, and common law rights provide only limited protection for intellectual property, we employ a strict policy of
requiring non-disclosure agreements and intellectual property protections in our vendor and licensing agreements, including feedback assignments and work-
for-hire provisions. As an example, Forge’s licensing agreement for our Forge Intelligence product features strong confidentiality and intellectual property
protections. Further, users of our websites and solutions all accept the terms of service that clearly identify content owned and controlled by Forge. We have
always emphasized innovation in our products and solutions. As of December 31, 2023, we have 18 patents issued or pending in the United States and
internationally.

Corporate Information

Forge was initially founded in January 2014 as Equidate, Inc. We acquired IRA Services, Inc. ("IRA Services") in October 2019. We acquired
SharesPost, Inc. ("SharesPost") in November 2020 (which was formed in March 2009). On March 21, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), we consummated our
business combination pursuant to the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 13, 2021 (the "Merger Agreement"), by and among Motive
Capital Corp, a blank check company incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company in 2020 ("MOTV"), FGI Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation
and wholly owned subsidiary of MOTYV (“Merger Sub”), and Forge Global, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Legacy Forge").

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on the Closing Date, immediately prior to the consummation of the Business Combination (as defined below),
MOTYV changed its jurisdiction of incorporation from the Cayman Islands to the State of Delaware and changed its corporate name to "Forge Global Holdings,
Inc." (the “Domestication”). On the Closing Date, Merger Sub merged with and into Legacy Forge (the "Merger"), with Legacy Forge surviving the Merger as
a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (together with the Merger, the Domestication, and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement, the “Business Combination”).

Our principal executive offices are located at 4 Embarcadero Center, Floor 15, San Francisco, California 94111, and our telephone number is (415)
881-1612. Our website address is www.forgeglobal.com. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website does not constitute part of this
Report and inclusions of our website address in this Report are inactive textual references only. You should not consider information contained on our website
to be part of this Report or in deciding whether to transact in our securities.

“Forge Global”, our logo, and our other registered or common law trademarks, service marks, or trade names appearing in this Report are the property
of Forge. Other trademarks and trade names referred to in this Report are the property of their respective owners.

Available Information

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to reports filed pursuant to
Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), are filed with the SEC. Such reports and other information
filed by us with the SEC are available free of charge on our website at www.ir.forgeglobal.com when such reports are available on the SEC’s website. The SEC
maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC
at www.sec.gov. The information contained on the websites referenced in this Report is not incorporated by reference into this filing. Further, our references to
website URLSs are intended to be inactive textual references only.

We announce material information to the public about our company and other matters through a variety of means, including our website
(www.forgeglobal.com), the investor relations section of our website (ir.forgeglobal.com), press releases, filings with the SEC, and public conference calls, in
order to achieve broad, non-exclusionary distribution of information to the public. We encourage investors and others to review the information we make
public in these locations, as such information could be deemed to be material information. Please note that this list may be updated from time to time.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the factors discussed elsewhere in this Report, the following risks and uncertainties, some of which have occurred and any of which may
occur in the future, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
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condition, results of operations, and cash flows. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also
impair our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. Our actual results may differ materially from any future results expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including, but not limited to, those discussed in the sections of this Report titled
“Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Risk Factor Summary

An investment in our securities is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, and the following is a summary of key risk factors when considering an
investment. You should read this summary together with the more detailed description of these and other risk factors contained in the subheadings further
below.

*  We have a history of losses and may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

e There is no assurance that our revenue and business models will be successful.

e If we are unable to develop new solutions or adapt to technological changes, our revenue may not grow as expected.

« Ifwe fail to retain our existing customers or acquire new customers in a cost-effective manner, our business could be harmed.

*  We face intense and increasing competition and, if we do not compete effectively, our competitive positioning and operating results will be harmed.

*  Given our focus on the private market, our customers may encounter additional risks when investing through our platform, including potential transfer
or sale restrictions on securities, lack of information about private companies, opacity in pricing, and liquidity concerns.

*  Unfavorable macroeconomic or financial market conditions, as well as adverse global economic or geopolitical conditions could limit our ability to
grow our business and adversely affect the results of our operations.

*  Our business is subject to extensive, complex, and evolving laws and regulations promulgated by U.S. state, U.S. federal, and non-U.S. laws,
including those applicable to broker-dealers, investment advisers, and alternative trading systems, such as regulation by the SEC and FINRA, and in
the jurisdictions in which we operate. These laws are subject to change and are interpreted and enforced by various federal, state, and local
government authorities, as well as self-regulatory organizations. Compliance with laws and regulations require significant expense and devotion of
resources, which may adversely affect our ability to operate profitably.

e We rely on our executive team and key personnel to grow our business, and the loss of or inability to hire either could harm our business.

e Cyber incidents or attacks directed at us and to our systems could result in unauthorized access, information theft, data corruption, operational
disruption, and/or financial and reputational loss.

e We collect, store, share, disclose, transfer, use, and otherwise process customer information and other data, including personal information, and an
actual or perceived failure by us or our third-party service providers to protect such information and data or respect customers’ privacy could damage
our reputation and brand, negatively affect our ability to retain customers and harm our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flows, and
prospects.

*  We depend on third parties for a wide array of services, systems, and information technology applications, and a breach or violation of law by one of
these third parties could disrupt our business. Additionally, the loss of any of those service providers could materially and adversely affect our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.

e We have previously completed and may continue to evaluate and complete acquisitions in the future, which could require significant management
attention, result in additional dilution to our stockholders, increase expenses, disrupt our business, and adversely affect our financial results.

Risks Related to Our Business
We have a history of losses and may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

Our net loss was $90.2 million and $111.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, we had
an accumulated deficit of $280.6 million. We may continue to incur net losses in the future. We will need to generate and sustain significant revenue for our

business generally in future periods in order to achieve and maintain profitability. We also expect general and administrative expenses to continue to increase to
meet the
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increased compliance and other requirements associated with operating as a public company and evolving regulatory requirements.

Our efforts to grow our business may be more costly than we expect, and we may not be able to increase our revenue sufficiently to offset our higher
operating expenses. We may continue to incur losses, and we may not achieve or maintain future profitability due to a number of reasons, including the risks
described in this Report, unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays, and other unknown events. Furthermore, if our future growth and
operating performance fail to meet investor or analyst expectations, or if we have future negative cash flow or losses resulting from expanding our operations,
this could make it difficult for you to evaluate our current business and our future prospects and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

There is no assurance that our revenue and business models will be successful.

The majority of our revenue historically is derived from commissions earned on securities-based transactions. We maintain a platform which generates
revenue through our Forge Markets offering by volume-based fees sourced from institutions, individual investors, and stockholders. Furthermore, although we
continue to invest and develop our platform to complete transactions in a more automated and tech enabled manner, portions of our platform rely upon manual
procedures carried out by our private market specialists who help facilitate trades between buyers and sellers. We also generate revenues through our Forge
Trust offering with account fees, cash management fees, and custody-as-a-service fees through custodial offerings, or custodial administration fees for all Forge
customers and also through our Forge Intelligence offering and private company solutions.

With respect to placement fee revenue, a decline in the price of securities transactions brokered by us, or a decline in the financial markets generally,
or a decline in fee rates could negatively impact our revenue and overall financial position. Additionally, if we fail to acquire and retain new institutions,
individual investors, and stockholders, or fail to do so in a cost-effective manner, we may be unable to increase revenue and achieve profitability for our Forge
Markets and Forge Trust offerings. Additionally, our Forge Intelligence offering and private company solutions may not gain market acceptance or prove to be
profitable in the long term. While some of our issuer customers may prefer that we not publish the transaction prices for transactions in their securities, which
could impact our Forge Intelligence and Forge Markets offerings, we maintain that such prices are, by definition, information belonging to us. We negotiate
exceptions to this policy on a case-by-case basis, and such exceptions have historically been very limited.

We continually refine our revenue and business model, which is premised on creating a virtuous cycle for our customers to engage in more products
across our platform. We promote our complementary offerings such as our Forge Intelligence offering and private company solutions to the institutions,
individual investors, and stockholders who partake in our Forge Markets offering. There is no assurance that these efforts will be successful or that we will
generate revenues commensurate with our efforts and expectations, or become profitable. We may be forced to make significant changes to our revenue and
business model to compete with our competitors’ offerings, and even if such changes are undertaken, there is no guarantee that they will be successful.
Additionally, we will likely be required to hire, train, and integrate qualified personnel to meet and further our business objectives, and our ability to
successfully do so is uncertain.

If we are unable to develop new solutions or adapt to technological changes, our revenue may not grow as expected.

We operate in a dynamic industry characterized by rapidly evolving technology, frequent product introductions, and competition based on pricing and
other differentiators. Our scalability could be contingent on us successfully building a mobile app for our services, which may be expensive and time
consuming, and the success of which is not guaranteed. In addition, we may increasingly rely on technological innovation as we introduce new types of
products, expand our current products into new markets, and continue to streamline our platform. The process of developing new technologies and products is
complex, and if we are unable to successfully innovate and continue to deliver a superior experience, demand for our products may decrease and our growth
and operations may be harmed.

If we fail to retain our existing customers or acquire new customers in a cost-effective manner, our business could be harmed.

Our continued business and revenue growth is dependent on our ability to cost-effectively attract new customers, retain existing customers, and
increase usage of our products and services, and we cannot be sure that we will be successful
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in these efforts. As we expand our business operations and potentially enter new markets, new challenges in attracting and retaining customers will arise that
we may not successfully address.

We face intense and increasing competition and, if we do not compete effectively, our competitive positioning and operating results will be harmed.

We expect our competition to continue to increase. In addition to established enterprises and global banks, we may also face competition from early-
stage companies attempting to capitalize on the same, or similar, opportunities as we are. Some of our current and potential competitors have longer operating
histories, significantly greater financial, technical, marketing, and other resources and a larger customer base than we do. Any of these advantages would allow
competitors to potentially offer more competitive pricing or other terms or features, a broader range of investment and financial products, or a more specialized
set of specific products or services, as well as respond more quickly than we can to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer preferences. Our
existing or future competitors may develop products or services that are similar to our products and services or that achieve greater market acceptance than our
products and services, which could attract new customers away from our services and reduce our market share. Additionally, when new competitors seek to
enter our markets, or when existing market participants seek to increase their market share, these competitors sometimes undercut, or otherwise exert pressure
on, the pricing terms prevalent in that market, which could adversely affect our revenues, market share, or ability to capitalize on new market opportunities.

Given our focus on the private market, our customers may encounter additional risks when investing through our platform, including potential transfer or
sale restrictions on securities, lack of information about private companies, opacity in pricing, and liquidity concerns.

Institutions and individual investors face significant risk when buying securities on our platform, which may make our offerings generally less
attractive. These risks include the following:

*  private companies may exercise their right of first refusal over the securities or otherwise prohibit the transfer of the securities, and therefore certain
securities on our platform may not be available to certain investors;

*  private companies are not required to make periodic public filings, and therefore certain capitalization, operational, and financial information may not
be available for evaluation;

e an investment may only be appropriate for investors with a long-term investment horizon and a capacity to absorb a loss of some or all of their
investment;

» the securities, when purchased, are generally highly illiquid, are often subject to further transfer restrictions, and no public market exists for such
securities;

*  post-IPO transfer restrictions, including lock-up restrictions, may ultimately limit the ability to sell the securities on the open market; and
*  transactions may fail to settle, which could harm our reputation.

We have and may in the future become involved in, disputes or litigation matters between customers with respect to failed transactions on our platform
(such as in the event of delayed delivery or a failure to deliver securities).

We have and may in the future become involved in, disputes and litigation matters between customers with respect to transactions on our platform.
The high notional value of transactions on our platform makes us a target for customers to engage in lawsuits between one another and/or with us. There is a
risk that customers may increasingly look to us to make them whole for delayed and/or broken trades. Customers may litigate over a failure of sellers to deliver
securities or over the untimely deliveries of securities. Any litigation to which we are a party could be expensive and time consuming, regardless of the ultimate
outcome, and the potential costs and risks of such litigation may incentivize us to settle. Additionally, we may agree to forego commissions in a failed
settlement situation even if we are not at fault or do not have an obligation to do so for customer relations or other reasons. If we reduce or forego commissions
on behalf of customers, it would lead to a reduction in profits.
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If we fail to effectively manage future growth by developing and investing in our infrastructure as appropriate, our business, operating results and
financial condition could be adversely affected.

We have and expect to continue to experience growth, and intend to continue to expand our operations. This growth has placed, and will continue to
place, significant demands on our management, operational, and financial infrastructure, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could
be materially and adversely affected if we are unable to manage such growth. Our future growth will depend on our ability to incur significant additional
expenses and commit additional senior management and operational resources. To manage our growth effectively, we must continue to improve our
operational, financial, and management systems and controls by, among other things:

« effectively attracting, training, integrating, and retaining new personnel;

» further improving our key business systems, processes, and information technology infrastructure, including our and third-party services, to support
our business needs;

* enhancing our information, training, and communication systems to ensure that our personnel are well-coordinated and can effectively communicate
with each other and our customers; and

*  improving our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures to ensure timely and accurate reporting of our
operational and financial results.

If we fail to manage our expansion, implement improvements, or maintain effective internal controls and procedures, our costs and expenses may
increase more than we plan and we may lose the ability to develop new solutions, satisfy our customers, respond to competitive pressures, or otherwise execute
our business plan.

Our projections and key performance metrics are subject to significant risks, assumptions, estimates, judgments, and uncertainties. As a result, our
financial and operating results may differ materially from our expectations.

We operate in a competitive industry, and our projections and calculations of key performance metrics are subject to the risks and assumptions made
by management with respect to our industry. Operating results are difficult to forecast because they generally depend on a number of factors, including the
competition we face, as well as our ability to attract and retain customers while generating sustained revenues through our services. We may be unable to adopt
measures in a timely manner to compensate for any unexpected shortfall in income. Any of these factors could cause our operating results in a given quarter to
be higher or lower than expected, which makes creating accurate forecasts and budgets challenging. As a result, we may fall materially short of our forecasts
and expectations, including with respect to our key performance metrics, which could cause our stock price to decline and investors to lose confidence in us
and our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may require additional capital to satisfy our liquidity needs and support the growth of our business, and this capital might not be available to us on
reasonable terms.

We may require additional capital to satisfy our liquidity needs, support the growth of our business, and respond to competitive challenges, including
the need to promote our products and services, develop new products and services, enhance our existing products, services, and operating infrastructure, and
acquire and invest in complementary companies, businesses, and technologies. When available cash is not sufficient for our liquidity and growth needs, we
may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. There can be no assurance that such additional funding will be available on terms
attractive to us, or at all, and our inability to obtain additional funding when needed could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

In addition, if additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, our stockholders could suffer significant
dilution, and any new shares we issue in connection therewith could have rights, preferences, and privileges superior to those of our current stockholders. Any
debt financing secured by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial and operational
matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue future business opportunities.

We are subject to regulations which require us to maintain appropriate capital adequacy and liquidity reserves.
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Maintaining adequate liquidity is crucial to our securities brokerage business operations, including key functions such as transaction settlement and
custody requirements. We meet our liquidity needs primarily from working capital and cash generated by customer activity, as well as from external equity
financing. Increases in the number of customers, fluctuations in customer cash or deposit balances, as well as market conditions or changes in regulatory
treatment of customer deposits, may affect our ability to meet our liquidity needs. Our broker-dealer subsidiary, Forge Securities, is subject to Rule 15¢3-1
under the Exchange Act, which specifies minimum capital requirements intended to ensure the general financial soundness and liquidity of broker-dealers.
Forge Securities is exempt from the requirements of Rule 15¢3-3 under the Exchange Act, which requires broker-dealers to maintain certain liquidity reserves.
Additionally, our trust company subsidiary, Forge Trust Co., is subject to minimum capital requirements of the State of South Dakota, in which it is chartered.

A reduction in our liquidity position could reduce our customers’ confidence in us, which could result in the withdrawal of customer assets and loss of
customers, or could cause us to fail to satisfy broker-dealer or other regulatory capital guidelines, which may result in immediate suspension of securities
activities, regulatory prohibitions against certain business practices, increased regulatory inquiries and reporting requirements, increased costs, fines, penalties,
or other sanctions, including suspension or expulsion by the SEC, FINRA, or other self-regulatory organizations or state regulators, and could ultimately lead
to the liquidation of our broker-dealers or other regulated entities.

We have previously completed and may continue to evaluate and complete acquisitions in the future, which could require significant management
attention, result in additional dilution to our stockholders, increase expenses, disrupt our business, and adversely affect our financial results.

Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to expand our business. In some circumstances, we may determine to do so through the acquisition of
complementary assets, businesses, and technologies rather than through internal development. The identification of suitable acquisition candidates can be
difficult, time-consuming, and costly, and we may not be able to successfully complete or integrate acquisitions. The risks we face in connection with
acquisitions include:

*  diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to addressing acquisition integration challenges;

e poor quality or misleading performance data available during due diligence, and resultant inability to realize the projected benefits of such
acquisitions;

*  coordination of technology, product development, risk management, sales, and marketing functions;

« retention of personnel from the acquired company, and retention of our personnel who were attracted to us because of our smaller size or for other
reasons;

e cultural challenges associated with integrating personnel from the acquired company into our organization;
* integration of the acquired company’s accounting, management information, human resources, and other administrative systems;

» the need to implement or improve controls, procedures, and policies at a business that prior to the acquisition may have lacked effective controls,
information security safeguards, procedures, and policies;

*  potential write-offs or impairments of goodwill, other intangible assets or long-lived assets;

» liability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including intellectual property infringement claims, violations of laws,
commercial disputes, tax liabilities, and other known and unknown liabilities;

e litigation or other claims in connection with the acquired company, including claims from terminated employees, subscribers, former stockholders, or
other third parties; and

e geographic expansion that may expose our business to known and unknown regulatory compliance risks including elevated risk factors for tax
compliance, money laundering controls, and supervisory controls oversight.
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Our failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with our acquisitions and investments could cause us to fail to realize
the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions or investments, cause us to incur unanticipated liabilities and harm our business generally. Future acquisitions
could also result in dilutive issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, regulatory obligations to further capitalize our
business, and goodwill and intangible asset impairments, any of which could harm our financial condition and negatively impact our stockholders. To the
extent we pay the consideration for any future acquisitions or investments in cash, it would reduce the amount of cash available to us for other purposes. In
addition, to the extent we issue equity securities to pay for any such acquisitions or investments, any such issuances of additional capital stock may cause
stockholders to experience significant dilution of their ownership interests and the per share value of our common stock to decline.

Unfavorable macroeconomic or financial market conditions, as well as adverse global economic or geopolitical conditions could limit our ability to grow
our business and adversely affect the results of our operations.

As a financial services company, our business, results of operations and reputation are directly affected by elements beyond our control, such as
macroeconomic and geopolitical conflicts that might affect the volatility in financial markets. In particular, market volatility can decrease investor appetite in
the private market and increase liquidity risks to private equity valuations given uncertainty around settlement prices for illiquid assets. Weaknesses in public
and private equity markets could also cause our existing customers to incur losses, which in turn could cause our brand and reputation to suffer.

Our business depends on our trusted brand, and failure to maintain and protect our brand, or any damage to our reputation, or the reputation of our
partners, could adversely affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

We believe we are developing a trusted brand that has contributed to the success of our business. We believe that maintaining and promoting our brand
in a cost-effective manner is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our products and services and expanding our base of customers. Maintaining,
promoting, and positioning our brand and reputation will depend on our ability to continue providing useful, reliable, secure, and innovative products and
services; to maintain trust and remain a financial services leader; and to provide a consistent, high-quality customer experience.

We may introduce, or make changes to, features, products, services, privacy practices, or terms of service that customers do not like, which may
materially and adversely affect our brand. Our brand promotion activities may not generate customer awareness or increase revenue, and even if they do, any
increase in revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building our brand. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand or if we incur
excessive expenses in this effort, our business could be materially and adversely harmed.

Harm to our brand can arise from many sources, including failure by us or our partners and service providers to satisfy expectations of service and
quality, inadequate protection or actual or perceived misuse of personally identifiable information, compliance failures and claims, regulatory inquiries and
enforcement, rumors, litigation and other claims, misconduct by our partners, personnel or other counterparties, and actual or perceived failure to adequately
address the environmental, social, and governance expectations of our various stakeholders, any of which could lead to a tarnished reputation and loss of
customers. We may in the future be the target of incomplete, inaccurate, and misleading or false statements about our company and our business that could
damage our brand and deter customers from adopting our services. Any negative publicity about our industry or our company, the quality and reliability of our
products and services, our compliance and risk management processes, changes to our products and services, our privacy, data protection, and information
security practices, litigation, regulatory licensing and infrastructure, and the experience of our customers with our products or services could adversely affect
our reputation and the confidence in and use of our products and services. If we do not successfully maintain a strong and trusted brand, our business, financial
condition, and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We conduct our brokerage and other business operations through subsidiaries and may in the future rely on dividends from our subsidiaries for a
substantial amount of our cash flows.

We may in the future depend on dividends, distributions, and other payments from our subsidiaries to fund payments on our obligations, including any
debt obligations we may incur. Regulatory and other legal restrictions may limit our ability to transfer funds to or from certain subsidiaries, including Forge
Securities. In addition, certain of our subsidiaries are subject to laws and regulations that authorize regulatory bodies to block or reduce the flow of funds to us,
or that prohibit such transfers altogether in certain circumstances. These laws and regulations may hinder our ability to access funds that we may
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need to make payments on our obligations, including any debt obligations we may incur and otherwise conduct our business by, among other things, reducing
our liquidity in the form of corporate cash. In addition to negatively affecting our business, a significant decrease in our liquidity could also reduce investor
confidence in us. Certain rules and regulations of the SEC and FINRA may limit the extent to which our broker-dealer subsidiary may distribute capital to us.
For example, under SEC rules applicable to Forge Securities, a dividend in excess of 30% of a member firm’s excess net capital may not be paid without Forge
Securities providing prior written notice. Compliance with these rules may impede our ability to receive dividends, distributions, and other payments from
Forge Securities.

Fluctuations in interest rates can affect the results of our operations.

Sustained high interest rates could shift investment preferences and flows affecting customer appetite for trading in private equity assets on our Forge
Markets platform, and could also adversely influence fund redemption rates and allocation within our subsidiary, Forge Global Advisors LLC ("FGA").
Conversely, low interest rates directly reduce our ability to earn custodial administration fees from our Forge Trust services, but could increase activity on our
Forge Markets platform and positively influence fund redemption rates and allocation within FGA. Accordingly, fluctuations in interest rates can both
positively and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and future prospects.

Failure to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have an adverse
effect on our business and stock price.

As a public company, we are required to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act. Internal control over financial reporting is complex and may be revised over time to adapt to changes in our business, or changes in applicable
accounting rules. We have designed, implemented, and tested our internal control over financial reporting required to comply with these obligations. This
process is time-consuming, costly, and complicated. We cannot assure you that our internal control over financial reporting will be effective in the future or that
a material weakness will not be discovered with respect to a prior period for which we had previously believed that internal controls were effective. Matters
impacting our internal controls may cause us to be unable to report our financial information on a timely basis or may cause us to restate previously issued
financial information, and thereby subject us to adverse regulatory consequences, including sanctions or investigations by the SEC, or violations of applicable
stock exchange listing rules. This could result in a negative reaction from the financial markets due to a loss of investor confidence in us and the reliability of
our financial statements. Confidence in the reliability of our financial statements is also likely to suffer if we report a material weakness in our internal control
over financial reporting. This could materially adversely affect us by, for example, leading to a decline in our share price and an inability to remain listed on the
NYSE. Furthermore, we could become subject to investigations by the NYSE, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial
and management resources. These events could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects.

If our goodwill, or other intangible assets, or fixed assets become impaired, we may be required to record a charge to our earnings.

We are required to test goodwill for impairment at least annually or earlier if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not
be recoverable. As of December 31, 2023, we had recorded a total of approximately $130 million of goodwill and other intangible assets. An adverse change in
domestic or global market conditions, and/or declines in our stock price, particularly if such change has the effect of changing one of our critical assumptions
or estimates made in connection with the impairment testing of goodwill or intangible assets, could result in a change to the estimation of fair value that could
result in an impairment charge to our goodwill or other intangible assets. Any such material charges may have a negative impact on our operating results or
financial condition.

Regulatory, Tax, and Legal Risks

Our business is subject to extensive, complex, and evolving laws and regulations promulgated by U.S. state, U.S. federal, and non-U.S. laws, including
those applicable to broker-dealers, investment advisers, and alternative trading systems, such as regulation by the SEC and FINRA, and in the jurisdictions
in which we operate. These laws are subject to change and are interpreted and enforced by various federal, state, and local government authorities, as well
as self-regulatory organizations. Compliance with laws and regulations require significant expense and devotion of resources, which may adversely affect
our ability to operate profitably.
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We are subject to various federal, state, and local regulatory regimes. The principal policy objectives of these regulatory regimes are to protect
borrowers, investors, and other financial services customers and to prevent fraud, money laundering, and terrorist financing. Laws and regulations, among other
things, impose licensing and qualifications requirements; require various disclosures and consents; mandate or prohibit certain terms and conditions for various
financial products; prohibit discrimination based on certain prohibited bases; prohibit unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices; require us to submit to
examinations by federal, state, and local regulatory regimes; and require us to maintain various policies, procedures, and internal controls, including in some
cases, internal information barriers. There is a risk that our affiliated entities will not maintain proper information barriers if we fail to develop and enforce
appropriate policies and procedures regarding information barriers between entities. The introduction of new laws and regulations related to our businesses, and
changes in the enforcement of existing laws and regulations, could have a negative impact on our results and ability to operate.

FGA is an investment adviser registered with the SEC under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the “Advisers Act”). As such, FGA is
subject to the anti-fraud provisions of the Advisers Act and to fiduciary duties derived from these provisions, which apply to our relationships with the funds
we manage. These provisions and duties impose restrictions and obligations on us with respect to our dealings with our customers, fund investors, and our
investments; including, for example, restrictions on transactions with our affiliates. In addition, FGA is subject to periodic SEC examinations and other
requirements under the Advisers Act and related regulations primarily intended to benefit advisory customers. These additional requirements relate to matters
including maintaining effective and comprehensive compliance programs, record-keeping, and reporting and disclosure requirements. The Advisers Act
generally grants the SEC broad powers, including the power to limit or restrict an investment adviser from conducting advisory activities in the event it fails to
comply with federal securities laws. Additional sanctions that may be imposed for failure to comply with applicable requirements include the prohibition of
individuals from associating with an investment adviser, the revocation of registrations, and other censures and fines. Even if an investigation or proceeding did
not result in a sanction or the sanction imposed against us or our personnel by a regulator were small in monetary amount, the adverse publicity relating to the
investigation, proceeding, or imposition of these sanctions could harm our reputation and cause us to lose existing customers or fail to gain new customers.

Our subsidiary, Forge Securities, is an SEC registered broker-dealer and member of FINRA that operates an alternative trading system. Broker-dealer
activities are highly regulated, including under federal, state, and other applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and we may be adversely affected by regulatory
changes related to suitability of financial products, supervision, sales practices, advertising, private placements, application of fiduciary standards, best
execution, and market structure, any of which could limit our business and damage our reputation. FINRA has adopted extensive regulatory requirements
relating to sales practices, advertising, registration of personnel, compliance and supervision, and compensation and disclosure, to which Forge Securities and
its personnel are subject. FINRA and the SEC also have the authority to conduct periodic examinations of Forge Securities, and may also conduct
administrative and enforcement proceedings. Additionally, material expansions of the business in which Forge Securities engages are subject to approval by
FINRA. This could delay, or even prevent, the firm’s ability to expand its securities and brokerage offerings in the future.

Our subsidiary, Forge Trust Co., is a South Dakota non-depository trust company authorized to act as a custodian of self-directed individual retirement
accounts. Forge Trust Co. is registered with and subject to regulation and examinations by the South Dakota Division of Banking. Forge Trust Co. is also
subject to the Bank Secrecy Act, the regulations promulgated by FinCEN, as well as the economic and trade sanction programs administered by OFAC. Our
subsidiary, Forge Lending LLC, is a licensed lender with the State of California and is subject to regulation and examinations by the Department of Financial
Protection and Innovation pursuant to the California Financing Law.

Monitoring and complying with all applicable laws and regulations across different entities can be difficult and costly. Failure to comply with any of
these requirements may result in, among other things, enforcement action by governmental authorities, lawsuits, monetary damages, fines or monetary
penalties, restitution or other payments to investors, modifications to business practices, revocation of required licenses or registrations, voiding of loan
contracts, and reputational harm, all of which could materially harm our results of operations.

The regulatory requirements to which we are subject result in substantial compliance costs, and our business would be adversely affected if any applicable
authorities determine we are not in compliance with those requirements.

We must comply with state licensing requirements and varying compliance requirements in all the states in which we operate and the District of
Columbia. In addition, we rely on certain exemptions from licensing requirements in other
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jurisdictions where we conduct business. Changes in licensing and registration laws may result in increased disclosure requirements, increased fees, or may
impose other conditions to licensing or registrations that we or our personnel are unable to meet. In most states and jurisdictions in which we operate, a
regulatory agency or agencies regulate and enforce laws relating to loan servicers, brokers, originators, collection agencies, and money services businesses. We
are subject to periodic examinations by state and other regulators in the jurisdictions in which we conduct business, which can result in increases in our
administrative costs and refunds to borrowers of certain fees earned by us, and we may be required to pay substantial and material penalties imposed by those
regulators due to compliance errors, including any failures to properly register for applicable licenses or registrations, or we may lose our license or our ability
to do business in the jurisdiction otherwise may be impaired. Fines and penalties incurred in one jurisdiction may cause investigations or other actions by
regulators in other jurisdictions.

We may not be able to acquire or maintain all requisite licenses, registrations, and permits. If we change or expand our business activities, either in
scope or geographically such as through our recent establishment of Forge Europe, we may be required to obtain additional licenses before we can engage in
those activities. In addition, the jurisdictions that currently do not regulate our business may later choose to do so, and if this occurs, we may not be able to
obtain or acquire or maintain all requisite licenses, registrations, and permits, which could require us to modify or limit our activities in the relevant
jurisdictions. The failure to satisfy those and other regulatory requirements could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results
of operations.

We have expanded and may continue to expand into international markets, which exposes us to significant new risks, and our international expansion
efforts may not be successful.

We operate and serve investors in foreign jurisdictions, and our business is subject to the laws and requirements of each jurisdiction in which we
operate. Issuers, buyers and sellers from over 80 jurisdictions use our platform. While our operations are chiefly located in the United States and the majority of
our trading revenues are derived from transactions involving U.S. issuers, we have and may continue to expand our operations internationally in order to match
the global demand for our products and services, such as through our recent establishment of Forge Europe, which is now operational in Germany and the
United Kingdom through our subsidiaries Forge Europe GmbH (“Forge GmbH”) and Forge Europe UK Ltd (“Forge UK”).

Forge GmbH has applied for a license with the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority ("BaFin”) in order to provide investment brokerage services
in Germany. While this application is under review by BaFin, Forge GmbH has registered with BaFin as a tied agent to provide investment brokerage services
in Germany exclusively under the license and liability of Effecta GmbH, an independent third-party which is registered with BaFin as an investment firm. In
addition, Forge UK, a wholly owned subsidiary of Forge GmbH, is an appointed representative of Kroll Securities Limited, an independent third-party which is
authorized and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority to facilitate transactions in securities. Accordingly, the ability of Forge GmbH and Forge UK to
conduct their business is completely dependent on the good standing of the principal firms under whose license we operate in the respective jurisdiction, and
any suspension or other restriction on their licenses may have a material adverse effect on our expansion efforts and restrict our ability to operate in the
respective jurisdiction.

There is risk that local regulators may determine we are not in compliance with applicable local laws and regulations. In such cases, we may be
subject to material fines and penalties, and may need to materially modify, limit, or cease operations in that jurisdiction. In addition, if we change or expand our
business activities, we may be required to obtain additional licenses or registrations before we can engage in those activities in each jurisdiction, which could
cause us to incur substantial compliance costs. If we apply for a new license or registration, a regulator may determine that we were required to do so at an
earlier point in time, and as a result, may impose penalties or refuse to issue the license, which could require us to materially modify, limit, or cease our
activities in the relevant jurisdiction. We may be required to pay substantial penalties imposed by those regulators due to compliance errors, or we may lose our
license or our ability to do business in the jurisdiction otherwise may be impaired. Fines and penalties incurred in one jurisdiction may cause investigations or
other actions by regulators in other jurisdictions. This could be detrimental to our business, resulting in lost revenue, fines, or other adverse consequences. In
addition, the jurisdictions that currently do not provide extensive regulation of our business may later choose to do so, and if such jurisdictions so act, we could
incur substantial compliance costs and may not be able to obtain or maintain all requisite licenses and permits, which could require us to modify, limit, or cease
our activities in the relevant jurisdiction or jurisdictions.
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In addition to regulatory risks, there are significant risks and costs inherent in doing business in international markets, including:

« difficulty establishing and managing international operations and the increased operations, travel, infrastructure, and legal and compliance costs
associated with locations in different countries or regions;

« difficulties or delays in obtaining and/or maintaining the regulatory permissions, authorizations, licenses, or consents that may be required to offer
certain products in one or more international markets;

« difficulties in managing multiple regulatory relationships across different jurisdictions on complex legal and regulatory matters;
« difficulties in identifying and obtaining appropriate local foreign counsel in the jurisdictions in which we operate or plan to operate;

« if we were to engage in any merger or acquisition activity internationally, this is complex and would be new for us and subject to additional regulatory
scrutiny;

« the need to vary products, pricing, and margins to effectively compete in international markets;

» the need to adapt and localize products for specific countries, including obtaining rights to third-party intellectual property used in each country;
e increased competition from local providers of similar products and services;

« the challenge of positioning our products and services to meet a demand in the local market;

« the ability to obtain, maintain, protect, defend, and enforce intellectual property rights abroad;

* the need to offer customer support and other aspects of our offering (including websites, articles, blog posts, and customer support documentation) in
various languages;

«  compliance with anti-bribery laws and the potential for increased complexity due to the requirements on us as a group to follow multiple rule sets;

*  maintaining risk management frameworks, and adhering to appropriate global and local regulatory risk management guidelines, prudential rules, and
control standards.

«  complexity and other risks associated with current and future legal requirements in other countries, including laws, rules, regulations, and other legal
requirements related to cybersecurity and data privacy frameworks and labor and employment laws;

« the need to enter into new business partnerships with third-party service providers in order to provide products and services in the local market, which
we may rely upon to be able to provide such products and services or to meet certain regulatory obligations;

«  varying levels of internet technology adoption and infrastructure, and increased or varying network and hosting service provider costs and differences
in technology service delivery in different countries;

* fluctuations in currency exchange rates and the requirements of currency control regulations, which might restrict or prohibit conversion of other
currencies into U.S. dollars;

» taxation of our international earnings and potentially adverse tax consequences due to requirements of or changes in the income and other tax laws of
the United States or the international jurisdictions in which we operate; and

»  political or social unrest or economic instability in a specific country or region in which we operate.
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We have limited experience with international regulatory environments and market practices, and we may not be able to penetrate or successfully
operate in the markets we choose to enter. In addition, we may incur significant expenses as a result of our international expansion, and we may not be
successful. We also may fail to sufficiently adapt our offerings in terms of language, culture, issuer operations, stockholder behaviors, investor preferences, or
otherwise, which would limit or prevent our success in entering new markets.

We have in the past, and will continue to be, subject to inquiries, exams, investigations, or enforcement matters, any of which could have an adverse effect
on our business.

The financial services industry is subject to extensive regulation under federal, state, and applicable international laws. From time to time, we have
been threatened with or named as a defendant in lawsuits, arbitrations, and/or administrative claims involving securities, consumer financial services, and other
matters.

In 2016, we became subject to a SEC Order (in the Matter of Equidate, Inc. and Equidate Holdings LLC, Release No. 10262) pursuant to Section 8A
of the Securities Act and Section 21C of the Exchange Act (the “Order”). The Order required us to cease and desist from committing or causing any violations
or future violations of Section 5(e) of the Securities Act and Section 6(1) of the Exchange Act and required us to pay civil money penalties in the amount of
$80,000. Following a request by us, the SEC determined that we had made a showing of good cause under Rule 506(d)(2)(ii) of Regulation D and Rule 262(b)
(2) of Regulation A and the SEC granted a waiver regarding any bad-actor disqualification by reason of the entry of the Order. Following the Order, we have
completely ceased the transactions described in the Order that were found to be security-based swaps and have implemented new transaction contracts and fund
structures.

We are also subject to periodic regulatory examinations and inspections. Compliance and trading problems or other deficiencies or weaknesses that are
reported to regulators, such as the SEC, FINRA, the CFPB, or state regulators, by dissatisfied customers or others, or that are identified by regulators
themselves, are investigated by such regulators, and may, if pursued, result in formal claims being filed against us by customers or disciplinary action being
taken against us or our employees by regulators or enforcement agencies. To resolve issues raised in examinations or other governmental actions, we may be
required to take various corrective actions, including changing certain business practices, making refunds, or taking other actions that could be financially or
competitively detrimental to us. We expect to continue to incur costs to comply with governmental regulations. Any such claims or disciplinary actions that are
decided against us could have a material impact on our financial results.

Employee misconduct, including insider trading violations (given the nature of our business), can be difficult to detect and deter, and could harm our
reputation and subject us to significant legal liability. We cannot ensure that all of our employees and agents will comply with our internal policies and
procedures and applicable law, including anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and similar laws. We may ultimately be held responsible for any such non-
compliance.

We operate in an industry in which integrity and the confidence of our customers is of critical importance. While we take precautions to deter and
detect employee misconduct, these might be circumvented or might not always be effective. We are therefore subject to risks of errors and misconduct by our
employees that could adversely affect our business. If any of our employees engage in illegal, improper, or suspicious activity or other misconduct, we could
become subject to regulatory sanctions and significant legal liability, and could suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial condition, relationships, and our
ability to attract new customers.

Litigation, regulatory actions, and compliance issues could subject us to significant fines, penalties, judgments, remediation costs, negative publicity,
changes to our business model, and requirements resulting in increased expenses.

Our business is subject to increased risks of litigation and regulatory actions as a result of a number of factors and from various sources, including as a
result of the highly regulated nature of the financial services industry and the focus of state and federal enforcement agencies on the financial services industry.

From time to time, we are also involved in, or the subject of, reviews, requests for information, and investigations and proceedings (both formal and
informal) by state and federal governmental agencies and self-regulatory organizations, regarding our business activities and our qualifications to conduct our
business in certain jurisdictions, which could subject us to significant fines, penalties, obligations to change our business practices, and other requirements
resulting in increased expenses and diminished earnings. Our involvement in any such matter also could cause significant harm to our reputation and divert
management attention from the operation of our business, even if the matters are ultimately determined in our
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favor. Moreover, any settlement, or any consent order or adverse judgment in connection with any proceeding or investigation by a government agency, may
prompt litigation or additional investigations or proceedings as other litigants or other government agencies begin independent reviews of the same activities.

The current regulatory environment, increased regulatory compliance efforts, and enhanced regulatory enforcement have resulted in significant
operational and compliance costs and may prevent us from providing certain products and services. There is no assurance that these regulatory matters or other
factors will not affect how we conduct our business and, in turn, have a material adverse effect on our business. In particular, legal proceedings brought under
state consumer protection statutes or under several of the various federal consumer financial services statutes may result in a separate fine for each violation of
the statute, which, particularly in the case of class action lawsuits, could result in damages substantially in excess of the amounts we earned from the
underlying activities.

Our risk management and regulatory compliance framework may not be fully effective in identifying or mitigating risk exposures in evolving market and
regulatory environments or against all types of risk.

As a financial services company operating in the securities industry, among others, our business model exposes us to various risks, including capital
adequacy and liquidity risk, strategic risk, operational risk, information technology risk, cybersecurity risk, vendor/third party risk, financial risk, and
reputational risk. Our risk management and compliance processes, policies, and procedures may not be fully effective in identifying or mitigating all exposures
and particularly against emerging risks. We have devoted significant resources to develop our compliance and risk management policies and procedures and
will continue to do so, but there can be no assurance these are sufficient or that we will not sustain unexpected losses, especially as our business is growing and
evolving.

Our limited operating history, evolving business, and growth make it difficult to predict all of the risks and challenges we may encounter and the level
of resources needed to address them, particularly when compared with more mature financial services companies. It also makes it difficult to predict
completely the landscape of risks we will face as we introduce new products and services and expand into new jurisdictions. Insurance and other traditional
risk mitigating tools may be held by or available to us in order to manage certain exposures, but they are subject to terms such as deductibles, coinsurance,
limits, and policy exclusions, as well as risk of counterparty denial of coverage, default, or insolvency. Any perceived or actual breach of laws and regulations
could also negatively impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We are subject to stringent laws, rules, regulations, policies, industry standards, and contractual obligations regarding data privacy and security and may
be subject to additional related laws and regulations in jurisdictions into which we expand. Many of these laws and regulations are subject to change and
reinterpretation and could result in claims, changes to our business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or other harm to our
business.

We are subject to a variety of federal, state, local, and non-U.S. laws, directives, rules, policies, industry standards and regulations, as well as
contractual obligations, relating to privacy and the collection, protection, use, retention, security, disclosure, transfer, and other processing of personal
information and other data, including the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 (“GLBA”), Section 5(¢c) of the Federal Trade Commission Act (the "FTC Act"),
and the California Consumer Privacy Act (the "CCPA"). The regulatory framework for data privacy and security worldwide is continuously evolving and
developing and, as a result, interpretation and implementation standards and enforcement practices are likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future.
New laws, amendments to or reinterpretations of existing laws, regulations, standards, and other obligations may require us to incur additional costs and restrict
our business operations, and may require us to change how we use, collect, store, transfer, or otherwise process certain types of personal information and to
implement new processes to comply with those laws and our customers’ exercise of their rights thereunder.

In the United States, federal law, such as the GLBA and its implementing regulations, restricts certain collection, processing, storage, use, and
disclosure of personal information, requires notice to individuals of privacy practices and provides individuals with certain rights to prevent the use and
disclosure of certain nonpublic or otherwise legally protected information. These rules also impose requirements for the safeguarding and proper destruction of
personal information through the issuance of data security standards or guidelines. Additionally, the FTC Act imposes standards for the online collection, use,
and dissemination of personal information. The U.S. government, including Congress, the Federal Trade Commission, and the Department of Commerce, has
expressed the need for greater regulation for the collection, use and other processing of information concerning consumer behavior on the internet, including
regulation aimed at restricting certain targeted advertising practices. There is also a risk of enforcement actions in response to rules and regulations
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promulgated under the authority of federal agencies and state attorneys general and legislatures and consumer protection agencies. In addition, privacy
advocates and industry groups have proposed and may propose new and different self-regulatory standards that either legally or contractually may apply to our
business operations. If we fail to follow these security standards, even if no personal information is compromised, we may incur significant fines or experience
a significant increase in costs.

Numerous states have enacted or are in the process of enacting state-level data privacy laws and regulations governing the collection, use, and other
processing of state residents’ personal information. For example, the CCPA, which took effect on January 1, 2020, established a new privacy framework for
covered businesses such as ours, and may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies and incur compliance related costs and expenses. The
CCPA provides certain data privacy rights to California residents, such as affording California residents the right to access and delete their information and to
opt out of certain sharing and sales of personal information. The law also prohibits covered businesses from discriminating against California residents (for
example, charging more for services) for exercising any of their rights under the CCPA. The CCPA allows for severe civil penalties and statutory damages as
well as a private right of action for certain data breaches involving personal information. This private right of action is expected to increase the likelihood of,
and risks associated with, data breach litigation. In November 2020, California voters passed the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (“CPRA”). Effective in
most material respects as of January 1, 2023, the CPRA imposes additional obligations on companies covered by the legislation and significantly amends the
CCPA, including by expanding the CCPA with additional data privacy compliance requirements that may impact our business. The CPRA also establishes a
regulatory agency dedicated to enforcing the CCPA, as amended by the CPRA. The effects of the CCPA, as amended by the CPRA, other similar state or
federal laws, and other future changes in laws or regulations relating to privacy, data protection, and information security, particularly any new or modified
laws or regulations that require enhanced protection of certain types of data or new obligations with regard to data retention, transfer, or disclosure, are
significant and may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies and could greatly increase the cost of providing our offerings, require
significant changes to our operations, or even prevent us from providing certain offerings in jurisdictions in which we currently operate and in which we may
operate in the future or incur potential liability in an effort to comply with such legislation.

The CPRA and the CCPA have led other states to pass comparable legislation, with potentially greater penalties and more rigorous compliance
requirements relevant to our business, and additional states may follow suit. For example, many state legislatures have adopted comprehensive legislation that
would apply to the online collection of personal information of a broad number of U.S. state residents, including measures relating to privacy, data security,
data breaches, and the protection of sensitive and personal information. We also may be subject to laws in all 50 states which require businesses to provide
notice to customers whose personally identifiable information has been disclosed as a result of a data breach. These laws are inconsistent with one another, as
certain state laws may be more stringent, broader in scope, or offer greater individual rights with respect to sensitive and personal information. Privacy laws at
the federal or international level may also impose differing obligations, which could make our compliance efforts more complex, costly, and may increase the
likelihood that we become subject to enforcement actions or other liabilities for noncompliance.

The NYDEFS also imposes Cybersecurity Requirements for Financial Services Companies, and which require banks, insurance companies and other
financial services institutions regulated by the NYDFS, including Forge Securities, to establish and maintain a cybersecurity program designed to protect
personal information of consumers and ensure the safety and soundness of New York State’s financial services industry. The cybersecurity regulation adds
specific requirements for these institutions’ cybersecurity compliance programs and imposes an obligation to conduct ongoing, comprehensive risk
assessments. Further, on an annual basis, each institution is required to submit a certification of compliance with these requirements. We have in the past and
may in the future be subject to investigations and examinations by the NYDFS regarding, among other things, our cybersecurity practices.

Additionally, we are subject to the EU General Data Protection Regulation (the “EU GDPR”), which imposes additional obligations and risk upon our
business, including substantial expenses and changes to business operations that are required to comply with the EU GDPR. Further, following the withdrawal
of the U.K. from the EU, we are required to comply separately with the EU GDPR as implemented in the U.K. (the "U.K. GDPR," and together with the EU
GDPR, the "GDPR"), which may lead to additional compliance costs and could increase our overall risk. Failure to comply with the GDPR, and any
supplemental European Economic Area country’s national data protection laws which may apply by virtue of the location of the individuals whose personal
information we may collect, may result in significant fines and other administrative penalties. For example, non-compliance with the GDPR, and the related
national data protection laws of European Economic Area countries, may result in monetary penalties of up to €20,000,000 (£17.5 million) or 4% of worldwide
annual revenue, whichever is higher.
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We make public statements about our use, collection, disclosure, and other processing of personal information through our privacy policies,
information provided on our website and press statements. Although we endeavor to comply with our public statements and documentation, we may at times
fail to do so or be alleged to have failed to do so. The publication of our privacy policies and other statements that provide promises and assurances about data
privacy and security can subject us to potential government or legal action if they are found to be deceptive, unfair, or misrepresentative of our actual practices.
Any failure or perceived failure by us or our third-party service providers to comply with our posted privacy policies or with any applicable federal, state or
similar foreign laws, rules, regulations, industry standards, policies, certifications, or orders relating to data privacy and security, or any compromise of security
that results in the theft, unauthorized access, acquisition, use, disclosure, or misappropriation of personal information or other customer data, could result in
significant awards, fines, civil and/or criminal penalties or judgments, proceedings or litigation by governmental agencies or customers, including class action
privacy litigation in certain jurisdictions and negative publicity and reputational harm, one or all of which could have an adverse effect on our reputation,
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We collect, store, share, disclose, transfer, use, and otherwise process customer information and other data, including personal information, and an actual
or perceived failure by us or our third-party service providers to protect such information and data or respect customers’ privacy could damage our
reputation and brand, negatively affect our ability to retain customers and harm our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flows, and
prospects.

The operation of our platform involves the use, collection, storage, sharing, disclosure, transfer, and other processing of customer information,
including personal information. Despite our implementation of security measures, security breaches and other security incidents in our internal computer
systems, and those of our contractors and consultants, could expose us to a risk of loss or exposure of this information, which could result in potential liability,
investigations, regulatory fines, penalties for violation of applicable laws or regulations, litigation, and remediation costs, as well as reputational harm. Further,
it may not be possible for us to know all potential ramifications of a disruption event and it is possible that certain risks created may remain undetected for an
extended period of time.

Successful and attempted attacks upon information technology systems are increasing in their frequency, levels of persistence, sophistication, and
intensity, and are being conducted by sophisticated and organized groups and individuals with a wide range of motives and expertise. Such attacks can include
third parties gaining access to systems and confidential information, including personal information of our employees or customers, including through the use
of stolen or inferred credentials, computer malware, viruses, spamming, phishing attacks, ransomware, card skimming code, business email compromises, and
other deliberate attacks and attempts to gain unauthorized access or otherwise compromise or disrupt our systems or those of our third-party providers. We may
also face increased cybersecurity risks due to our reliance on internet technology and the number of our employees who are working remotely, which may
create additional opportunities for cybercriminals to exploit vulnerabilities. Furthermore, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to,
compromise or to sabotage our networks, platforms, or systems, and those of our third-party providers change frequently and often are not recognized until
launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. We or our third-party providers may
also experience security breaches or other incidents that may remain undetected for an extended period. Even if identified, we may be unable to adequately
investigate or remediate additional incidents or breaches due to attackers increasingly using tools and techniques that are designed to circumvent controls, to
avoid detection, and to remove or obfuscate forensic evidence.

Any or all of the issues above could adversely affect our ability to attract new customers and continue our relationship with existing customers, cause
our customers to stop using our products and services, result in negative publicity, or subject us to governmental, regulatory, or third-party lawsuits, disputes,
investigations, orders, regulatory fines, penalties for violation of applicable laws or regulations, or other actions or liability, thereby harming our business,
financial condition, operating results, cash flows, and prospects. Any accidental or unauthorized access to or disclosure, loss, destruction, disablement or
encryption of, use or misuse of or modification of data, including personal information, cybersecurity breach, or other security incident that we, our customers
or our third-party service providers experience or the perception that one has occurred or may occur, could harm our reputation, reduce the demand for our
products and services, and disrupt normal business operations. In addition, it may require us to expend significant financial and operational resources in
response to a security breach, including repairing system damage, increasing security protection costs by deploying additional personnel, and modifying or
enhancing our protection technologies, investigating, remediating, or correcting the breach and any security vulnerabilities, defending against and resolving
legal and regulatory claims, and preventing future security breaches and incidents, all of which could expose us to uninsured liability, increase our risk of
regulatory scrutiny, expose us to legal
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liabilities, including litigation, regulatory enforcement, indemnity obligations or damages for contract breach, divert resources and the attention of our
management and key personnel away from our business operations, and cause us to incur significant costs, any of which could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We are subject to anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism financing laws and regulations, and failure to comply with these obligations could have
significant adverse consequences for us, including subjecting us to criminal or civil liability and harm to our business.

Various laws and regulations in the United States and abroad, such as the Bank Secrecy Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, and the USA PATRIOT Act, impose
certain anti-money laundering ("AML") requirements on companies that are financial institutions or that provide financial products and services. Under these
laws and regulations, financial institutions are required to develop and implement risk-based AML programs, report suspicious activity, and maintain
transaction records, among other requirements. State regulators may impose similar requirements. In addition, our contracts with financial institution partners
and other third parties may contractually require us to maintain an AML program.

We are also subject to economic and trade sanctions programs administered by OFAC, which prohibit or restrict transactions to or from or dealings
with specified countries, their governments, and in certain circumstances, their nationals, and with individuals and entities that are specially-designated
nationals of those countries, narcotics traffickers, terrorists or terrorist organizations, and other sanctioned persons and entities. Our failure to comply with
AML, economic and trade sanctions regulations, and similar laws could subject us to substantial civil and criminal penalties, or result in the loss or restriction
of our financial institution registrations and state licenses, or liability under our contracts with third parties, which may significantly affect our ability to
conduct some aspects of our business. Changes in this regulatory environment, including changing interpretations and the implementation of new or varying
regulatory requirements, must be monitored for, and our AML program adapted accordingly.

We are subject to anti-corruption, anti-bribery and similar laws, and non-compliance with such laws can subject us to significant adverse consequences,
including criminal or civil liability and harm our business.

We are subject to the FCPA, U.S. domestic bribery laws, and other U.S. and foreign anti-corruption laws. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws are
enforced aggressively and are interpreted broadly to generally prohibit companies, their employees, and their third-party intermediaries from authorizing,
offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or benefits to recipients in the public sector. These laws also require that we keep accurate
books and records and maintain internal controls and compliance procedures designed to prevent any such actions. In addition, we or our third-party
intermediaries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities. We can be
held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these third-party intermediaries, our employees, representatives, contractors, partners, and agents, even if
we do not explicitly authorize such activities. The failure to comply with any such laws could subject us to criminal or civil liability, cause us significant
reputational harm and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may be unable to sufficiently obtain, develop, or protect, our intellectual property, any of which could reduce our competitiveness and harm our
business and operating results.

Our ability to service our customers depends, in part, upon our ability to obtain and develop intellectual property in an extremely competitive market.
Even if we are able to do so, we may be unable to protect such intellectual property effectively, which would allow competitors to duplicate our business
processes and know-how, and adversely affect our ability to compete with them. A third party may attempt to reverse engineer or otherwise obtain and use our
intellectual property without our consent. The pursuit of a claim against a third party for infringement of our intellectual property could be costly, and there can
be no guarantee that any such efforts would be successful.

In addition, our platform may infringe upon claims of third-party intellectual property, and we may face intellectual property challenges from such
other parties. We may not be successful in defending against any such challenges or in obtaining licenses to avoid or resolve any intellectual property disputes.
The costs of defending any such claims or litigation could be significant and, if we are unsuccessful, could subject us to substantial liability, prevent us from
using the relevant intellectual property or providing related products or services, or result in a requirement that we pay significant damages or licensing fees.
Furthermore, our intellectual property may become obsolete, and there is no guarantee that we will be able to successfully obtain, develop, or use new
intellectual property to adapt our platform to stay competitive in the future. If we
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cannot protect our intellectual property from third-party challenges, or if our platform becomes obsolete, our business, financial condition, and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

Accusations of infringement of third-party intellectual property rights could materially and adversely affect our business.

Our success depends upon our ability to refrain from infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others. Some companies, including some of our
competitors, may own large numbers of patents, copyrights, and trademarks, which they may use to assert claims against us. As we grow and enter new
markets, we will face a growing number of competitors. As the number of competitors in our industry grows and the functionality of products in different
industry segments overlaps, we expect that software and other solutions in our industry may be subject to such claims by third parties. Third parties may in the
future assert claims of infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of intellectual property rights against us. We cannot assure you that infringement
claims will not be asserted against us in the future, or that, if asserted, any infringement claim will be successfully defended. A successful claim against us
could require that we pay substantial damages, prevent us from offering our services, or require that we comply with other unfavorable terms. Even if we were
to prevail in such a dispute, any litigation regarding our intellectual property could be costly and time-consuming and divert the attention of our management
and key personnel from our business operations.

Changes in tax laws, differences in interpretation of tax laws and regulations, and proposed legislation that would impose taxes on certain financial
transactions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We operate in multiple jurisdictions and are subject to tax laws and regulations of the U.S. federal, state, and local and non-U.S. governments. U.S.
federal, state, and local and non-U.S. tax laws and regulations are complex and subject to change (possibly with retroactive effect) and to varying
interpretations. U.S. federal, state, and local and non-U.S. tax authorities may interpret tax laws and regulations differently than we do and challenge tax
positions that we have taken. This may result in differences in the treatment of revenues, deductions, credits and/or differences in the timing of these items. The
differences in treatment may result in payment of additional taxes, interest, or penalties that could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results
of operations. Further, future changes to U.S. federal, state, and local and non-U.S. tax laws and regulations could increase our tax obligations in jurisdictions
where we do business or require us to change the manner in which we conduct some aspects of our business.

On August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act (“IRA”) was enacted in the United States, which introduced, among other provisions, a new
minimum corporate income tax on certain large corporations, an excise tax of 1% on certain share repurchases by corporations, and increased funding for the
Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”). Although we do not anticipate the new corporate minimum income tax will currently apply to us, changes in our business
and any future regulations or other guidance on the interpretation and application of the new corporate minimum tax, as well as the potential application of the
share repurchase excise tax, may result in additional taxes payable by us, which could materially and adversely affect our financial results and operations.

We have in the past recorded, and may in the future record, significant valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets, which may have a material
impact on our results of operations and cause fluctuations in such results. As of December 31, 2023, we had a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets in the
United States and in other countries. Our net deferred tax assets relate predominantly to the U.S. federal and state tax jurisdictions. The need for a valuation
allowance requires an assessment of both positive and negative evidence when determining whether it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets are
recoverable; such assessment is required on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis. In making such an assessment, significant weight is given to evidence that can
be objectively verified. We continue to monitor the likelihood that we will be able to recover our deferred tax assets in the future. Future adjustments in our
valuation allowance may be required. The recording of any future increases in our valuation allowance could have a material impact on our reported results,
and both the recording and release of the valuation allowance could cause fluctuations in our quarterly and annual results of operations.

In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is
subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its net operating loss carryforwards ("NOLs") to offset future taxable income. Future changes in our stock
ownership as well as other changes that may be outside of our control, could result in additional ownership changes under Section 382 of the Code. Our NOLs
may also be impaired under similar provisions of state law. Further, additional changes to federal or state tax laws or technical guidance relating to such laws
that would further reduce the corporate tax rate could operate to effectively reduce or eliminate the value of any
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deferred tax asset. Our tax attributes as of December 31, 2023 may expire unutilized or underutilized, which could prevent us from offsetting future taxable
income.

Personnel and Business Continuity Risks
We rely on our executive team and key personnel to grow our business, and the loss of or inability to hire either could harm our business.

We believe our success has depended, and continues to depend, on the efforts and talents of our senior management, including our Chief Executive
Officer Kelly Rodriques, who have significant experience in industries we operate, are responsible for our core competencies, and would be difficult to replace.
Our future success depends on our continuing ability to attract, develop, motivate, and retain highly qualified and skilled personnel. Qualified individuals are in
high demand, and we may incur significant costs to attract and retain them. In addition, the loss of any of our senior management or key personnel could
materially adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan and strategy, and we may not be able to find adequate replacements on a timely basis, or at
all. Our executive officers and other employees are at-will employees, which means they may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time, and
their knowledge of our business and industry would be extremely difficult to replace. We cannot ensure that we will be able to retain the services of any
members of our senior management or other key personnel. If we do not succeed in attracting well-qualified personnel or retaining and motivating existing
personnel, our business could be materially and adversely affected.

We may not be able to secure adequate insurance to cover all known risks and our insurance policies may not be sufficient to cover all potential claims.

Our systems and operations, as well as those of the third parties on whom we rely to conduct certain key functions, are vulnerable to disruptions from
natural disasters, power outages, computer and telecommunications failures, software bugs, cyber-attacks, computer viruses, malware, distributed denial of
service attacks, spam attacks, phishing or other social engineering, ransomware, security breaches, credential stuffing, technological failure, human error,
terrorism, and other similar events. If our technology is disrupted, we may have to make significant investments to upgrade, repair, or replace our technology
infrastructure and may not be able to make such investments on a timely basis, if at all. While we have made significant investments designed to enhance the
reliability and scalability of our operations, we cannot assure that we will be able to maintain, expand, and upgrade our systems and infrastructure to meet
future requirements and mitigate future risks on a timely basis. Disruptions in service and slower system response times could interrupt our business and result
in substantial losses, decreased customer service and satisfaction, customer attrition, fines, litigation, and harm to our reputation. Our insurance coverage may
be insufficient to protect us against all losses and costs stemming from operational and technological failures and we cannot be certain that such insurance will
continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful
assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including
premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Information Technology and Data Risks

We depend on third parties for a wide array of services, systems, and information technology applications, and a breach or violation of law by one of these
third parties could disrupt our business. Additionally, the loss of any of those service providers could materially and adversely affect our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.

We rely on third-party service providers to perform various functions relating to operational functions, cloud infrastructure services, and information
technology. We do not have control over the operations of any of the third-party service providers that we utilize. In the event that a third-party service provider
for any reason fails to perform functions properly, including through negligence, willful misconduct, or fraud, our ability to process billings and perform other
operational functions for which we currently rely on such third-party service providers will suffer and our business, cash flows, and future prospects may be
negatively impacted.

Additionally, if one or more key third-party service providers were to cease to exist, or to terminate its relationship with us, there could be delays in
our ability to process transactions and perform other operational functions for which we are currently relying on such third-party service providers for, and we
may not be able to promptly replace such third-party service provider with a different third-party service provider that has the ability to promptly provide the
same services in the
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same manner and on the same economic terms. In many cases, we rely on a single third party to provide such services, and we may not be able to replace that
provider on the same terms or at all. As a result of any such delay or inability to replace such key third-party service provider, our ability to process investments
and perform other business functions could suffer and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Because we rely on third parties to provide services, we could also be adversely impacted if they fail to fulfill their obligations or if our arrangements
with them are terminated and suitable replacements cannot be found on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

Our products and internal systems rely on software that is highly technical, and if these systems contain errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities, or if we are
unsuccessful in addressing or mitigating technical limitations or vulnerabilities in our systems, our business could be adversely affected.

Our products and internal systems rely on software, including software developed or maintained internally and by third parties, that is highly technical
and complex. In addition, our platform and our internal systems depend on the ability of such software to collect, store, retrieve, transmit, manage, and
otherwise process immense amounts of data. The software on which we rely may contain errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities, and our systems are subject to certain
technical limitations that may compromise our ability to meet our objectives. Some errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities inherently may be difficult to detect and may
only be discovered after code has been released for external or internal-use. Errors, bugs, vulnerabilities, design defects, or technical limitations within the
software on which we rely may lead to negative customer experiences (including the communication of inaccurate information to customers), compromised
ability of our products to perform in a manner consistent with customer expectations, delayed product introductions, compromised ability to protect the data
(including personal information) of our customers and our intellectual property, or an inability to provide some or all of our services. Such errors, bugs,
vulnerabilities, or defects could also be exploited by malicious actors and result in exposure of data of customers on our platform, or otherwise result in a
security breach or other security incident. We may need to expend significant financial and development resources to analyze, correct, eliminate, or work
around errors or defects or to address and eliminate vulnerabilities. Any failure to timely and effectively resolve any such errors, bugs, vulnerabilities, or
defects in the software on which we rely, and any associated degradations or interruptions of service, could result in damage to our reputation, loss of
customers, loss of revenue, regulatory or governmental inquiries, civil litigation, or liability for damages, any of which could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Certain of our systems also rely on older programming languages and are dependent upon hardware that may soon be in need of replacement. A
breakdown or shutdown of our operating systems could cause a major disruption to the business, and our attempts to modernize our systems or implement new
hardware or software may not be successful, and may otherwise be costly and time-consuming.

Cyber incidents or attacks directed at us and to our systems could result in unauthorized access, information theft, data corruption, operational disruption,
and/or financial and reputational loss.

We depend on digital technologies, including information systems, infrastructure, and cloud applications and services, including those of third parties.
Sophisticated and deliberate attacks on, or security breaches in, our systems or infrastructure, or the systems or infrastructure of third parties or the cloud, could
lead to corruption or misappropriation of our assets, proprietary information, and sensitive or confidential data. Our platform may make an attractive target for
hacking and may be vulnerable to computer viruses, physical or electronic break-ins, and similar disruptions. We may not be able to anticipate or implement
effective preventive measures against all security threats of these types, in which case there would be an increased risk of fraud or identity theft. Security
incidents could occur from outside our company, and also from the actions of persons inside our company who may have authorized or unauthorized access to
our technology systems. We may not have sufficient resources to adequately protect against, or to investigate and remediate any vulnerability to, cyber
incidents. It is possible that any of these occurrences, or a combination of them, could have adverse consequences on our business and lead to financial loss.

Financial services providers like us, as well as our customers, colleagues, regulators, vendors, and other third parties, have experienced a significant
increase in fraudulent activity and will likely continue to be the target of increasingly sophisticated criminal activity in the future given our dependence on

digital technologies.

We develop and maintain systems and processes aimed at detecting and preventing fraudulent activity, which require significant investment,
maintenance, and ongoing monitoring and updating as technologies and regulatory
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requirements change and as efforts to overcome security and anti-fraud measures become more sophisticated. Despite our efforts, the possibility of fraudulent
or other malicious activities and human error or malfeasance cannot be eliminated entirely and will evolve as new and emerging technology is deployed,
including the increasing use of personal mobile and computing devices that are outside of our network and control environments. Risks associated with each of
these include theft of funds and other monetary loss, the effects of which could be compounded if not detected quickly. Indeed, fraudulent activity may not be
detected until well after it occurs and the severity and potential impact may not be fully known for a substantial period of time after it has been discovered.
Additionally, if hackers were able to access our secure data, they might be able to gain access to the personal information of our customers. If we are unable to
prevent such activity, we may be subject to significant liability, negative publicity, and a material loss of customers, all of which may materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Risks Related to Being a Public Company
The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources and distract our management, which could make it difficult to manage our business.

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the listing requirements of the NYSE, and other applicable
securities laws, rules, and regulations. Compliance with these laws, rules, and regulations could continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs,
make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, or costly and increase demand on our systems and resources. The Exchange Act requires that we file
annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other
things, that we establish and maintain effective internal controls and procedures for financial reporting. Furthermore, maintaining the corporate infrastructure
demanded of a public company may divert our management’s attention from implementing our growth strategy from time to time, which could prevent or delay
us from improving our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We have made, and will continue to make, changes to our internal controls and
procedures for financial reporting and accounting systems to meet our reporting obligations as a public company. However, the measures we take may not be
sufficient to satisfy our obligations as a public company. These additional obligations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

In addition, changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure create uncertainty for public companies,
and may result in increased legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are
subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new
guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs
necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We have and intend to continue investing resources to comply with evolving laws,
regulations, and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of our management’s time and
attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations, and standards differ from the
activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application and practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal
proceedings against us and there could be a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Delaware law, our Certificate of Incorporation, and our Bylaws contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions that limit the ability of
stockholders to take certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

Delaware law, our Certificate of Incorporation, and our Bylaws contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying, or
preventing an acquisition that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their
shares. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares, and therefore depress the trading price of our
common stock. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to take certain actions, including electing directors who are not nominated by the
current members of our board of directors or taking other corporate actions, including effecting changes in our management. Among other things, our
Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws include provisions regarding:

» providing for a classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms;
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« the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock, including “blank check” preferred stock and to determine the price and other
terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership
of a hostile acquirer;

»  the prohibition of cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;
« the limitation of the liability of, and the indemnification of, our directors and officers;

» the ability of our board of directors to amend our Bylaws, which may allow our board of directors to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited
takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend our Bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

» advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to be acted
upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which could preclude stockholders from bringing matters before annual or special meetings of stockholders and delay
changes in our board of directors and also may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s
own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our board of directors or
management.

The provisions of our Bylaws requiring exclusive forum in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware for certain types of lawsuits may have the effect
of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers.

Our Bylaws provide that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, unless we consent in writing to an alternative forum, (a) the Delaware Court of
Chancery (or, if such court does not have, or declines to accept, jurisdiction, another state court or a federal court located in Delaware) will be the exclusive
forum for any complaint asserting any internal corporate claims, including claims in the right of Forge based upon a violation of a duty by a current or former
director, officer, employee, or stockholder in such capacity, or as to which the Delaware General Corporation Law confers jurisdiction upon the Court of
Chancery and (b) the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the
Securities Act. The choice of forum provision may limit the ability of our stockholders to bring a claim in a forum that they find favorable for disputes with us
or our directors, officers, or other employees, and may discourage such lawsuits. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce this provision. If a
court ruled the choice of forum provision was inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs to resolve such action in other
jurisdictions. The choice of forum provision is intended to apply to the fullest extent permitted by law to the above-specified types of actions and proceedings,
including any derivative actions asserting claims under state law or the federal securities laws, and is intended to require, in each case, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, that (i) any Securities Act claims be brought in the federal district courts of the United States in accordance with clause (b) of the choice of
forum provision and (ii) suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act be brought in the United States District Court for the District
of Delaware. The provision does not apply to any direct claims brought by our stockholders on their own behalf, or on behalf of any class of similarly situated
stockholders, under the Exchange Act. Our stockholders will not be deemed, by operation of the choice of forum provision, to have waived our obligation to
comply with all applicable federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

An active, liquid trading market for our common stock may not be sustained, which may make it difficult to sell the shares of our common stock you
purchase.

An active trading market for our common stock may not be sustained which would make it difficult for you to sell your shares of our common stock at
an attractive price (or at all). A public trading market having the desirable characteristics of depth, liquidity, and orderliness depends upon the existence of
willing buyers and sellers at any given time, and its existence is dependent upon the individual decisions of buyers and sellers over which neither we nor any
market maker has control. The failure of an active and liquid trading market to develop and continue would likely have a material adverse effect on the value of
our common stock. The market price of our common stock may decline below your purchase price, and you may not be able to sell your shares of our common
stock at or above the price you paid for such shares (or at all).

Our operating results and stock price may be volatile.
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Stock markets, including the NYSE, the NYSE American, and the Nasdaq Stock Market, have from time to time experienced significant price and
volume fluctuations. Even if an active, liquid, and orderly trading market develops and is sustained for our common stock, the market price of our common
stock may be volatile and could decline significantly. In addition, the trading volume in our common stock may fluctuate and cause significant price variations
to occur. If the market price of our common stock declines significantly, you may be unable to resell your shares. We cannot assure you that the market price of
our common stock will not fluctuate widely or decline significantly in the future in response to a number of factors, including, among others, the following:

» the realization of any of the risk factors presented in this Report;

« actual or anticipated differences in our estimates, or in the estimates of analysts, for our revenues, results of operations, level of indebtedness,
liquidity, or financial condition;

« additions and departures of key personnel;

e failure to comply with the requirements of the NYSE;

« failure to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or other laws or regulations;

« future issuances, sales or resales, or anticipated issuances, sales or resales, of common stock or other securities;
»  perceptions of the investment opportunity associated with common stock relative to other investment alternatives;
*  the performance and market valuations of other similar companies;

«  future announcements concerning our business or our competitors’ businesses;

*  broad disruptions in the financial markets, including sudden disruptions in the credit markets;

e speculation in the press or investment community;

e actual, potential, or perceived control, accounting, or reporting problems;

«  changes in accounting principles, policies, and guidelines;

e alimited number of shares of our common stock available for trading;

*  potential securities class-action litigation following periods of volatility in our stock price, would could result in substantial costs and divert
management's attention and resources; and

»  general economic and political conditions, such as the effects of ongoing geopolitical tensions, recessions, interest rates, local and national elections,
fuel prices, international currency fluctuations, corruption, political instability, and acts of war or terrorism.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research, publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, or cease publishing research about us, our share
price and trading volume could decline significantly.

The market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business.
Securities and industry analysts may not publish research on us. If no or few securities or industry analysts commence coverage of us, the market price and
liquidity for our common stock could be negatively impacted. In the event securities or industry analysts initiate coverage, if one or more of the analysts who
cover us downgrade their opinions about common stock, publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about us, or cease publishing about us regularly, demand
for our common stock could decrease, which might cause our share price and trading volume to decline significantly.
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Future sales, or the perception of future sales, by us or our stockholders in the public market could cause the market price for our common stock to
decline.

The sale of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could harm the prevailing market price of
shares of our common stock. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the
future at a time and at a price that it deems appropriate. Future resales of common stock may cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even
if our business is doing well. As such, sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or
the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock.

Future issuances of debt securities and equity securities may adversely affect us, including the market price of common stock and may be dilutive to
existing stockholders.

While we have not previously incurred indebtedness to finance our business in the past and do not currently intend to do it in the future, there is no
assurance that we will not incur debt or issue equity ranking senior to common stock. Those securities will generally have priority upon liquidation. Such
securities also may be governed by an indenture or other instrument containing covenants restricting its operating flexibility. Additionally, any convertible or
exchangeable securities that we issue in the future may have rights, preferences, and privileges more favorable than those of our common stock. Because our
decision to issue debt or equity in the future will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount,
timing, nature, or success of our future capital raising efforts. As a result, future capital raising efforts may reduce the market price of our common stock and be
dilutive to existing stockholders.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the further development and expansion of our business and do not intend to pay
cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our
financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, restrictions contained in future agreements and financing instruments, business prospects, and
such other factors as our board of directors deems relevant.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Risk Management and Strategy

We have established policies and processes for assessing, identifying, and managing material risk from cybersecurity threats, and have integrated these
processes into our overall risk management framework, systems, and processes. We routinely assess material risks from cybersecurity threats, including any
potential unauthorized occurrence on or conducted through our information systems that may result in adverse effects on the confidentiality, integrity, or
availability of our information systems or any information residing therein.

We conduct a regular cybersecurity risk assessment process through our Head of Information Security (“CISO”) and dedicated information security
team which reports to our management-level risk committee, which meets at least quarterly to discuss and evaluate risks that could be material to our business,
including cybersecurity threats. This committee is comprised of key leadership across the Company, including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, Chief Technology Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Legal Officer, and Head of Risk. We additionally have a cybersecurity risk subcommittee
which also meets at least quarterly and is designed to assist the management-level risk committee in its oversight of cybersecurity threats. We may conduct
further assessments in the event of a material change in our business practices or emerging industry data that may affect information systems that are
vulnerable to such cybersecurity threats. These risk assessments include the effectiveness of our cybersecurity program and its practices for identifying,
assessing, and mitigating cybersecurity risks; our controls to prevent, detect, and respond to cyber incidents; our cyber resiliency, including crisis preparedness,
incident response processes, business continuity, and disaster recovery capabilities; and our investments in cybersecurity infrastructure and program needs.
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Following these risk assessments, we implement, refine, and maintain reasonable safeguards to minimize identified risks; reasonably address any
identified gaps in existing safeguards; and regularly monitor the effectiveness of our safeguards. We use frameworks established by the National Institute of
Standards and Technology and other applicable industry standards to further define, benchmark, and refine our cybersecurity practices.

As part of our overall risk management system, our dedicated information security team monitors and tests our cybersecurity policies and procedures
through methods such as periodic reviews, targeted assessments, and tabletop exercises. All personnel are made aware of our cybersecurity policies and
procedures upon hire and through periodic refresher trainings. Such policies and procedures cover areas such as identity and access management, vendor
management, data governance and protection, vulnerability management, incident response, and operational risk management. Our cybersecurity policies and
procedures are also incorporated into our broader risk management framework such that all enterprise and operational risks are evaluated in a holistic manner.

We engage consultants and other third parties in connection with our risk assessment processes. These service providers assist us with designing,
implementing, and testing our cybersecurity policies and procedures, as well as advising on applicable disclosure requirements. We require each third-party
service provider to certify that it has the ability to implement and maintain appropriate security measures consistent with all applicable laws, to implement and
maintain reasonable security measures in connection with their work with us, and to promptly report any suspected breach of its security measures that may
affect us.

To date, we have not experienced any cybersecurity incidents which have materially impacted or are likely to materially impact our business strategy,
results of operations, or financial condition based on information known to us as of the date of this Report. Although we cannot eliminate all potential threats,
our cybersecurity program is operated in a manner to minimize the likelihood of any threat becoming material and to keep pace with a constantly evolving
cybersecurity landscape. That said, as discussed more fully under the section titled “Risk Factors,” in this Report, the sophistication of cyber threats continues
to increase, and the preventative actions we take to reduce the risk of cyber incidents and protect our systems and information may be insufficient despite our
best efforts.

Governance

Our management is responsible for the day-to-day oversight and management of our enterprise risks, including risks from cybersecurity threats. As
described in “Risk Management and Strategy” above, primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring, and managing our cybersecurity risks rests with our
CISO and dedicated information security team, who develop, prioritize, and execute our cybersecurity strategy in partnership with relevant departments and
business units. Our CISO, who has over 20 years of cybersecurity and information security experience, oversees our cybersecurity framework and reports to
our management-level risk committee and cybersecurity risk subcommittee. Our CISO is assisted in this oversight role by additional members of management,
including our Chief Technology Officer, Head of Risk, and our Chief Legal Officer, each of whom bring decades of leadership experience managing risks in
their respective fields.

Our board of directors, as a whole and as assisted by our risk committee, has responsibility for the oversight of our cybersecurity risk management
framework. Consistent with this approach, our board of directors maintains oversight in the context of discussions with management, question and answer
sessions, and reports from the management team, each on at least a quarterly basis and ad hoc as needed. Such reports include updates on any cybersecurity
incidents and mitigation efforts until they have been resolved. Our board of directors and our audit committee also receives regular and ad hoc reports from our
risk committee on all enterprise risks, including risks from cybersecurity threats. Our audit committee provides additional oversight on our cybersecurity risk
management framework, with an emphasis on public reporting obligations and the effects cybersecurity risks could have on our financial condition generally.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters occupies approximately 21,800 square feet in San Francisco, California under a sublease agreement that expires December
2025. We also lease and sub-lease additional offices in San Francisco, California; San Mateo, California; Sioux Falls, South Dakota; and New York, New York.

We believe that our existing facilities are sufficient for our current needs. In the future, we may need to add new facilities and expand our existing
facilities as we add employees, grow our infrastructure and evolve our business, and we
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believe that suitable additional or substitute space will be available on commercially reasonable terms to meet our future needs.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Information regarding legal proceedings is available in Note 8, "Commitments and Contingencies," to the consolidated financial statements in this
Report.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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Part Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “FRGE”.
Holders of Record

As of December 31, 2023, there were approximately 120 stockholders of record of our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater
than _this number of record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other
nominees.
Dividend Policy

We have never paid cash dividends on our capital stock and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by this item will be incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2024 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Report (the "Proxy Statement").

Sales of Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds

We did not sell any equity securities which were not registered under the Securities Act during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 that were not
otherwise disclosed in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or our Current Reports on Form §-K.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
There were no repurchases made during the three months ended December 31, 2023.
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
Information regarding the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans can be found under Item 12 of this Report.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis provide information that our management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our
consolidated results of operations and financial condition. This discussion and analysis should be read together with the consolidated financial statements and
related notes to those statements included in this Report. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements based upon current expectations
that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions, as described under the heading “Forward-Looking Statements.” Actual results and timing of selected events
may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors”
or elsewhere in this Report.

This section discusses our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. In this Report
we are renaming a category of our revenue, previously described as “Placement Fee” revenue, to “Marketplace” revenue in order to align with the types of
revenue included in this category. Marketplace revenue includes placement fees, subscription fees earned from our data products, and private company
solutions revenue. We believe this name better describes the revenue included therein and therefore is more useful to investors by better characterizing the
underlying types of revenue included. We have not adjusted methodology, assumptions, or otherwise changed any aspects of “Placement Fee” revenue in
making this name change to “Marketplace" revenue, and this category of revenue remains comparable to prior period presentations.

e

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this section to "Forge," the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Forge Global Holdings,

Inc. and its subsidiaries.
Business Overview

Forge is building the private market of the future — a more accessible, transparent, and liquid market for participating in private market growth. We
offer a trusted trading platform, proprietary data, and insights to inform investment strategies, along with custody services to help companies, stockholders,
institutions, and accredited investors confidently navigate and transact in the private market. Our scaled and integrated business model is at the nexus of the
private market ecosystem, which we believe creates a sustaining competitive advantage fueling our customers' participation in the private market and our
growth. The key solutions offered by our platform include:

e Trading Solutions — Forge Markets is our platform that connects potential investors with private company stockholders and enables them to
efficiently facilitate private share transactions.

e Custody Solutions — Forge Trust Co. is our non-depository trust company that enables clients to securely custody and manage assets through a robust
and user-friendly online portal.

e Data Solutions — Forge Data is our data business that provides market participants the information and insight to confidently navigate, analyze and
make investment decisions in the private market.

Corporate History and Background

On March 21, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), we consummated our business combination pursuant to the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger,
dated September 13, 2021 (the "Merger Agreement"), by and among Motive Capital Corp, a blank check company incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted
company in 2020 ("MOTV"), FGI Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of MOTV (“Merger Sub”), and Forge Global, Inc., a
Delaware corporation ("Legacy Forge").

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on the Closing Date, immediately prior to the consummation of the Business Combination (as defined below),
MOTYV changed its jurisdiction of incorporation from the Cayman Islands to the State of Delaware and changed its corporate name to "Forge Global Holdings,
Inc." (the “Domestication”). On the Closing Date, Merger Sub merged with and into Legacy Forge (the "Merger"), with Legacy Forge surviving the Merger as
a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (together with the Merger, the Domestication, and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement, the “Business Combination”).

Legacy Forge is considered the Company’s accounting predecessor. The Merger was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization with Legacy Forge as
the accounting acquirer and MOTYV as the acquired company for accounting purposes.
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Accordingly, all historical financial information presented in the consolidated financial statements represents the accounts of Legacy Forge.
Key Factors Affecting our Performance

The key factors affecting our performance described below are not the only ones applicable to us. We believe that the growth of our business and our
future success are dependent upon a number of key factors, including the following:

Growing our Customer Base

Our growth requires continued adoption of our platform by new customers and increased usage by current customers. We plan to continue to introduce
products and features to attract and retain current and new customers, and we plan to seek to increase brand awareness and customer adoption of our platform
through digital and broad-scale advertising.

Expanding our Relationship with Existing Customers

Our revenue generally grows as our customers increase their usage of our platform, as well as when we introduce new products and features to our
customers. We aim to grow with our customers over time and to grow our relationship with our customers as they build and manage their wealth. Through our
customer-centric and complementary solutions, we seek a future where sellers become buyers, buyers become custody account holders, and account holders
continue to participate in the private market. Our ability to expand our relationship with our customers is therefore an important contributor to our long-term
growth.

Investing in our Platform

We intend to continue to invest in our platform capabilities and regulatory and compliance functions to support new and existing customers and
products that we believe will drive our growth. As our customer base and platform functionalities expand, areas of investment priority include product
innovation, automation, technology and infrastructure improvements, and customer support. We believe these investments will contribute to our long-term
growth. Additionally, we strive to strengthen our relationships with our customers by responding to customer feedback not only through the introduction of
new products, but also through improvements to our existing products and services. In this period of market disruption, we are focused on building by
improving our platform to drive down the cost and time of trading.

Market Trends

Our results of operations are impacted by the overall health of the economy, and consumer and institutional investing patterns, which include the
following key drivers:

* Private Market Trends. As private market investing continues and the number of venture-backed companies and late-stage private growth companies
fluctuate, our supply and demand will shift accordingly as such factors affect the number of existing stockholders looking for liquidity as well as
potential investors interested in obtaining equity in such companies while they remain private. Although periods of macroeconomic growth in the
United States, particularly in private equity markets, generally stimulate growth in overall investment activity on our platform, such activity has been
and may continue to be negatively impacted by any slowdowns, downturns, and volatility in the macroeconomic environment and private equity
markets.

* Consumer Behavior. Buyers' and sellers' behaviors vary over time and are affected by numerous conditions. For example, behavior may be impacted
by social or economic factors such as changes in disposable income levels and the need for liquidity, employee tenure, general interest in investing,
interest rate levels, and reaction to stock market volatility. There may also be high profile IPOs, SPACs, or idiosyncratic events impacting single
companies that impact consumer behavior. These shifts in consumer behavior may influence interest in our products over time.

* Macroeconomic Environment. Customer and business behavior and risk appetite is impacted by the overall macroeconomic environment. Despite a
higher interest rate environment, the economy has shown resilience; however, market uncertainty continues. Volatility and liquidity risks to private
equity valuations, as well as uncertainty around settlement prices for illiquid assets, could impact investor appetite and investment preferences across
the alternative investment and private markets space.
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Custodial administration fees

We generate revenue from account maintenance fees, asset fees, transaction fees, and cash administration fees. The cash administration fees are based
on prevailing interest rates and customer cash balances, and currently make up the majority of custodial administration fee revenue. With respect to the account
maintenance fees, we assess a flat quarterly fee per account, with additional fees based on the number and types of assets held and the number and type of
transactions executed. The account revenues depend on the number of Total Custodial Accounts, which include accounts customers opened directly with us and
the activity within these accounts, as well as accounts we custody on behalf of partners. Our business depends on maintaining and growing the number of Total
Custodial Accounts.

Types of Structures

We have facilitated direct trades, trades in both our own special purpose vehicles (each, an "Investment Fund") and other firms’ funds, and certain
forward agreements. We may adjust marketplace revenue (previously called placement fee revenue) to account for the operational costs of these transaction
types, and we incur certain transaction-based costs depending on the structure. The mix of trades in different structures will impact our overall take rate and
revenues.

Types of Buyers/Sellers

The type of customer may influence our marketplace revenue (previously called placement fee revenue). Examples of a type of customer are
institutional and individual customers, who may receive various placement fee rates depending on different factors. Having customers that come to our
platform through third-party brokers or our private company solutions may also impact our marketplace revenue. The mix of clients in any given period will
impact our overall take rate and revenues.

Use of Third-Party Brokers and Referral Partners

When working with a third-party broker or partner, we share a portion of the marketplace revenue, which are recognized in our consolidated financial
statements under transaction-based expenses. The mix of fees paid to third-party brokers and partners fluctuates each time period, which we expect to continue
based on the size of our order book and our number of partners, as well as changes in the market overall.
Segment Information

We operate as a single operating segment and reportable segment. Our chief operating decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer, who reviews
financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions, assessing financial performance, allocating resources, and

evaluating our financial performance. Accordingly, we have concluded that we consist of a single operating segment and reportable segment for accounting and
financial reporting purposes.
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Key Business Metrics

We monitor the following key business metrics to help us evaluate our business, identify trends affecting our business, formulate business plans, and
make strategic decisions.

The tables below reflect period-over-period changes in our key business metrics, along with the percentage change between such periods. We believe
the following business metrics are useful in evaluating our business.

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Over 2022 Change 2022 Over 2021 Change
Dollars in thousands 2023 2022 2021 Change % Change Change % Change
TRADING BUSINESS
Trades 1,756 2,184 4,890 (428) (20)% (2,706) (55)%
Volume $ 765,899 $ 1,222,879 $ 3,180,257 $  (456,980) B7% $ (1,957,378) (62)%
Net Take Rate 33% 33% 33% — —% — —%
Marketplace revenues, less
transaction-based expenses $ 25,359 $ 40,182 $ 104,689 $ (14,823) B7H% $ (64,507) (62)%

 Trades are defined as the total number of orders executed by us and entities we have acquired on behalf of private investors and stockholders.
Increasing the number of orders is critical to increasing our revenue and, in turn, to achieving profitability.

* Volume is defined as the total sales value for all securities traded through our Forge Markets platform, which is the aggregate value of the issuer
company’s equity attributed to both the buyer and seller in a trade and as such a $100 trade of equity between buyer and seller would be captured as
$200 of volume for us. Although we typically capture a commission on each side of a trade, we may not in certain cases due to factors such as the use of
a third-party broker by one of the parties or supply factors that would not allow us to attract sellers of shares of certain issuers. Volume is influenced by,
among other things, the pricing and quality of our services as well as market conditions that affect private company valuations, such as increases in
valuations of comparable companies at [PO.

» Net Take Rates are defined as our marketplace revenues (previously called placement fee revenue), less transaction-based expenses, divided by Volume.
These represent the percentage of fees earned by our platform on any transactions executed from the commission we charged on such transactions less
transaction-based expenses, which is a determining factor in our revenue. The Net Take Rate can vary based upon the service or product offering and is
also affected by the average order size and transaction frequency.

December 31, 2023 2023 Over 2022 Change 2022 Over 2021 Change
Dollars in thousands 2023 2022 2021 Change % Change Change % Change
CUSTODY BUSINESS
Total Custodial Accounts 2,078,868 1,871,146 2,124,677 207,722 11 % (253,531) 12)%
Assets Under Custody $ 15,647,469 $ 14,870,257 $ 14,334,527 $ 777,212 5% $ 535,730 4%

* Total Custodial Accounts are defined as our customers’ custodial accounts that are established on our platform and billable. These relate to our
Custodial Administration fees revenue stream and are an important measure of our business as the number of Total Custodial Accounts is an indicator of
our future revenues from certain account maintenance, transaction, and cash administration fees.

+ Assets Under Custody is the reported value of all client holdings held under our agreements, including cash submitted to us by the responsible party.
These assets can be held at various financial institutions, issuers, and in our vault. As the custodian of the accounts, we collect all interest and dividends,
handle all fees and transactions, and any other considerations for the assets concerned. Our fees are earned from the overall maintenance activities of all
assets and are not charged on the basis of the dollar value of Assets Under Custody, but we believe that Assets Under Custody is a useful metric for
assessing the relative size and scope of our business.

41




Table of Contents

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our financial results determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP"), we present
Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure. We use Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate our ongoing operations and for internal planning and forecasting
purposes. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA, when taken together with the corresponding GAAP financial measure, provides meaningful supplemental
information regarding our performance by excluding specific financial items that have less bearing on our core operating performance. We consider Adjusted
EBITDA to be an important measure because it helps illustrate underlying trends in our business and our historical operating performance on a more consistent

basis.

However, non-GAAP financial information is presented for supplemental informational purposes only, has limitations as an analytical tool, and should
not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for financial information presented in accordance with GAAP. In addition, other companies, including
companies in our industry, may calculate similarly titled non-GAAP financial measures differently or may use other measures to evaluate their performance, all
of which could reduce the usefulness of Adjusted EBITDA as a tool for comparison. A reconciliation is provided below for Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the
most directly comparable financial measure stated in accordance with GAAP. Investors are encouraged to review Adjusted EBITDA and the reconciliation of
Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, and not to rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business.

We defined Adjusted EBITDA as net loss, adjusted to exclude: (i) interest expense, net, (ii) provision for or benefit from income taxes,
(iii) depreciation and amortization, (iv) share-based compensation expense, (v) change in fair value of warrant liabilities, (vi) acquisition-related transaction
costs, and (vii) other significant gains, losses and expenses (such as impairments or transaction bonus) that we believe are not indicative of our ongoing results.

The following table reconciles net loss attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc. to our Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented below (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Net loss attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc. $ (90,221) $ (111,859) $ (18,499)
Add:
Interest (income) expense, net (6,421) (2,681) 2,307
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 819 327 386
Depreciation and amortization 6,954 6,026 5,390
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (1,328) (46) —
Loss on impairment of long lived assets 599 446 —
Share-based compensation expense 34,334 57,924 12,231
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 6,465 (19,836) 6,064
Acquisition-related transaction costs(" — 5,113 882
Transaction bonus® — 17,735 —
Adjusted EBITDA $ (48,799) $ (46,851) $ 8,761

(1) Acquisition-related transaction costs include transaction costs related to the Business Combination, which consisted of legal, accounting, and other
professional services directly related to the Merger, direct and incremental expenses in connection with business acquisitions, which consist primarily of
professional services fees for investment banking advisors, legal services, accounting advisory, and other external costs directly related to acquisitions and

other strategic opportunities, including the formation of Forge Europe.
(2) Represents a one-time transaction bonus to certain executives as a result of consummation of the Business Combination, included in the compensation and

benefits in the consolidated statements of operations.

Some of the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA include: (i) Adjusted EBITDA does not properly reflect capital commitments to be paid in the future, and
(i) although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the underlying assets may need to be replaced and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect these
capital expenditures. In evaluating Adjusted EBITDA, be aware that in the future we will incur expenses similar to the adjustments in this presentation. Our

presentation
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of Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by these expenses or any unusual or non-recurring items.
We compensate for these limitations by providing specific information regarding the GAAP items excluded from Adjusted EBITDA. When evaluating our
performance, consider Adjusted EBITDA in addition to, and not a substitute for, other financial performance measures, including our net loss and other GAAP
results.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included elsewhere in this Report include our accounts and accounts of our
consolidated subsidiaries and were prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Components of Results of Operations
Revenue

We generate revenue from providing private market services, which include fees charged for private placements on our platform, and fees charged for
account and asset management to customers.

We categorize our services into the following three categories:

Marketplace revenue (previously called placement fee revenue)— We maintain a platform which generates revenues through our Forge Markets
offering with volume-based fees sourced from institutions, individual investors, and private equity holders. Marketplace revenue represent fees charged by us
for executing a private placement on our platform. We earn agency marketplace revenue in non-underwritten transactions, such as private placements of equity
securities. We receive marketplace revenue on these transactions and believe that our trade execution performance obligation is completed upon the placement
and consummation of a transaction and, as such, revenue is earned on the transaction date with no further obligation to the customer at that time. We enter into
arrangements with individual accredited customers or Investment Funds to execute private placements in the secondary market. We anticipate marketplace
revenue to grow in the long run as the secondary market continues to grow and we continue to execute trades more efficiently. Revenues generated from our
data solutions are classified as part of marketplace revenue in our consolidated statements of operations (see Subscription Fees below).

Custodial administration fees — We generate revenue from account maintenance fees, asset fees, transaction fees, and cash administration fees. The
cash administration fees are based on prevailing interest rates and customer cash balances, and currently make up the majority of custodial administration fee
revenue. With respect to the account maintenance fees, we assess a flat quarterly fee per account, with additional fees based on the number and types of assets
held and the number and type of transactions executed. The account revenues depend on the number of Total Custodial Accounts, which include accounts
customers opened directly with us and the activity within these accounts, as well as accounts we custody on behalf of partners. Revenues from custodial
administration fees are recognized either over time as underlying performance obligations are met and day-to-day maintenance activities are performed for
custodial accounts, or at a point in time upon completion of transactions requested by custodial account holders.

Subscription Fees — We generate revenues through our Forge Data offerings with subscription fees earned from our data products, including Forge
Intelligence, and subscription fees earned from our private company solutions. We anticipate subscription fees to continue to grow as we expand our sales and
marketing efforts and develop more features and products. Subscription fees for the periods presented were included as part of marketplace revenue (previously
called placement fee revenue) in the consolidated statements of operations.

Transaction-based expenses

Transaction-based expenses represent fees incurred to support placement activities. These include, but are not limited to, third-party broker fees,
transfer fees, fund management, and fund and trade settlement. We generally expect these expenses to increase in absolute dollars as our marketplace revenue
Srows.
Compensation and benefits

Compensation and benefits expense is our most significant operating expense and includes employee wages, bonuses, share-based compensation,
severance costs, benefits, and employer taxes. The incentive component of our compensation and benefits expense consists of amounts paid on the achievement

of sales targets and discretionary bonuses, which are based on both our financial performance and individual employee performance. While we expect our
compensation
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and benefits expense to increase as our revenue grows and we hire additional personnel to support new products and services, in the near term, we are focused
on aligning our headcount with current business needs and making strategic headcount additions to support growth. The share-based compensation component
of compensation and benefits expense may or may not increase as we continue to align our headcount with current and future business needs.

Professional services

Professional services expense includes fees for accounting, tax, auditing, legal and regulatory services, as well as consulting services received in
connection with strategic and technology initiatives. We have and may continue to incur additional professional services expenses relating to public company
regulatory requirements and customary practices.
Acquisition-related transaction costs

Acquisition-related transaction costs consist primarily of professional services fees for investment banking advisors, legal services, accounting
advisory, and other external costs directly related to acquisitions and other strategic opportunities. While acquisition-related transaction costs may be
significant, they are non-recurring in nature. Acquisition-related transaction costs during the year ended December 31, 2022, included costs related to the
Business Combination, which consisted of legal, accounting, and other professional services directly related to the Business Combination, but not considered as
part of issuance cost. We may explore and pursue acquisitions and other strategic opportunities and as a result, we may or may not incur acquisition-related
transaction costs in future periods.
Advertising and market development

Advertising and market development is an important driver of our value and we intend to continue making meaningful investments in the Forge brand
and growth marketing. This includes brand advertising, thought leadership, content marketing, public relations, partnerships, and other strategies that amplify
our brand. We have a rigorous approach to measuring customer lifetime value and optimizing our customer acquisition investments according to market
dynamics and effective return on investment ("ROI"). We manage our discretionary expenses in growth marketing in real-time, as audience-specific dynamics
show positive ROI. We generally expect our marketing expenses to increase in the long term in absolute dollars but manage our spend judiciously and adapt as
market conditions evolve.
Rent and occupancy

Rent and occupancy expense is related to our leased property and includes rent, maintenance, real estate taxes, utilities, and other related costs.
Technology and communications

Technology and communications consist of costs for our hosting fees paid to third-party data centers, software development engineers, and
maintenance of our computer hardware and software required to support our technology and cybersecurity. Technology and communications also include costs
for network connections for our electronic platforms and telecommunications. We generally expect our technology and communications expense to increase,
over the long term, as we continue to increase our headcount and innovate on our offerings and services.

General and administrative

General and administrative includes insurance, travel and entertainment, reserves for contingent losses, including allowances for bad debts and legal
proceedings, and other general and administrative costs.

Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization is attributable to property and equipment, intangible assets and capitalized internal-use software.
Interest income

Interest income primarily includes interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents.
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Change in fair value of warrant liabilities

Changes in the fair value of warrant liabilities are related to warrant liabilities that are marked-to-market each reporting period with the change in fair
value recorded in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations until the warrants are exercised, expire or other facts and circumstances lead the
warrant liabilities to be reclassified to stockholders’ equity.

Other income (expenses), net

Other income (expenses), net, includes other non-operating income and expenditures, sublease income, and gain or loss on equity method
investments.

Provision for income taxes

Income tax expense consists of federal, state and foreign income taxes. We maintain a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets net of deferred

tax liabilities, with the exception of certain indefinite-lived liabilities, as we have concluded it is not more likely than not that we will realize our net deferred
tax assets.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands). For a

comparison of the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, see "Results of Operations" in Item 7 of Part I of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC on March 1, 2023.

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 69,390 $ 68,900

Operating expenses:

Compensation and benefits 106,593 145,514
Other 54,246 58,426
Total operating expenses 160,839 203,940
Operating loss (91,449) (135,040)
Total interest and other income (expenses) 719 23,462
Loss before provision for income taxes (90,730) (111,578)
Provision for income taxes 819 327
Net loss (91,549) (111,905)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (1,328) (46)
Net loss attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc. $ (90,221) $ (111,859)

Revenue
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Year Ended December 31, 2023 Over 2022 Change

(in thousands) 2023 2022 $ %
Marketplace revenue $ 25,790 § 40,665 $ (14,875) (37)%
Custodial administration fees 44,031 28,718 15,313 53

Total revenues 69,821 69,383 438 1
Transaction-based expenses:

Transaction-based expenses (431) (483) 52 (11)
Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 69,390 $ 68,900 $ 490 1%

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses were $69.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to $68.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, representing an increase of $0.5 million, or 1%.

Marketplace revenue (previously called placement fee revenue) decreased by $14.9 million, or 37%, driven by lower trading volumes. We attribute
lower trading volumes in the private markets to macroeconomic conditions and pricing volatility which is illustrated by higher spreads overall and throughout
2023.

Custodial administration fees increased by $15.3 million, or 53%, driven by an 11% increase in total accounts and higher cash administration fees
attributable to the higher interest rate environment offset in part by lower cash balances.

Operating Expenses

Compensation and benefits

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Over 2022 Change
(in thousands) 2023 2022 $ %
Salary $ 53,829 $ 47,836 $ 5,993 13%
Incentive compensation and other bonus 12,257 34,356 (22,099) (64)
Share-based compensation 34,334 57,924 (23,590) (41)
Benefits and other 6,173 5,398 775 14
Total compensation and benefits $ 106,593 § 145514 §  (38,921) (27)%

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Compensation and benefits expense was $106.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $145.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022, representing a decrease of $38.9 million, or 27%.

Salary expense increased $6.0 million as a result of higher average headcount in 2023 as compared to 2022 and a $4.0 million reduction in the amount
of compensation expense capitalized in connection with internally developed software.

Incentive compensation consists of variable compensation in connection with marketplace revenue (previously called placement fee revenue) and
discretionary bonuses to eligible employees based upon individual and company performance. The decrease in incentive compensation of $22.1 million was
driven by a $4.1 million decrease in commission expense in line with the 37% decline in marketplace revenue and the 2022 one-time transaction bonuses for
certain executives of $17.7 million related to the consummation of the Business Combination.

The decrease in share-based compensation expense of $23.6 million was primarily related to restricted stock units ("RSUs") granted on June 1, 2022
under the 2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and cumulative catch-up recognized in connection with the Business Combination in 2022. RSU expense was
$29.6 million and $40.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, of which $5.3 million and $24.3 million, respectively, related to
the Executive Retention RSUs granted to certain executives described in Note 12, "Share-Based Compensation" to our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Report. Option expense was $4.8 million and $16.8 million for the years
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ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, of which $0.5 million and $7.5 million, respectively, was attributable to the cumulative catch-up expense and
continued amortization for stock option grants containing performance and market-based conditions, of which the performance condition was met as a result of
the consummation of the Business Combination in 2022.

Other Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Over 2022 Change
(in thousands) 2023 2022 $ %
Professional services $ 11,905 $ 14,265 § (2,360) 7%
Acquisition-related transaction costs — 5,113 (5,113) (100)
Advertising and market development 3,486 4,754 (1,268) 27)
Rent and occupancy 4,884 5,455 (571) (10)
Technology and communications 14,507 11,489 3,018 26
General and administrative 12,510 11,324 1,186 10
Depreciation and amortization 6,954 6,026 928 100 15
Total other operating expenses $ 54246 $ 58,426 § (4,180) (7%

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Other operating expenses decreased $4.2 million, or 7%, to $54.2 million.

Professional services expense was $11.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $14.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2022, representing a decrease of $2.4 million, or 17%. The change in expense was primarily due to lower consulting and legal expenses related to the Business
Combination and public company requirements incurred in 2022. Acquisition-related transaction costs of $5.1 million related to the Business Combination
were recognized in the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in technology and communications expense is primarily due to an increase in recurring
software license fees and a decrease in capitalized software development costs partially offset by our cost containment efforts in 2023. Cost containment efforts
in 2023 resulted in a decline in advertising and third-party software engineers expenses reported in technology and communications expenses of $1.3 million
and $1.8 million, respectively. General and administrative expenses decreased $0.3 million driven by a $1.6 million decrease in corporate liability insurance
and $0.3 million lower provisions for bad debts offset by $0.6 million increase in legal reserves and settlements, $0.6 million increase in travel and
entertainment expenses, and $0.4 million increase in impairments of capitalized internal-use software, property, and equipment.

Total interest and other income (expenses)

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Over 2022 Change
(in thousands) 2023 2022 $ %
Interest income $ 6,421 $ 2,681 $ 3,740 100 140 %
(Loss) gain from change in fair value of warrant liabilities (6,465) 19,836 (26,301) (133)
Other income, net 763 945 (182) (19)
Total interest and other income $ 719 $ 23,462 $ (22,743) 97)%

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Interest income increased $3.7 million driven by more favorable interest rates earned on cash and equivalent balances and earnings on time deposits
with maturities in excess of 90 days which are classified as other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

Changes in the fair value of warrant liabilities were driven by changes in key valuation assumptions including the Company's share price and share
price volatility as of the valuation dates. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized a $6.5 million loss from warrant revaluations as
compared to a $19.8 million gain for the year ended December 31, 2022. See Note 4, "Fair Value Measurements" to the consolidated financial statements.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations primarily through revenue from operations, issuances of securities, and proceeds from the Business Combination.
Our primary requirements for liquidity and capital are to finance working capital, capital expenditures, and investments in business acquisitions.

As of December 31, 2023, our principal source of liquidity was our cash and cash equivalents balance of $144.7 million. Since our inception, we have
generated operating losses as reflected in our accumulated deficit. We had an accumulated deficit of $280.6 million as of December 31, 2023.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2023 will be sufficient to meet our operating working capital and capital
expenditure requirements for the next twelve months and the foreseeable future. Our future financing requirements will depend on many factors including our
growth rate, the timing and extent of spending to support development of our platform and the expansion of sales and marketing activities. Although we
currently are not a party to any agreement and do not have any understanding with any third parties with respect to potential investments in, or acquisitions of,
businesses or technologies, we may enter into these types of arrangements in the future, which could also require us to seek additional equity or debt financing.
Additional funds may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all.

We intend to continue to make investments in product development, sales efforts, and additional general and administrative costs in connection with
operating as a public company. We expect to continue to maintain financing flexibility in the current market conditions. As a result, we may require additional
capital resources to execute strategic initiatives to grow our business.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors including our revenue growth rate, the timing, and extent of spending to support further
sales and marketing and research and development efforts. We may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. In the event that additional
financing is required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when
desired, our business, results of operations, and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected.

Cash Flow Summary

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ (41,456) $ (68,806)
Investing activities $ (8,160) $ (6,650)
Financing activities $ 57§ 192,862

Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 of $41.5 million was primarily driven by our net loss of $91.5 million,
adjusted for non-cash charges of $53.7 million and net cash outflows of $3.6 million provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash
charges include share-based compensation, depreciation and amortization, amortization of right-of-use assets, and changes in fair value of warrant liabilities.

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 of $68.8 million was primarily driven by our net loss of $111.9 million,
adjusted for non-cash charges of $57.6 million and net cash outflows of $14.5 million provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash
charges included share-based compensation of $57.9 million, depreciation and amortization of $6.0 million, amortization of right-of-use assets of $4.0 million,
and settlements of related party promissory notes of $5.5 million.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $8.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Investing activities consist primarily of net purchases of
term deposits of $7.6 million and purchases of property and equipment of $0.5 million.

48




Table of Contents

Cash used in investing activities was $6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. This was due to cash paid for capitalized internal-use
software of $6.3 million, purchases of property and equipment of $0.2 million, and purchases of intangible assets of $0.1 million.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, and relate to stock option and other equity award
activities and settlements.

Cash provided by financing activities was $192.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, which consisted primarily of proceeds from the PIPE
Investment and A&R FPA investors of $208.5 million, proceeds from the exercise of Public Warrants of $22.9 million, proceeds from the formation of Forge

Europe of $9.5 million, proceeds from the Business Combination of $7.9 million, and proceeds from the exercise of options of $1.1 million, partially offset by
payments for offering costs of $56.9 million and payments for redemption of Public Warrants of $0.2 million.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2023, and the years in which these obligations are due (in thousands):

Total Less than 1 year 1 to 3 years 3 to 5 years More than S years

Operating lease obligations") $ 5,621 $ 2,810 $ 2,811 $ — % —
Non-cancelable purchase obligations® 7,394 1,969 4,194 1,231 —
Total contractual obligations $ 13,015 $ 4,779 $ 7,005 $ 1,231 $ —

(1) Our lease portfolio primarily includes leased office space, all of which are accounted for as operating leases. Total payments listed represent total
minimum future lease payments.

(2) In the normal course of business, we entered into non-cancelable purchase commitments with various parties mainly for software products and services.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience, current business factors, and various
other assumptions that we believe are necessary to consider forming a basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities, the
recorded amounts of revenue and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We are subject to uncertainties such as the impact of future
events, economic and political factors, and changes in our business environment; therefore, actual results could differ from these estimates. Accordingly, the
accounting estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements will change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, as
additional information is obtained and as our operating environment changes. Changes in estimates are made when circumstances warrant. Such changes in
estimates and refinements in estimation methodologies are reflected in reported results of operations; if material, the effects of changes in estimates are
disclosed in the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions. The most significant judgments, estimates, and assumptions relate to the critical accounting policies, as discussed in more detail below.

Revenue Recognition
We generate revenue from fees charged for the trading of private placements on our platform, and fees for account and asset management provided to
customers. We disaggregate revenue by service type, as we believe that this level of disaggregation best depicts how the nature, amount, timing, and

uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are impacted by economic factors. We recognize revenue pursuant to ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
The amount of
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revenue recognized reflects the consideration that we expect to receive in exchange for services. To achieve the core principle of this standard, we applied the
following five steps:

Identification of the contract, or contracts, with the customer;

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

Determination of the transaction price;

Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
Recognition of the revenue when, or as, a performance obligation is satisfied.

A

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

We enter into contracts with customers that can include various services, which are generally capable of being distinct and accounted for as separate
performance obligations. When applicable, allocation of the transaction fees to the performance obligations or to the distinct goods or services that form part of
a single performance obligation will depend on the individual facts and circumstances of the contract.

All of our revenues are from contracts with customers. We are the principal in these contracts, with the exception of cash administration fees, in which
case we act as the agent and record revenue from fees earned related to cash balances in customers’ custodial accounts. Refer to the section titled “Revenue
Recognition and Transaction-Based Expenses” in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report.

Share-Based Compensation

We recognize share-based compensation expense in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”).
ASC 718 requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based awards, since the Business Combination in the form of
restricted stock units ("RSUs"), granted to employees, directors and non-employees based on the grant date fair value of the awards. We recognize
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the awards, which is generally the award's vesting term. The fair value of
RSUs is based on the closing price of the Company's common stock. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.

For grants with performance or market-based conditions, the Company uses a Monte Carlo simulation to determine the fair value and the derived
service period at the grant date and recognizes share-based compensation expense using an accelerated attribution method when it becomes probable that the
performance-based condition will be met.

Prior to the Business Combination, the fair value of employee and non-employee stock options was determined on the grant date using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model using various inputs, including the fair value of the underlying common stock, the expected term of the stock-based award, the
expected volatility of the price of our common stock, risk-free interest rates, and the expected dividend yield of common stock. The assumptions used to
determine the fair value of the stock-based awards represented management’s best estimates. These estimates involved inherent uncertainties and the
application of management’s judgment.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no new option grants.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company's long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the
asset may not be recoverable. The Company also evaluates the period of depreciation and amortization of long-lived assets to determine whether events or
circumstances warrant revised estimates of useful lives. When indicators of impairment are present, the Company determines the recoverability of its long-
lived assets by comparing the carrying value of our long-lived assets to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets and
their eventual disposition. If the estimated future undiscounted cash flows demonstrate the long-lived assets are not recoverable, an impairment loss would be

calculated based on the excess of the carrying amounts of the long-lived assets over their fair value.

The Company recorded impairment losses during the year ended December 31, 2023 related to certain operating leases of $0.3 million, leasehold
improvements of less than $0.1 million, and furniture and fixtures of less than $0.1 million.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, Net
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Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate fair value of the consideration transferred in a business combination over the fair value of the assets
acquired, net of liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment annually on October 1, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate the goodwill may be impaired. These events or circumstances could include a significant change in the business climate, regulatory
environment, established business plans, operating performance indicators, or competition. Potential impairment indicators may also include, but are not
limited to, (i) the results of the Company’s most recent annual or interim impairment testing, (ii) downward revisions to internal forecasts, (iii) declines in the
Company’s market capitalization below its book value, and the magnitude and duration of those declines, (iv) a reorganization resulting in a change to the
Company’s operating segments, and (v) other macroeconomic factors, such as increases in interest rates that may affect the weighted average cost of capital or
volatility in the equity and debt markets. No impairment charges were recognized during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Launched research and development (“IPR&D”) assets acquired in a business combination are considered indefinite lived until the completion or
abandonment of the associated research and development efforts. The Company amortizes the launched IPR&D over its estimated useful life.

Acquired intangible assets also consist of identifiable intangible assets, primarily software technology, trade name and customer relationships, and a
trade name website domain resulting from business acquisitions. Finite-lived intangible assets are recorded at fair value on the date of acquisition and are
amortized over their estimated useful lives. The Company bases the useful lives and related amortization expense on our estimate of the period that the assets
will generate revenues or otherwise be used.

Warrant Liabilities

The Company recognizes certain warrant instruments as derivative liabilities in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. See Notes 3
"Recapitalization", 4 "Fair Value Measurements", and 11 "Warrants" to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report for additional
information. Accordingly, the Company recognizes the warrant instruments as liabilities at fair value and adjusts the carrying value of the instruments to fair
value at each reporting period until they are redeemed, exchanged, expired, or exercised. The Company will continue to adjust the warrant liability for changes
in the fair value until the earlier of a) the exercise, exchange, or expiration of the warrants or b) the redemption of the warrants, at which time the warrants will
be reclassified to additional paid-in-capital. The significant inputs used to estimate fair value of the warrants are the fair value of the underlying security,
expected volatility, expected term, risk-free interest rate, and expected dividend yield. The fair value of the warrants are sensitive to changes in the inputs with
changes in the fair value of the underlying security, expected volatility, and expected term driving the largest valuation changes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See the section titled "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" in Note 2 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Forge Global Holdings, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Forge Global Holdings, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2023, and 2022, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to
be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the
critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Description of the Matter

How We Addressed the Matter in
Our Audit

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Impairment assessment of goodwill

At December 31, 2023, the Company’s Goodwill was $121 million. As discussed in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company tests goodwill for impairment at least annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate the goodwill may be impaired. The Company has determined that it has a
single reporting unit. In the first quarter of 2023, as a result of the decline in the market value of the
Company's stock, the Company performed an interim quantitative impairment analysis to assess the enterprise
value of the Company and assess its goodwill for recoverability as of March 31, 2023 (“interim reporting
date”). For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company did not recognize impairment charges on
goodwill.

Auditing the Company's interim impairment assessment was complex and involved a high degree of
subjectivity as the estimate of fair value of the reporting unit is based on significant assumptions including
discount rate, revenue growth rates and projected EBITDA margin.

To test the fair value of the Company’s reporting unit, our audit procedures included, among others, assessing
the methodology and assumptions described above used in the impairment assessment as of the interim
reporting date. We compared the assumptions described above to analyst expectations, historical performance
and other available market information. We also performed our own sensitivity analyses by increasing or
decreasing the assumptions and evaluated the potential impact on the estimated fair value of the reporting unit.
We involved our specialist to assist us in evaluating the methodologies and assumptions used to calculate the
estimated fair value of the Company’s reporting unit.

In addition, we tested the reconciliation of the fair value of the reporting unit developed by management to the
market capitalization of the Company as of the valuation date and evaluated the implied control premium for
reasonableness.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2021.

San Francisco, California

March 26, 2024
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FORGE GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

December 31,

2023 2022
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 144,722 193,136
Restricted cash 1,062 1,829
Accounts receivable, net 4,067 3,544
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 13,253 8,379
Total current assets $ 163,104 206,888
Internal-use software, property and equipment, net 5,192 7,999
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net 129,919 133,887
Operating lease right-of-use assets 4,308 5,706
Payment-dependent notes receivable, noncurrent 5,593 7,371
Other assets, noncurrent 2,615 1,878
Total assets $ 310,731 363,729
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,831 2,797
Accrued compensation and benefits 11,004 13,271
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 8,861 6,421
Operating lease liabilities, current 2,516 3,896
Total current liabilities $ 24,212 26,385
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent 2,707 3,541
Payment-dependent notes payable, noncurrent 5,593 7,371
Warrant liabilities 9,616 606
Other liabilities, noncurrent 185 365
Total liabilities $ 42,313 38,268
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 176,899,814 and 172,560,916 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, respectively 18 18
Treasury stock, at cost; 157,193 and zero shares as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively (625) —
Additional paid-in capital 543,846 509,094
Accumulated other comprehensive income 911 693
Accumulated deficit (280,638) (190,418)
Total Forge Global Holdings, Inc. stockholders’ equity $ 263,512 319,387
Noncontrolling interest 4,906 6,074
Total stockholders’ equity $ 268,418 325,461
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 310,731 363,729

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FORGE GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Revenues:

Marketplace revenue 25,790 $ 40,665 $ 107,723

Custodial administration fees 44,031 28,718 20,333

Total revenues 69,821 $ 69,383 $ 128,056

Transaction-based expenses:

Transaction-based expenses (431) (483) (3,034)
Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses 69,390 $ 68,900 $ 125,022
Operating expenses:

Compensation and benefits 106,593 145,514 94,654

Professional services 11,905 14,265 12,450

Acquisition-related transaction costs — 5,113 882

Adpvertising and market development 3,486 4,754 5,090

Rent and occupancy 4,884 5,455 3,744

Technology and communications 14,507 11,489 8,243

General and administrative 12,510 11,324 4,358

Depreciation and amortization 6,954 6,026 5,390
Total operating expenses 160,839 $ 203,940 $ 134,811
Operating loss (91,449) $ (135,040) $ (9,789)
Interest and other income (expenses):

Interest income (expenses), net 6,421 2,681 (2,307)

(Loss) gain from change in fair value of warrant liabilities (6,465) 19,836 (6,064)

Other income, net 763 945 47
Total interest and other income (expenses) 719 $ 23,462 $ (8,324)
Loss before provision for income taxes (90,730) $ (111,578) $ (18,113)
Provision for income taxes 819 327 386
Net loss 91,549) $ (111,905) $ (18,499)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (1,328) (46) —
Net loss attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc. 90,221) $ (111,859) $ (18,499)
Net loss per share attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc. common stockholders:

Basic 0.52) § 0.78) § (0.34)

Diluted 0.52) $ (0.80) $ (0.34)
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to Forge Global

Holdings, Inc. common stockholders:
Basic 173,402,167 143,839,981 54,295,304
Diluted 173,402,167 145,013,346 54,295,304

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FORGE GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Net loss $ (91,549) $ (111,905) $ (18,499)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 378 1,155 —
Comprehensive loss (91,171) (110,750) (18,499)
Less: Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest (1,168) 416 —
Comprehensive loss attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc. $ (90,003) $ (111,166) $ (18,499)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Convertible P!
Stock

referred

FORGE GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share data)

Common Stock

Shares

Amount

Treasury

Shares Amount Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive Noncontrolling

Income Interest Total

Balance as of December
31,2020

Issuance of Series B-1
convertible preferred
stock at $3.9760 per
share upon conversion of
convertible notes and
accrued interest

49,084,185 S

27,947

Issuance of Series B-1
convertible preferred
stock at $3.9760 per
share, net of issuance
costs of $2,838
Issuance of Series B-2
convertible preferred
stock at $3.9760 per
share

12,719,398

412,623

Issuance of Class AA
common stock upon
exercise of vested stock
options, including stock
options exercised via
promissory notes

Issuance of Class AA
common stock upon
early exercise of
unvested stock options,
including stock options
exercised via promissory
notes

Repurchase of early
exercised stock options
Exchange of Class AA
common stock for Series
B-1 convertible preferred
stock

Vesting of early
exercised stock options
Share-based
compensation expense

Net loss

11,669,996

156,848

111

47,735

1,640

39,722

4 s

71,119,020 3

1,290,307 *)

2,604,724

(43,052)

(11,669,996) *)

$ 52557 $  (60,060)

704

(39,722)
145

12,231

(18,499)

$  (7,499)

704

(39,722)
145

12,231
(18,499)

Balance as of December

31,2021 73,914,149 $

246,056

63,301,003 $ 4 8

$ 25915 §  (78,559)

$ (52,640)

Hnissued common stock

(210,302)

Balance as of December

31,2021 73,914,149 $

246,056

63,090,701 $ 4 3

$ 25915 $  (78,559)

$ (52,640)
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Convertible Preferred
Stock

Common Stock

Additional

Shares Amount

Shares

Amount

Treasury Paid-In Accumulated

Stock Capital Deficit

Total

Balance as of
December 31, 2021

Pre-close issuance of
common stock upon
exercise of vested
options

Pre-close issuance of
common stock upon
exercise of unvested
options

Pre-close issuance of

common stock for — —

services

Conversion of preferred (73,914,149)  (246,056)

stock to common stock

Conversion of May
2020 and October 2020

preferred stock warrants — —

of Legacy Forge to
common stock warrants
Settlement of
promissory notes

Issuance of common
stock upon Merger (net
of redemptions),
including PIPE
Investment and A&R
FPA investors, net of
transaction cost of
$58,673 (1)

Issuance of common

stock upon exercise of — —

Public Warrants
Issuance of common

stock upon release of — —

restricted stock units
Issuance of common

stock upon exercise of — —

vested options

Issuance of common
stock upon early
exercise of unvested
options

Issuance of common
stock upon exercise of
Junior Preferred Stock
Warrants

Formation of Forge
Europe

Repurchase of early
exercised stock options
Vesting of early
exercised stock options
and restricted stock
awards

Share-based
compensation expense

Net loss — —

Foreign currency
translation adjustment

73,914,149 $ 246,056

63,090,701 $

190,505

4,472

62,952

73,914,149

32,171,349

1,994,790

139,340

954,257

78,076

123,379

(163,054)

48

*)

*)

™

— $§ 25915 $ (78,559)

— 102 —

— 621 —

— 246,049 —

— 2,949 —

= 4,205 =

— 140,808 —

— 23,638 =

— 3,830 —

— 1,554 —

= 57,917 —
— — (111,859)

$ (52,640)

102

621

246,056

2,949

4,207

140,811

23,638

*)

855

653

9,488

1,554

57,917

(111,905)

1,155

Balance as of

December 31,2022 — 8 —

172,560,916 $

18

— $ 509,094 $ (190,418)

6074 S 325461
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Convertible Preferred

Accumulated
Stock Common Stock Additional Other
Treasury Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive Noncontrolling
Shares Amount Shares Amount Stock Capital Deficit Income Interest Total
Balaneo as of December — s —| 172,560,916 $ 18 S — $ 509,094 S (190418) ¢ 93 S 6074 S 325461
Issuance of common
stock upon release of — — 3,788,568 *) — — — — — —
restricted stock units
Tax withholding related to
vesting of restricted stock — — (354,374) — — (653) — — — (653)

units

Issuance of common
stock upon exercise of — — 1,264,429 *) J— 810 — — — 810
vested options

Repurchase of early

exercised stock options - — (202,532) — — — — - — —
Vesting of early exercised

stock options and — — — — — 262 — — — 262
restricted stock awards

Stock-based

compensation expense - _ _ - - 34,334 - - - 34,334
Common stock

repurchases - - (157,193) - (625) — — — — (625)
Net loss — — — — — — (90,221) — (1,328) (91,549)
Foreign-currency _ _ o o o -

translation adjustment - 218 160 378
Balmceasiiiieconben — S — | 176,899,814 $ 18 §  (625) $ 543,847 $ (280,639) $ 911 § 4,906 $ 268,418

31,2023

(*) amount less than 1

(1) This amount represents shares that were not issued upon the closing of the Business Combination as a result of a stockholder’s demand for appraisal rights. See
Note 3, "Recapitalization" for additional information. These shares were issued to the stockholder during the year ended December 31, 2022 after the statutory period
to perfect such rights lapsed.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FORGE GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $ 91,549) $ (111,905) $ (18,499)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operations:
Share-based compensation 34,334 57,924 12,231
Depreciation and amortization 6,954 6,026 5,390
Amortization of right-of-use assets 3,153 3,999 2,804
Loss on impairment of long lived assets 599 446 —
Bad debt reserve 270 433 121
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 6,465 (19,836) 6,064
Change in fair value of contingent liability" 2,545 — —
Settlement of related party promissory notes (Note 3) — 5,517 —
Other (625) 3,132 107

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (792) 1,403 382
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,018 (3,321) (1,031)
Accounts payable (1,216) 904 (692)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,805 (788) (520)
Accrued compensation and benefits (2,267) (7,911) 8,080
Operating lease liabilities (4,150) (4,829) (3,536)

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (41,456) (68,806) 10,901

Cash flows from investing activities:
Receipts of term deposit maturities 2,115 — —
Purchases of property and equipment (527) (220) —
Purchases of term deposit (9,748) — —
Purchases of intangible assets — (118) (2,202)
Capitalized internal-use software development costs — (6,312) (1,054)

Net cash used in investing activities (8,160) (6,650) (3,256)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of options, including proceeds from repayment of promissory notes 710 1,086 1,621
Taxes withheld and paid related to net share settlement of equity awards (653) — —
Proceeds from PIPE investment and A&R FPA investors — 208,500 —
Proceeds from exercise of Public Warrants — 22,940 —
Formation of Forge Europe (Note 1) — 9,488 —
Proceeds from the Merger — 7,865 —
Payments for redemption of Public Warrants — (165) —
Payments for offering costs — (56,852) (4,954)
Proceeds from issuance of Series B-1 convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs — — 47,735
Proceeds from issuance of Series B-2 convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs — — 1,640
Cash paid to purchase equity awards — — (23)

Cash flows from financing activities (continued):
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Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Repayment of notes payable — — (19,438)
Net cash provided by financing activities 57 192,862 26,581
Effect of changes in currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 378 1,155 —
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (49,181) 118,561 34,226
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of the period 194,965 76,404 42,178
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of the period $ 145,784 § 194,965 76,404
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash to the amounts reported within the
consolidated balance sheets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 144,722 ¢ 193,136 74,781
Restricted cash 1,062 1,829 1,623
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of the period $ 145,784 $ 194,965 76,404
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ — — 2,118
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets 1,755 3,087 1,702
Vesting of early exercised stock options and restricted stock awards 262 1,554 145
Purchase of property and equipment accrued and not yet paid 250 — —
Conversion of preferred stock — 246,049 —
Assumption of merger warrants liability — 13,983 —
Reclassification of deferred offering costs to equity — 5,923 —
Issuance of common stock upon settlement of related party promissory notes — 4,207 —
Warrants issued in connection with A&R FPA — 3,080 —
Conversion of May 2020 and October 2020 preferred stock warrants of Legacy Forge to common stock — 2,949 —
warrants
Early exercise of stock options upon settlement of related party promissory notes — 1,310 —
Warrant liability reclassified to additional paid-in capital upon exercise of Public Warrants — 698 —
Warrant liability reclassified to additional paid-in capital upon exercise of Junior Preferred Stock Warrants — 653 —
Non-cash assets acquired in the Merger — 193 —
Capitalized internal-use software development costs accrued and not yet paid — 180 214
Exchange of Class AA common stock for Series B-1 convertible preferred stock — — 39,722
Deferred offering cost accrued and not yet paid — — 969
Conversion of convertible notes into Series B-1 convertible preferred stock $ — 3 — 111

(1) The change in fair value of contingent liability in connection with the modification of Junior Preferred warrants ( December 2023 Warrants) is recorded in the consolidated statement of operations

within General and administrative expense. See Note 4, "Fair Value Measurements," for additional information.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FORGE GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Description of Business

Forge Global Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) is a financial services platform headquartered in San Francisco, California. The Company offers a
trusted trading platform, proprietary data, and insights to inform investment strategies, along with custody services to help companies, stockholders,
institutions, and accredited investors confidently navigate and transact in the private market. The Company's scaled and integrated business model is at the
nexus of the private market ecosystem, which it believes creates a sustaining competitive advantage fueling its customers' participation in the private market
and the Company's growth.

On March 21, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), the Company consummated the Business Combination pursuant to the terms of the Agreement and Plan of
Merger dated September 13, 2021 (the "Merger Agreement"), by and among Motive Capital Corp, a blank check company incorporated as a Cayman Islands
exempted company in 2020 (“MOTV?”), FGI Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of MOTV (“Merger Sub”), and Forge
Global, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Legacy Forge”). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on the Closing Date, immediately prior to the consummation of the
Business Combination, MOTV changed its jurisdiction of incorporation from the Cayman Islands to the State of Delaware and changed its corporate name to
"Forge Global Holdings, Inc." (the “Domestication”). On the Closing Date, Merger Sub merged with and into Legacy Forge (the "Merger"), with Legacy Forge
surviving the Merger as a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (together with the Merger, the Domestication, and the other transactions
contemplated by the Merger Agreement, the “Business Combination™).

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization with Legacy Forge being the accounting acquirer and MOTYV as the acquired company for
accounting purposes. Accordingly, all historical financial information presented in the consolidated financial statements represents the accounts of Legacy
Forge and its wholly owned subsidiaries as if Legacy Forge is the predecessor to the Company. The shares and net loss per common share prior to the Merger
have been retroactively restated as shares reflecting the exchange ratio (the "Exchange Ratio") as established by the Merger Agreement (each outstanding share
of Legacy Forge Class A common stock was exchanged for 3.122931 shares of the Company’s common stock, including all shares of Legacy Forge preferred
stock, which were converted to shares of Legacy Forge's Class A common stock immediately prior to the Merger). See Note 3, "Recapitalization" for additional
information.

Forge Europe GmbH

In September 2022, the Company and Deutsche Borse Aktiengesellschaft (“DBAG,” a German company and together with the Company, the
“Investors”) formed an entity, Forge Europe GmbH (‘“Forge Europe”), to further expand the Company’s business in the European market. Upon formation, the
Investors contributed to Forge Europe an aggregate cash amount of $14.1 million (the “Cash Consideration”) and certain of the Company’s intangible assets
(the “Noncash Consideration”). $4.6 million of the Cash Consideration was contributed by the Company and $9.5 million was contributed by DBAG. The
Company has a majority ownership interest in Forge Europe and accounts for Forge Europe as a fully consolidated subsidiary. The remaining interest, held by
DBAG (a related party of the Company), is reported as a noncontrolling interest in the consolidated financial statements.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, and its subsidiaries and have been prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

In the normal course of business, the Company has transactions with various investment entities. In certain instances, the Company provides
investment advisory services to pooled investment vehicles (each, an “Investment Fund”). The Company does not have discretion to make any investment,
except for the specific investment for which an Investment Fund was formed. The Company performs an assessment to determine (a) whether the Company’s
investments or other interests will absorb portions of a variable interest entity’s expected losses or receive portions of the entity’s expected residual returns and
(b) whether the Company’s involvement, through holding interests directly or indirectly in the entity would give it a controlling financial interest. The
Company consolidates entities in which it, directly or indirectly, is determined to have a controlling financial interest. Consolidation conclusions are reviewed
quarterly to identify whether any reconsideration events have occurred.

Segment Information

The Company operates as a single operating segment and reportable segment. The Company’s chief operating decision maker is its Chief Executive
Officer, who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions, assessing financial performance,
allocating resources and evaluating the Company’s financial performance. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, long-lived assets located outside of the United
States were not material.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant management estimates include collectability of accounts receivable, the fair
value of financial assets and liabilities, the carrying value of long-lived assets and goodwill, the fair value of warrants, contingent liabilities, equity awards,
share-based compensation expenses, including the determination of the fair value of the Company’s common stock prior to the Business Combination and the
derived service period for the awards containing market-based vesting conditions, and the valuation of deferred tax assets. These estimates are inherently
subjective in nature and, therefore, actual results may differ from the Company’s estimates and assumptions. The Company bases its estimates on historical
experience and also on assumptions that it believes are reasonable. Further, the Company applies judgment in determining whether, directly or indirectly, it has
a controlling financial interest in the Investment Funds, in order to conclude whether any of the Investment Funds must be consolidated.

The Company believes the estimates and assumptions underlying the consolidated financial statements are reasonable and supportable based on the
information available as of December 31, 2023. These estimates may change as new events occur and additional information is obtained, and related financial
impacts will be recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as soon as those events become known.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. When developing fair value
measurements, the Company maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs. A financial instrument’s classification
within the fair value
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hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurements. Three levels of inputs may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in inactive markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term
of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities,
requiring certain assumptions and significant management judgment or estimation about the inputs a hypothetical market participant would use
to value that asset or liability.

Liabilities Classified as Level 3

The Company classifies certain warrant liabilities within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and measures the liabilities at fair value using a
binomial lattice model in a risk-neutral framework. Variables in the model include expected volatility, the risk-free rate of return, dividend yield, the fair
value of the underlying security and the expected life of the instrument.

The Company classifies certain payment-dependent notes receivable and payment-dependent notes payable within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy and estimates fair values of payment-dependent notes receivable and payment-dependent notes payable utilizing completed transactions made
through the Company’s platform for the relevant private securities as well as mutual fund valuations of private companies as relevant data inputs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of bank deposit accounts and investments in certain money market mutual funds.

Restricted Cash

The Company classifies all cash and cash equivalents that are not available for immediate or general business use as restricted in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. This includes amounts set aside for restrictions of specific agreements. As of December 31, 2022, restricted cash is comprised of
cash held for regulatory purposes for the trust and brokerage-related activities. As of December 31, 2023, restricted cash is comprised of cash held for
regulatory purposes for the trust-related activities.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable consist of amounts billed and currently due from customers, which are subject to collection risk. Under Accounting Standards
Update ("ASU") 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments we estimate our allowance for credit losses using an
aging method, disaggregated based on major revenue stream categories as well as other unique revenue stream factors. The allowance for credit losses is
maintained at a level that we believe to be sufficient to absorb probable losses over the expected life in our accounts receivable portfolio. The allowance is
based on several factors, including continuous assessments of risk characteristics, specific customer events that may impact its ability to meet its financial
obligations, and other reasonable and supportable economic characteristics. Accounts receivable are written-off against the allowance for credit losses when
collection efforts cease. The total allowance for credit losses netted against account receivables in the consolidated balance sheets was $1.1 million and $0.9
million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

65




Table of Contents

Concentration of Credit Risks

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk primarily comprise cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash, term deposits, payment-dependent notes receivable, and accounts receivable. Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash may, at times, exceed amounts
insured by the FDIC and the Securities Investor Protection Corporation, respectively. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit
standing of these financial institutions to limit the amount of credit exposure. The Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash and cash
equivalents to date.

The Company’s exposure to credit risk associated with its contracts with holders of private company equity (“sellers”) and investors (“buyers”) related
to the transfer of private securities is measured on an individual counterparty basis. Concentrations of credit risk can be affected by changes in political,
industry or economic factors. To reduce the potential for risk concentration, the Company’s exposure is monitored in light of changing counterparty and market
conditions. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have any material concentrations of credit risk outside the ordinary course of business.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, no customers accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s accounts receivable. No customer accounted for
more than 10% of total revenue, less transaction-based expenses, for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Internal-use Software and Equipment, Net

The Company capitalizes certain costs related to software developed for its internal-use. The costs capitalized include development of new software
features and functionality and incremental costs related to significant improvement of existing software. Development costs incurred during the preliminary or
maintenance project stages are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred during the application development stage are capitalized and amortized using the straight-
line method over the useful life of the software, which is typically three years, unless factors indicate a shorter useful life. Amortization begins only when the
software becomes ready for its intended use. Costs incurred after the project is substantially completed and is ready for its intended purpose, such as
maintenance and training costs, are expensed as incurred, unless related to significantly increasing the functionality of existing software.

Property and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. When property and equipment are retired or
otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the consolidated balance sheets, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in
the consolidated statements of operations in the period realized.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company’s long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the
asset may not be recoverable. The Company also evaluates the period of depreciation and amortization of long-lived assets to determine whether events or
circumstances warrant revised estimates of useful lives. When indicators of impairment are present, the Company determines the recoverability of its long-
lived assets by comparing the carrying value of its long-lived assets to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets and their
eventual disposition. If the estimated future undiscounted cash flows demonstrate the long-lived assets are not recoverable, an impairment loss would be
calculated based on the excess of the carrying amounts of the long-lived assets over their fair value.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, Net

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate fair value of the consideration transferred in a business combination over the fair value of the assets
acquired, net of liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment annually on October 1, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate the goodwill may be impaired. These events or circumstances could include a significant change in the business climate, regulatory
environment, established business plans, operating performance indicators, or competition. Potential impairment indicators may also include, but are
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not limited to, (i) the results of the Company’s most recent annual or interim impairment testing, (ii) downward revisions to internal forecasts, (iii) declines in
the Company’s market capitalization below its book value, and the magnitude and duration of those declines, (iv) a reorganization resulting in a change to the
Company’s operating segments, and (v) other macroeconomic factors, such as increases in interest rates that may affect the weighted average cost of capital or
volatility in the equity and debt markets. No impairment charges were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Acquired intangible assets also consist of identifiable intangible assets, primarily software technology, launched IPR&D asset, website, trade name
and customer relationships, resulting from business acquisitions. Finite-lived intangible assets are recorded at fair value on the date of acquisition and are
amortized over their estimated useful lives. The Company bases the useful lives and related amortization expense on its estimate of the period that the assets
will generate revenues or otherwise be used.

Leases

The Company categorizes leases at their inception or upon modification, if applicable. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company only has
operating leases. For operating leases, the Company recognizes rent and occupancy on a straight-line basis, commencing on the date at which the property
becomes available for the Company's use. For leases with a term greater than 12 months, the Company records the related right-of-use assets and operating
lease liabilities at the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The Company does not separate lease and non-lease components of contracts for real
estate property leases. Variable lease payments for common area maintenance, property taxes and other operating expenses are not included in the measurement
of ROU assets and lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred.

The rates implicit on the Company’s leases are not readily determinable. Therefore, the Company estimates its incremental borrowing rate to discount
the lease payments based on information available at lease commencement. The Company determines its incremental borrowing rate based on the rate of
interest it would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis with an equal lease payment amount, over a similar term, and in a similar economic
environment.

The Company evaluates its subleases in which it is the sublessor to determine whether it is relieved of the primary obligation under the original lease.
If it remains the primary obligor, the Company continues to account for the original lease as it did before the commencement of the sublease and records the
sublease income based on the contract terms in other income in the consolidated statements of operations.

Payment-Dependent Notes

Payment-dependent notes receivable and payment-dependent notes payable represent financial instruments that are presented at fair value in the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 825, Fair Value Option for Financial Instruments. The
Company enters into separate contracts with equity holders of private companies’ shares (“sellers”) and investors (“buyers”) that enable the transfer of private
securities upon a specified event such as an initial public offering, merger, or acquisition involving the underlying company. The Company serves as an
intermediary counterparty to both the buyer and the seller and earns transaction fee revenue by facilitating the execution of the transaction.

Contracts with buyers require the Company to facilitate the transfer of a fixed number of shares of the private securities from sellers upon occurrence
of a specified event. Buyers are required to pay the selling price for shares purchased (“settlement amounts™) and transaction fee defined in the contracts into a
distribution or escrow account upon notice by the Company.

Contracts with sellers require sellers to transfer the same amount and class of shares referenced in the contract between the Company and the
corresponding buyers upon the occurrence of a specified event.

When settlement amounts have been determined, and the price and transaction fees are paid by the buyer, payment-dependent notes receivable are
recorded for the securities due from the sellers, and payment- dependent notes payable are recorded for the securities owed to the buyers. Amounts recorded at
period-end for payment-dependent notes receivable represent the fair value of securities receivable from sellers, for which the securities settlement event has
not occurred.

67



Table of Contents

Amounts recorded at period-end for payment-dependent notes payable represent the fair value of securities not yet delivered to the buyer. Changes in fair value
of payment-dependent notes receivable and payment-dependent notes payable are recorded in other expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Warrant Liabilities

The Company recognizes certain warrant instruments as derivative liabilities in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. See Notes 3
"Recapitalization", 4 "Fair Value Measurements", and 11 "Warrants" for additional information. Accordingly, the Company recognizes the warrant instruments
as liabilities at fair value and adjusts the carrying value of the instruments to fair value at each reporting period until they are redeemed, exchanged, expired or
exercised. The Company will continue to adjust the warrant liability for changes in the fair value until the earlier of a) the exercise, exchange or expiration of
the warrants or b) the redemption of the warrants, at which time the warrants will be reclassified to additional paid-in-capital.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue from fees charged for the trading of private shares through its platform, and fees for account and asset management
provided to customers. The Company disaggregates revenue by service type, as management believes that this level of disaggregation best depicts how the
nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are impacted by economic factors. The Company recognizes revenue pursuant to ASC 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The amount of revenue recognized reflects the consideration that the Company expects to receive in exchange for
services. To achieve the core principle of this standard, the Company applied the following five steps:

1. Identification of the contract, or contracts, with the customer;

2. Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

3. Determination of the transaction price;

4. Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

5. Recognition of the revenue when, or as, a performance obligation is satisfied.
Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Company enters into contracts with customers that can include various services, which are capable of being distinct and accounted for as separate
performance obligations. When applicable, an allocation of the transaction fees to the performance obligations or to the distinct goods or services that form part
of a single performance obligation will depend on the individual facts and circumstances of the contract.

All of the Company’s revenues are from contracts with customers. The Company is the principal in its contracts, with the exception of cash
administration fees, in which the Company acts as an agent and records revenue from fees earned related to cash balances in customers’ custodial accounts.
Contract assets represent amounts for which the Company has recognized revenue for contracts that have not yet been invoiced to our customers. The
Company does not have any contract assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue, which relates to amounts
invoiced in advance of performance under a revenue contract. The total contract liabilities of $0.4 million and $0.4 million as of December 31, 2023, and 2022,
respectively, related to advance billings for data subscriptions, recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance
sheets. The Company recognized $0.4 million of revenue during the year ended December 31, 2023 that was included in deferred revenue recorded in accrued
expenses and other current liabilities at December 31, 2022. Each of our significant performance obligations and our application of ASC 606 to our revenue
arrangements are discussed in further detail below:

Marketplace revenue (previously called placement fee revenue) — The Company maintains a platform which generates revenue through its Forge
Markets offering with volume-based fees sourced from institutions, individual investors and private equity holders. The Company earns agency marketplace
revenue in non-underwritten transactions, such as private placements of equity securities. The Company enters into arrangements with individual accredited
customers or Investment
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Funds to execute private placements in the secondary market. Marketplace revenue is charged by the Company for meeting the point-in-time performance
obligation of executing a private placement on its platform. Placement fee rates are individually negotiated for each transaction and vary depending on the
specific facts and circumstance of each agreement. These fees are event-driven and invoiced upon the closing of the transaction outlined in each agreement.
These fees may be expressed as a dollar amount per share, a flat dollar amount, or a percentage of the gross transaction proceeds. The Company will receive
marketplace revenue on these transactions and believes that its trade execution performance obligation is completed upon the placement and consummation of
a transaction and, as such, revenue is earned on the transaction date with no further obligation to the customer at that time. The Company acts as a principal in
the contract and recognizes marketplace revenue upon execution of a trade.

Custodial Administration Fees — The Company generates revenues from account maintenance fees, asset fees, transaction fees, and cash
administration fees. The cash administration fees are based on prevailing interest rates and customer cash balances, and currently make up the majority of
custodial administration fee revenue. The Company charges administration fees for its services in maintaining custodial accounts, including asset-based fees,
which are determined by the number and types of assets in these accounts. Cash administration fees are based on cash balances within the custodial accounts
and are assessed on the last day of the month. The Company also earns fees for opening and terminating accounts, and facilitating transactions, which are
assessed at the point of transaction. Account and asset fees are assessed on the first day of the calendar quarter. Revenues from custodial administration fees are
recognized either over time as underlying performance obligations are met and day-to-day maintenance activities are performed for custodial accounts, or at a
point in time upon completion of transactions requested by custodial account holders.

Practical Expedients

In certain arrangements, the Company receives payment from a customer either before or after the performance obligation has been satisfied; however,
the contracts do not contain a significant financing component. The Company has applied the practical expedient in ASC 606 and excludes information about
a) remaining performance obligations that have an original expected duration of one year or less and b) transaction price allocated to remaining performance
obligations if the variable consideration is allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied performance obligation.

Transaction-Based Expenses

Transaction-based expenses represent the fees incurred to support placement activities. These include, but are not limited to, third-party broker fees
and transfer fees related to placement provided to brokerage customers to facilitate transactions and to a lesser extent those for fund management, and fund
settlement expenses that relate to services provided to the Investment Funds.

Revenue by Geographic Location

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, revenue outside of the United States (including U.S. territories), based on customer billing
address, was $4.7 million, $6.9 million, and $20.0 million, respectively.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense for all share-based awards, primarily stock options, restricted stock awards ("RSAs"),
and restricted stock units ("RSUs"), based on the grant date fair value of the awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the awards,
which is generally the award's vesting term. The fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the fair value of
RSAs and RSUs is based on the closing price of the Company's common stock on the grant date. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.

For all awards with a market-based conditions and certain awards with performance-based conditions, the Company uses a Monte Carlo simulation to
determine the fair value and the derived service period at the grant date and recognizes
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share-based compensation expense using an accelerated attribution method when it becomes probable that the performance-based condition will be met.
Advertising and Market Development

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and include advertising and trade shows. Advertising costs amounted to $2.3 million, $3.3 million, and
$2.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, and are included in advertising and market development in the consolidated
statements of operations.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
temporary differences between the basis used for financial reporting and income tax reporting purposes. Deferred income taxes are provided based on the
enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect at the time such temporary differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided for deferred
tax assets if it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize those tax assets through future operations.

The Company utilizes a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including
resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount which is more likely than not of
being realized and effectively settled. The Company considers many factors when evaluating and estimating the Company’s tax positions and tax benefits,
which may require periodic adjustments, and which may not accurately reflect actual outcomes. The Company recognizes interest and penalties on
unrecognized tax benefits as a component of provision for income taxes in the consolidated statements of operations.

Foreign Currency

The Company's reporting and functional currency is the U.S. dollar ("USD"). For financial reporting purposes, the Company translates assets and
liabilities of its non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries into U.S. dollars using exchange rates on the balance sheet date, except for non-monetary
assets and liabilities, which are measured at historical exchange rates. Revenue and expenses are translated using the average exchange rate for the period.
Cumulative translation gains and losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive income or loss consists of Net income or loss and Other comprehensive income or loss. The Company's Other comprehensive income
or loss is comprised of foreign currency translation gains and losses and changes in equity during a period from noncontrolling interests excluding those
resulting from contributions and distributions to owners. Accumulated comprehensive loss, as presented in the consolidated financial statements consists of
changes in unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency translation.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

Prior to the Business Combination, the Company computed net loss per share using the two-class method required for participating securities. The
two-class method required income attributable to common stockholders for the period to be allocated between common stock and participating securities based
upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income for the period had been distributed. All of the Company's participating securities, in the form
of convertible preferred stock, were converted into common stock of the Company upon consummation of the Business Combination. The prior holders of
convertible preferred stock had dividend rights in the event of a declaration of a dividend for shares of common stock. However, the participating securities did
not contractually require the holders of such securities to participate in the Company’s losses. Accordingly, net loss for the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022, and 2021 was only allocated to the Company’s common stockholders.
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The Company’s basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of
shares of common stock outstanding for the period, without consideration of potentially dilutive securities. The diluted net loss per share is calculated by giving
effect to all potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period using the treasury share method or the if-converted method based on the nature of such
securities. Diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share in periods when the effects of potentially dilutive shares are anti-dilutive.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-05 Business Combinations - Joint Venture Formations (“ASU 2023-05"), which addresses the accounting
for contributions made to a joint venture. ASU 2023-05 requires joint ventures to measure all assets and liabilities upon formation at fair value. This guidance
will be applied prospectively to all joint venture formations with a formation date on or after January 1, 2025. The Company is currently assessing the impact
of the requirements on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07 Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU
2023-07") to expand reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The amendments
in the ASU require that a public entity disclose, on an annual and interim basis, significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to an entity's chief
operating decision maker (“CODM?”), a description of other segment items by reportable segment, and any additional measures of a segment's profit or loss
used by the CODM when deciding how to allocate resources. ASU 2023-07 applies to entities with a single reportable segment. Annual disclosures are required
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. Interim disclosures are required for periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024.
Retrospective application is required for all prior periods presented with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the
requirements on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09 Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (“ASU 2023-09”) to update
income tax disclosure requirements primarily by requiring specific categories and greater disaggregation within the rate reconciliation and disaggregation of
income taxes paid by jurisdiction. The amendments in the ASU also remove disclosures related to certain unrecognized tax benefits and deferred taxes. ASU
2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The amendments may be applied prospectively or retrospectively with early adoption
permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the requirements on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

There have been no other recent accounting pronouncements, changes in accounting pronouncements or recently adopted accounting guidance during
the year ended December 31, 2023 that are of significance or potential significance to us.

3. Recapitalization

As discussed in Note 1, "Organization and Description of Business," on the Closing Date, Legacy Forge completed the acquisition of MOTV and
acquired 100% of MOTV’s shares and Legacy Forge received gross proceeds of $216.4 million, which included $7.9 million in proceeds from MOTV's trust
and bank accounts, net of redemptions, $68.5 million in proceeds from the PIPE Investment (as defined below), and $140.0 million in proceeds from the A&R
FPA (as defined below). The Company recorded $61.8 million of transaction costs, which consisted of legal, accounting, and other professional services
directly related to the Merger, of which $58.7 million was related to common stock issued during the Merger and was recorded as a reduction to additional
paid-in capital. The remaining $3.1 million was related to issuance of Public and Private Placement Warrants, including warrants issued to A&R FPA investors,
and was expensed immediately upon consummation of the Merger as acquisition-related transaction cost in the consolidated statements of operations. The cash
outflows related to these costs were presented as financing activities in the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows. Deferred offering costs were
offset against proceeds upon accounting for the consummation of the Merger. In addition, upon closing of the Merger, certain executives received a one-time
transaction bonus for an aggregate amount of $17.7 million, of which $12.2 million was to be paid to the executives in cash, and the remaining amount $5.5
million was offset against outstanding promissory notes that were due from these executives as of the Closing Date. The transaction bonus was included in
compensation and benefits in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022. See Note 10, "Capitalization" for additional
information.
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On the Closing Date, each holder of MOTV Class A ordinary stock received one share of the Company’s common stock, par value 0.0001, for each
MOTYV Class A ordinary share held prior to the Merger, and each holder of MOTV Class B ordinary stock received one share of the Company’s common stock,
par value 0.0001, for each MOTV Class B ordinary share held prior to the Merger. See Note 10, "Capitalization", and Note 11, "Warrants", for additional
details of the Company’s stockholders’ equity prior to and subsequent to the Merger.

All equity awards of Legacy Forge were assumed by the Company and converted into comparable equity awards that are settled or exercisable for
shares of the Company’s common stock. As a result, each outstanding stock option of Legacy Forge was converted into an option to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock based on the Exchange Ratio and each outstanding warrant of Legacy Forge was converted into a warrant to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock based on the Exchange Ratio.

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization with Legacy Forge as the accounting acquirer and MOTYV as the acquired company for
accounting purposes. Legacy Forge was determined to be the accounting acquirer since Legacy Forge's former management made up the majority of the
Company's management team, Legacy Forge’s former management nominated or represented a majority of the Company’s board of directors, and Legacy
Forge represented the majority of the continuing operations of the Company. Accordingly, all historical financial information presented in these consolidated
financial statements represents the accounts of Legacy Forge and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Net assets were stated at historical cost consistent with the
treatment of the transaction as a reverse recapitalization of Legacy Forge.

Each public and private warrant of MOTYV that was unexercised at the time of the Merger was assumed by the Company and represents the right to
purchase one share of the Company’s common stock upon exercise of such warrant.

PIPE Investment

On March 21, 2022, concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, MOTYV entered into subscription agreements with certain investors, to
which such investors collectively subscribed for an aggregate of 6,850,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at $10.00 per share for aggregate gross
proceeds of $68.5 million (the “PIPE Investment”). The PIPE Investment was consummated concurrently with the closing of the Merger.

Amended and Restated Forward Purchase Agreement

On March 21, 2022, concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, certain MOTV fund vehicles managed by an affiliate of MOTV
purchased 14,000,000 units at $10.00 per unit, for an aggregate purchase price of $140.0 million in a private placement that closed substantially concurrently
with the closing of the Business Combination under the Amended and Restated Forward Purchase Agreement (the “A&R FPA”). Each unit consists of one
share of the Company’s common stock and one-third of one Public Warrant. The A&R FPA was consummated concurrently with the closing of the Merger.

4. Fair Value Measurements

Financial instruments consist of cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, term deposits, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, payment-
dependent notes receivable, payment-dependent notes payable, and warrant liabilities. Cash equivalents, payment-dependent notes receivable, payment-
dependent notes payable, term deposits, and warrant liabilities are stated at fair value on a recurring basis. Restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, and accrued liabilities are stated at their carrying value, which approximates fair value due to the short time these financial instruments are held to the
expected receipt or payment date.
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The following tables present the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 130,132 — $ — 8 130,132

Term deposits (less than 90 days) — 2,221 — 2,221
Payment-dependent notes receivable, non-current — — 5,593 5,593
Term deposits(V® — 7,694 — 7,694
Total financial assets $ 130,132 9915 $ 5,593 $ 145,640
Payment-dependent notes payable, non-current $ — — 3 5593 $ 5,593
December 2023 warrants® — 4,889 — 4,889
Private placement warrants — — 4,727 4,727
Total financial liabilities $ — 4,889 $ 10,320 $ 15,209

(1) Included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

(2) Includes $1.0 million term deposits required to fulfill the Company's obligations in connection with real estate lease agreements.

(3) On December 18, 2023, the then outstanding Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were modified and replaced with the December 2023 Warrants. See Note 8, "Commitments and Contingencies" and

Note 11, "Warrants" for additional information.

As of December 31, 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 149,139 — — § 149,139
Payment-dependent notes receivable, non-current — — 7,371 7,371
Total financial assets $ 149,139 — §$ 7371 § 156,510
Payment-dependent notes payable, non-current — — 7,371 7,371
Junior preferred warrant liabilities — — 384 384
Private placement warrants — — 222 222

Total financial liabilities $ — — § 7,977 $ 7,977

The Company classifies money market funds within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because the Company values these investments using quoted
market prices. The Company classifies term deposits as level 2 of the fair value hierarchy because the Company values these investments using observable

market inputs without quoted market prices.

Payment-Dependent Notes Receivable and Payment-Dependent Notes Payable

The Company classifies payment-dependent notes receivable and payment-dependent notes payable within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy if the
underlying securities are equity of private companies whose regular financial and nonfinancial information is generally not available other than when it is

publicly disclosed, or significant unobservable inputs are used to estimate fair value.
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The Company estimates fair values of payment-dependent notes receivable and payment-dependent notes payable utilizing completed transactions
made through the Company’s platform for the relevant private securities as well as mutual fund valuations of private companies as relevant data inputs.

Legacy Forge Warrant Liabilities

The Company's Legacy Forge warrant liabilities consisted of warrants to purchase Series B-1 preferred stock or subsequent round stock (the "Series
B-1 Preferred Stock Warrants,") and Junior Preferred Stock Warrants (as defined below). The Company used a binomial lattice model in a risk-neutral
framework to value Legacy Forge warrant liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2022 and a Black-Scholes option-pricing model to value the December
2023 Warrants for the year-end December 31, 2023. See Note 11, "Warrants", for additional information.

Subsequent to the Merger, the Series B-1 Preferred Stock Warrants and Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were converted to common stock warrants. As a
result, the Series B-1 Preferred Stock Warrants were remeasured at fair value prior to the conversion resulting in a change in fair value of $0.1 million for the
year ended December, 31, 2022, which was recognized as a component of change in fair value of warrant liabilities within the consolidated statements of
operations, and subsequently settled in additional paid-in capital as a result of the conversion to equity-classified common stock warrants.

The Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were remeasured at fair value prior to the conversion to common stock warrants, which did not result in a change
in fair value as of the conversion date. These warrants were liability-classified after the conversion into the common stock warrants as the Company's
obligation with respect to these warrants is capped at a fixed monetary amount and may be settled in a variable number of common shares.

On December 18, 2023, the then outstanding Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were modified and replaced with the "December 2023 Warrants". The
December 2023 Warrants were issued at an exercise price of $3.9760 per share, with a cap of extended value of $5.0 million when net exercised, and without a
cap when cash exercised. The Company calculated the fair value of the December 2023 Warrants using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company
recorded changes in the fair value of the December 2023 Warrants of $2.0 million as change in fair value of warrant liabilities in the Company's consolidated
statements of operations during the year ended December 31, 2023. Additionally, the Company recorded changes in fair value of the December 2023 Warrants
attributable to the modification of $2.5 million as change in fair value of contingent liabilities within general and administrative expense in the Company's
consolidated statements of operations during the year ended December 31, 2023. Under a net settlement of the December 2023 Warrants the number of shares
issued would be variable when the fair value of the underlying shares exceeds a certain price. As a result, the Company concluded the warrants are not indexed
to the Company's stock and remain liability-classified. See Note 8, "Commitments and Contingencies" and Note 11, "Warrants" for additional information. For
the year-ended December 31, 2022 the Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were valued using a binomial lattice model in a risk-neutral framework.

The Company estimated the fair value of the Junior Preferred Stock Warrants (! as of December 31, 2022, using the following key assumptions:
As of December 31,

2022
Fair value of underlying securities $ 1.73
Expected term (years) 2.9
Expected volatility 46.1 %
Risk-free interest rate 42 %
Expected dividend yield —%
Fair value per warrant $ 0.15

(D On December 18, 2023, the then outstanding Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were modified and replaced with the December 2023 Warrants and classified as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
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The Company recorded changes in the fair value of the December 2023 Warrants and Junior Preferred Stock Warrant liability as follows (in
thousands):

For the years ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Balance, January 1 $ 384 $ 5,000 $ 1,528
Change in fair value of warrant liability() 1,960 (3,829) 3,472
Change in fair value of contingent liability'® 2,545 — —
Issuance of common stock on warrant exercise — (787) —
Balance, December 31 $ 4889 $ 384 § 5,000

(1) The change in fair value of warrant liability is recorded in the consolidated statement of operations within Change in fair value of warrant liabilities.
(2) The change in fair value of contingent liability in connection with the modification of the Junior Preferred Stock Warrants to the December 2023 Warrants is recorded in the consolidated statement
of operations within General and administrative expense.

Private Placement Warrants

The Company classifies the Private Placement Warrants within Level 3 due to the valuation technique used to estimate fair value. To estimate the fair
value of Private Placement Warrants, the Company used a binomial lattice model in a risk-neutral framework. The Private Placement Warrant liabilities were
remeasured at fair value as of December 31, 2023 which resulted in a $4.5 million loss recognized as a component of change in fair value of warrant liabilities
within the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023. The significant assumptions used in the analysis were as follows for
the years as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 respectively:

As of December 31,
2023 2022
Fair value of underlying securities $ 343 $ 1.73
Expected term (years) 3.2 5.0
Expected volatility 117.0 % 44.6 %
Risk-free interest rate 4.0 % 4.1 %
Expected dividend yield —% —%
Fair value per warrant $ 0.64 $ 0.03

The Company recorded changes in the fair value of the liability related to the Private Placement Warrant as of December 31, 2023, and 2022,
respectively in the following amounts (in thousands):

For the years ended December 31,

2023 2022
Balance, January 1 $ 222 $ —
Assumption of Private Placement Warrants — 4,875
Change in fair value of warrant liability" 4,505 (4,653)
Issuance of common stock on warrant exercise — —
Balance, December 31 $ 4,727 § 222
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(1) The change in fair value of warrant liability is recorded in the consolidated statement of operations within Change in fair value of warrant liabilities.

Transfers Into and Out of Level 3

The Company transfers financial instruments out of Level 3 on the date when underlying input parameters are readily observable from existing market
quotes. The December 2023 Warrants were transferred from Level 3 to Level 2 upon modification as these warrants are valued using a Black-Scholes Option
pricing model using observable market inputs. For payment-dependent notes payable and receivable, transfers from Level 3 to Level 1 generally relate to a
company going public and listing on a national securities exchange. During the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no transfers of payment-dependent
notes payable and receivable into or out of Level 3. During the year ended December 31, 2022 the transfer of Private Placement Warrants from Level 2 to
Level 3 was due to the redemption and exercises of the Public Warrants which resulted in the lack of an identical instrument with a quoted price. See Note 11,
"Warrants," for additional information.

The following tables provide reconciliation for all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Total Level 3 Financial Total Level 3 Financial
Assets Liabilities
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 7,371 $ 7,977
Change in fair value of payment-dependent notes receivable (1,778) —
Change in fair value of Private Placement Warrants — 4,505
Change in fair value of payment-dependent notes payable — (1,778)
Change in fair value of December 2023 Warrants(" — 721
Transfer of December 2023 Warrants out of Level 3 to Level 22 — (1,105)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 5,593 $ 10,320
Total Level 3 Financial Total Level 3 Financial
Assets Liabilities
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 13,453 $ 21,297
Change in fair value of payment-dependent notes receivable (6,082) —
Transfer of Private Placement Warrants out of Level 2 to Level 3 — 20,461
Change in fair value of Series B-1 Preferred Stock Warrant liability — 106
Exercise of Junior Preferred Stock Warrants — (653)
Settlement of Series B-1 Preferred Stock Warrant Liability via conversion to equity-classified common — (2,950)
stock warrants
Change in fair value of Junior Preferred Stock Warrants — (3,963)
Change in fair value of payment-dependent notes payable — (6,082)
Change in fair value of Private Placement Warrants — (20,239)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 7,371 $ 7,977

(1) On December 18, 2023, the then outstanding Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were modified and replaced with the December 2023 Warrants. See Note 8, "Commitments and
Contingencies" and Note 11 "Warrants," for additional information.

(2) Transfers into/out of the Level 3 classification are reflected at beginning-of-reporting period fair values in which the instrument transferred into or out of Level 3. The
December 2023 Warrants transferred out of Level 3 classification on December 18, 2023. The Private Placement Warrants transferred into Level 3 classification on July 11,
2022.
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5. Consolidated Other Balance Sheet Components
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

Term deposits

Prepaid insurance

Prepaid software

Other prepaid expenses

Other current assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Internal-Use Software, Property and Equipment, Net

Internal-use software and property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

Capitalized internal-use software

Computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total

As of December 31,
2023 2022
7,694 $ —
1,084 3,250
1,484 1,406
801 1,546
2,190 2,177
13,253 § 8,379
As of December 31,
2023 2022
9,000 $ 9,605
125 66
485 426
866 387
10,476 $ 10,484
(5,284) (2,485)
5,192 $ 7,999

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company recorded depreciation expense related to property and equipment amounting to
$0.2 million, $0.2 million, and $0.4 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 the Company also recorded impairment loss
of $0.0 million, $0.2 million, and $0.0 million, respectively, primarily related to leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures due to the impairment of a
right-of-use asset following a sublease included in general and administrative expense within the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 7, "Leases,"

for additional information.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company recorded amortization expense on capitalized internal-use software placed in
service of $2.8 million, $1.8 million, and $0.2 million, respectively. The Company recorded $0.6 million, $0.0 million and $0.0 million of impairment loss for
developed software that was put into service but will no longer be used, included in general and administrative expense within the consolidated statements of

operations, for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
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Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

Accrued professional services

Accrued taxes and deferred tax liabilities
Common stock unvested liability

Other current liabilities

Total

78

As of December 31,
2023 2022
3,166 $ 1,299
1,479 1,006
223 589
3,993 3,527
8,861 $ 6,421
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6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net

The components of goodwill, intangible assets and accumulated amortization are as follows (in thousands):

Goodwill:
Goodwill from acquisitions
Finite-lived intangible assets:
Developed technology
Customer relationships
Launched IPR&D assets
Total finite-lived intangible assets
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Trade name - website domain
Total infinite-lived intangible assets
Total goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill:

Goodwill from acquisitions
Finite-lived intangible assets:

Developed technology

Customer relationships

Trade name

Launched IPR&D assets
Total finite-lived intangible assets
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:

Trade name - website domain
Total infinite-lived intangible assets
Total goodwill and intangible assets

As of December 31, 2023

Weighted Average
Remaining Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Amortization Period Amount Amortization Amount
Indefinite $ 120,948 § — 120,948
0.8 years 13,200 (10,820) 2,380
5.4 years 7,507 (3,669) 3,838
2.7 years 960 431) 529
21,667 (14,920) 6,747
Indefinite 2,224 — 2,224
2,224 — 2,224
$ 144,839 $ (14,920) $ 129,919
As of December 31, 2022
Weighted Average
Remaining Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Amortization Period Amount Amortization Amount

Indefinite $ 120,948 $ — 3 120,948
1.8 years 13,200 (8,035) 5,165
6.1 years 7,507 (2,677) 4,830
0.0 years 320 (320) —
3.7 years 960 (240) 720
21,987 (11,272) 10,715
Indefinite 2,224 — 2,224
2,224 — 2,224
$ 145,159 $ (11,272) $ 133,887

Amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $4.0 million, $4.0 million,
and $4.8 million, respectively, was included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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The table below presents estimated future amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Amount
2024 $ 3,462
2025 802
2026 754
2027 610
2028 610
Thereafter 509
Total $ 6,747

7. Leases
The Company leases real estate for office space under operating leases.

As of December 31, 2023, the remaining lease terms varied from 0.75 years to 2.00 years. For one of its leases, the Company has an option to extend
the lease term for a period of 3 years. This renewal option is not considered in the remaining lease term because it is not reasonably certain that the Company
will exercise such option.

Operating lease expense, included in rent and occupancy in the consolidated statements of operations, were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Operating lease expense $ 3,651 $ 4,182 $ 3,023
Variable lease expense 924 598 489
Total operating lease expenses ! $ 4575 $ 4780 $ 3,512
Sublease income $ 784 $ 639 $ 175

(1) Operating lease expense is included in rent and occupancy in the consolidated statements of operations.
(2) Sublease income is included in other income (expenses), net in the consolidated statements of operations.

The table below presents additional information related to the Company’s operating leases (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 4,308 $ 5,706
Operating lease liabilities, current $ 2,516 $ 3,896
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent $ 2,707 $ 3,541
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years) 1.9 2.6
Weighted-average discount rate 7.0 % 6.0 %
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Future undiscounted lease payments under operating leases as of December 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

Lease Payment

Obligation Sublease Income Net Lease Obligation
2024 $ 2,810 § (360) $ 2,450
2025 2,811 (210) 2,601
Total undiscounted lease payments $ 5,621 $ (570) $ 5,051
Less: imputed interest (398)
Present value of future lease payments 5,223
Less: operating lease liabilities, current 2,516
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent $ 2,707

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has entered into a lease which has not yet commenced and is therefore not part of the right-of-use asset and
liability. This lease has undiscounted future payments of $5.5 million and will commence when the Company obtains possession of the underlying leased asset.
Commencement date for this lease is March 8, 2024.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company ceased using one of its leased office spaces and made a decision to sublease this space to a
third party. The sublease agreement was signed in April 2022. Based on the terms of the sublease agreement, the Company determined that the right-of-use
asset related to this office space was impaired, and recorded an impairment loss of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 in rent and occupancy in
the consolidated statements of operations.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to claims and lawsuits in the ordinary course of business, including arbitration, class actions and other litigation, some of
which include claims for substantial or unspecified damages. The Company is also the subject of inquiries, investigations, and proceedings by regulatory and
other governmental agencies. The Company reviews its lawsuits, regulatory inquiries and other legal proceedings on an ongoing basis and provides disclosures
and records loss contingencies in accordance with the loss contingencies accounting guidance. The Company establishes an accrual for losses at management’s
best estimate when the Company assesses that it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. If no amount
within the range is considered a better estimate than any other amount, an accrual for losses is recorded based on the bottom amount of the range. The
Company's accrual for probable and estimable loss contingencies was $1.9 million and $0.5 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and is recorded in
accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and expensed in general and administrative expenses in our consolidated
statements of operations. We estimate the range of reasonably possible losses above amounts that have been recorded at $0.1 million to $10.5 million as of
December 31, 2023.

Legal Proceedings

On January 7, 2022, Erika McKiernan, in her capacity as Stockholder Representative for the former stockholders of SharesPost, filed a lawsuit against
the Company in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, asserting claims in connection with the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 10,
2020, by and among the Company, SharesPost, Thanksgiving Merger Sub, Inc., and Erika McKiernan as the Stockholder Representative, as amended on
November 6, 2020 (the "SharesPost Merger Agreement”). In general, the complaint asserted breaches of the SharesPost Merger Agreement and sought
declaratory judgements establishing those breaches. In December 2023, the parties agreed to settle this matter resulting in a cash payment of $0.3 million, the
release of shares of the Company's common stock that had been held in escrow, and modification of the Junior Preferred Stock Warrants. See Note 11,
"Warrants" for more information.
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On March 29, 2023, the Company was named as a defendant in a lawsuit brought by an alleged former warrant holder of the Company, in a case
captioned Alta Partners, LLC v. Forge Global Holdings, Inc., No. 1:23-cv-2647 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. On
June 21, 2023, Plaintiff filed an amended complaint in the action. Plaintiff’s allegations include breaches of the Warrant Agreement dated December 15, 2020,
breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and violation of Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act").
Plaintiff’s complaint seeks, among other things, an award of money damages. On July 12, 2023, the Company filed a partial motion to dismiss in the action. On
March 13, 2024, the court issued an opinion and order in connection with the motion to dismiss dismissing certain of the breach of contract claims, certain of
the Section 11 claims, and the breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claim. The court has set an initial pretrial conference for the parties

for April 11, 2024. The Company disputes Plaintiff’s claims and intends to defend the suit vigorously. Our accrual and range of reasonably possible loss in
excess of such accrual with respect to this matter is included in the amounts referenced above.

The Company is involved in a legacy matter arising prior to the Company’s October 2019 acquisition of IRA Services, Inc. On May 6, 2019, IRA
Services, Inc. was named as a defendant in a matter (see Todd Allen Yancey v. Edwin Blue, et al., case no. 19-civ-0251, as amended) alleging claims including
conversion, breach of oral contract, breach of fiduciary duty, and fraudulent misrepresentation. Trial proceedings in this matter began on March 18, 2024. The
Company believes the claims are without merit. The Company is unable to predict the outcome to resolve this action but any loss in connection with this matter
would first be applied against the escrow.

401(k) Plan

The Company has established a tax-qualified retirement plan under Section 401(k) of the Code for all of its U.S. employees, including executive
officers, who satisfy certain eligibility requirements, including requirements relating to age and length of service. The Company matches 2% of every dollar
contributed to the plan by employees, including executive officers, up to a maximum of $6,600. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021,
the Company recorded 401(k) contribution expense related to the defined contribution plan of $0.9 million, $1.0 million, and $0.5 million, respectively, in
compensation and benefits in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Non-Cancelable Purchase Obligations

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into non-cancelable purchase commitments with various parties mainly for its operating leases,
software products, and services. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had outstanding non-cancelable purchase obligations with a term of 12 months or
longer, excluding operating lease obligations (see Note 7, "Leases," for additional information) as follows (in thousands):

Amount
2024 $ 1,969
2025 1,972
2026 2,222
2027 1,231
Thereafter —
Total $ 7,394
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9. Regulatory

We operate in a highly regulated environment and are subject to capital requirements, which may limit distributions to our company from its
subsidiaries. Forge Securities LLC ("Forge Securities"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is subject to SEC Uniform Net Capital Rule (Rule 15¢3-1)
which requires the maintenance of minimum net capital and requires that the ratio of aggregate indebtedness to net capital, both as defined, shall not exceed 15
to 1. As such, Forge Securities is subject to the minimum net capital requirements promulgated by the SEC and has elected to calculate minimum capital
requirements using the basic method permitted by Rule 15¢3-1. As of December 31, 2023, Forge Securities had net capital of $14.0 million which was $13.6
million in excess of its required net capital of $0.4 million. As of December 31, 2022, Forge Securities had net capital of $12.4 million which was $12.2 million
in excess of its required net capital of $0.3 million.

Forge Trust Co., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is subject to South Dakota state trust regulatory requirements. South Dakota state
legislature 51A-61-19.2 requires public trust companies registered within the state boundaries to pledge funds for the security of the trust creditors. Forge Trust
Co. had $1.1 million and $1.0 million pledged on behalf of trust creditors as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively; the pledges are reported in
restricted cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheet.

83



Table of Contents

10. Capitalization
Pre-Merger Common Stock

Prior to the Merger, Legacy Forge was authorized to issue up to 257,968,554 shares of its capital stock, of which 171,153,360 shares were designated
as Class AA common stock ("Legacy Forge Class AA common stock").

Merger Transaction

On the Closing Date and in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions of the Merger Agreement, each share of Legacy Forge Class AA
common stock, par value $0.00001 per share, was canceled and converted into the right to receive the applicable portion of the merger consideration comprised
of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, based on the Exchange Ratio.

In connection with the Merger, on the Closing Date, the Company amended and restated its certificate of incorporation to authorize 2,100,000,000
shares of capital stock, consisting of (i) 2,000,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share and (ii) 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock. The
holders of common stock have exclusive voting power. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote per share. The Company’s board of directors has the
authority to issue shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to determine the preferences, privileges, and restrictions, including voting rights, of those
shares. Upon the consummation of the Business Combination, the Company’s common stock and warrants began trading on the NYSE under the symbol
“FRGE” and “FRGE WS”, respectively. On July 11, 2022, the remaining Public Warrants were redeemed and delisted from the NYSE (see Note 11,
"Warrants").

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had authorized 2,000,000,000 and 100,000,000 shares of common stock and preferred stock, respectively,
and the Company had 176,899,814 shares of common stock and no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.

Settlement of Nonrecourse Related-Party Promissory Notes

In connection with the Merger, the Company entered into a loan offset agreement with certain executives (the “Loan Offset Agreement”) as a result of
outstanding promissory notes that were due from such executives as of the Closing Date. As a result of the Loan Offset Agreement, the Company agreed to
offset the after-tax value of the transaction bonus that the executives received in connection with the Merger against the entire outstanding balance of the
nonrecourse promissory notes, including any unpaid interest, as of one day immediately prior to the Closing Date. See Note 3, "Recapitalization," for
additional information. The total amount of outstanding promissory notes that were offset against the transaction bonus was $5.5 million, which included $1.3
million related to unvested shares included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The related bonus expense was
recorded as compensation and benefits in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022.

11. Warrants
Warrants to Purchase Series B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock or Subsequent Round Stock

In May 2020, Legacy Forge entered into a Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement with investors pursuant to which it issued certain convertible notes
(the “2020 Convertible Notes”). In connection with the issuance of the 2020 Convertible Notes, the note holders entered into a Note and Warrant Purchase
Agreement for the options to purchase shares based on coverage of 5% of the 2020 Convertible Notes principal amounts (the “May 2020 Warrants”). The note
holders could purchase either (i) the Series B-1 convertible preferred stock of Legacy Forge at Series B-1 price of $3.9760 or (ii) any subsequent round stock of
Legacy Forge at the subsequent round price. The May 2020 Warrants have a five-year contractual life and may be exercised at any time during that period.

In October 2020, Legacy Forge entered into a Warrant to Purchase Shares of Preferred Stock Agreement with investors for the options to purchase a
coverage amount of $3.5 million in shares (the “October 2020 Warrants™). The investors were granted the right to purchase either the Series B-1 convertible
preferred stock of Legacy Forge at Series B-1
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price of $3.9760 or (ii) any subsequent round stock of Legacy Forge at the subsequent round price. The October 2020 Warrants have a ten-year contractual life
and may be exercised at any time during that period.

Prior to the Merger, the May 2020 Warrants and October 2020 Warrants (collectively, the "2020 Warrants") were classified as warrant liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets. Legacy Forge remeasured the 2020 Warrants at each balance sheet date to their fair value. See Note 4, "Fair Value Measurements"
for additional information. Subsequent to the Merger, the 2020 Warrants were converted to Legacy Forge's common stock warrants. As a result, the 2020
Warrants were adjusted to fair value prior to the conversion, and then settled in additional paid-in capital as a result of the conversion to equity-classified
common stock warrants. During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded fair value adjustments of $0.1 million and $2.6 million
for the 2020 Warrants, respectively, in change in fair value of warrant liabilities in the consolidated statements of operations.

Warrants to Purchase Junior Preferred Stock

In November 2020, in connection with the SharesPost acquisition, Legacy Forge issued a total of 3,122,931 warrants (the “Junior Preferred Stock
Warrants”) to purchase shares of Legacy Forge's Junior Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $3.9760 per share, with a cap of extended value of $5.0 million.
The Junior Preferred Stock Warrants have a five-year contractual life and may be exercised at any time during that period.

Prior to the Merger, the warrants were classified as a liability in the consolidated balance sheets, as the Company's obligation with respect to these
warrants was capped at a fixed monetary amount of $5.0 million and could be settled in a variable number of common shares. The Company remeasured the
warrants at each balance sheet date using a hybrid method. See Note 4, "Fair Value Measurements" for additional information. Subsequent to the Merger, the
Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were converted to the Company's common stock warrants. As a result, the Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were adjusted to
fair value prior to conversion and remained classified as a liability.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, 491,785 Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were net exercised in exchange for 123,379 shares of common
stock. The change in fair value of warrant liabilities was recorded through the date of exercise as change in fair value of warrant liabilities within the
consolidated statements of operations. Additionally, the fair value of the warrant liability as of the exercise date of $0.7 million was reclassified to additional
paid-in capital within the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022.

In December 2023, the Company modified a total of 2,631,146 Junior Preferred Stock Warrants (the "December 2023 Warrants"). The December 2023
Warrants were issued at an exercise price of $3.9760 per share, with a cap of extended value of $5.0 million when net exercised, and without a cap when cash
exercised. The December 2023 Warrants remain classified as a liability See Note 8, "Commitments and Contingencies" for additional information.

For the December 2023 Warrants and the Junior Preferred Stock Warrants, The Company recorded a loss of $2.0 million, a gain of $4.0 million and a loss of
$3.5 million as change in fair value of warrant liabilities in the Company's consolidated statements of operations during the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022, and 2021, respectively. Additionally, the Company recorded $2.5 million as change in fair value of contingent liabilities within general and
administrative expense in the Company's consolidated statements of operations during the year ended December 31, 2023 to capture the incremental expense
related to the warrant modification.

Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants

As the accounting acquirer, Legacy Forge was deemed to have assumed 7,386,667 warrants for Class A common stock that were held by Motive
Capital Funds Sponsor, LLC (the “Sponsor”) at an exercise price of $11.50 (the "Private Placement Warrants"), 13,799,940 Class A common stock warrants
held by MOTV's stockholders at an exercise price of $11.50 ("Public Warrants"), and 4,666,664 Public Warrants at an exercise price of $11.50 that were issued
in connection with the A&R FPA that was consummated upon the Closing Date. The warrants are exercisable subject to the terms of the warrant agreement,
including but not limited to, the Company having an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"),
covering the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants and a
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current prospectus relating to them is available. The warrants expire five years after the completion of the Business Combination, or earlier upon redemption or
liquidation.

Subsequent to the Merger, the Private Placement Warrants and Public Warrants met liability classification requirements since the warrants may be
required to be settled in cash under a tender offer. In addition, the Private Placement Warrants are potentially subject to a different settlement amount as a result
of being held by the Sponsor which precludes the Private Placement Warrants from being considered indexed to the entity's own stock. Therefore, these
warrants are classified as liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

On June 9, 2022, the Company issued a redemption notice to warrant holders announcing that it would redeem all of its Public Warrants (including the
4,666,664 Public Warrants that were issued in connection with the A&R FPA) on July 11, 2022 at 5:00 p.m. New York City Time (the "Redemption Date") for
$0.01 per Public Warrant (the "Redemption"). After such notice and prior to the Redemption Date, warrant holders were entitled to exercise the Public Warrants
at an exercise price of $11.50 per share of the Company's common stock. Any Public Warrants not exercised by the Redemption Date were automatically
redeemed by the Company at a price of $0.01 per Public Warrant.

In connection with the Redemption, 1,994,790 Public Warrants were exercised at an exercise price of $11.50 per share of common stock, for an
aggregate of 1,994,790 common shares. Total cash proceeds generated from such exercises were $22.9 million. The change in fair value of the warrant
liabilities was recorded through the date of exercise as a change in fair value of warrant liabilities within the consolidated statements of operations.
Additionally, the fair value of the warrant liability as of the exercise date of $0.7 million was reclassified to additional paid-in capital within the consolidated
balance sheets.

On July 11, 2022, the remaining 16,471,814 Public Warrants still outstanding were redeemed at a price of $0.01 per Public Warrant for an aggregate cash
payment from the Company of $0.2 million. On July 11, 2022, the Public Warrants were delisted from the NYSE.

12. Share-Based Compensation
Prior Stock Plan

In March 2018, Legacy Forge adopted its 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended from time to time, the “2018 Plan”), which provided for grants of
share-based awards, including stock options, restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), and other forms of share-based awards. The 2018 Plan was terminated in March
2022 in connection with the adoption of the 2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2022 Plan”). Accordingly, no shares are available for future grants
under the 2018 Plan following the adoption of the 2022 Plan.

2022 Plan

In March 2022, prior to and in connection with the Merger, the Company adopted the 2022 Plan, which provides for grants of share-based awards,
including stock options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), and other forms of share-based awards. The Company authorized 18,076,331 shares of common stock
for the issuance of awards under the 2022 Plan. In addition, the number of shares of common stock reserved and available for issuance under the 2022 Plan will
automatically increase on January 1 of each year for a period of ten years, beginning on January 1, 2023 and on each January 1 thereafter and ending on the
tenth anniversary of the adoption date of the 2022 Plan, in an amount equal to (i) 3% of the outstanding number of shares of common stock of the Company on
the preceding December 31, or (ii) a lesser number of shares as approved by the Company's board of directors.

2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In March 2022, prior to and in connection with the Merger, the Company adopted the 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2022 ESPP”). The
2022 ESPP authorizes the issuance of 5,797,609 shares of common stock under purchase rights granted to the Company's employees or to employees of any of
its designated affiliates. The number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance will automatically increase on January 1 of each year, beginning on
January 1, 2023 and each January 1 thereafter until the 2022 ESPP terminates according to its terms, by the lesser of (i) 4,072,000 shares of

86




Table of Contents

common stock, or (ii) 1% of the outstanding number of shares of common stock on the immediately preceding December 31. The Company's board of directors
may determine that such increase will be less than the amount set forth in (i) and (ii) above.

Reserve for Issuance
The Company has the following shares of common stock reserved for future issuance, on an as-if converted basis:

As of December 31,

2023 2022
Warrants to purchase common stock 3,282,652 3,282,652
Stock options issued and outstanding under 2018 Plan” 7,813,366 12,853,072
Shares available for grant under 2022 Plan® 2,052,669 3,310,803
RSUs issued and outstanding under 2022 Plan 17,434,138 10,884,476
Shares available for grant under 2022 ESPP 5,797,609 4,072,000
Outstanding Private Placement Warrants 7,386,667 7,386,667
Total shares of common stock reserved 43,767,101 41,789,670

(1) Effective June 15, 2023, the Company cancelled the CEO Option (as defined below), which was granted under the 2018 Plan. As a result of such cancellation, the
3,122,931 shares of common stock underlying the CEO Option became available for future awards under the 2022 Plan.

(2) To the extent outstanding options granted under the 2018 Plan are cancelled, forfeited, or otherwise terminated without being exercised and would have been returned to
the share reserve under the 2018 Plan following the closing date of the Merger, the number of shares of common stock underlying such awards will be available for future
awards under the 2022 Plan.

Stock Compensation

The share-based compensation expense for the periods indicated below are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31

2023 2022 2021
RSUs $ 29,573 § 40,113  $ =
Stock options 4,761 16,820 7,030
RSAs — 371 890
Secondary sales of common stock — — 4,311
Pre-close issuance of common stock for services — 621 —
Total share-based compensation $ 34334 $ 57,925 $ 12,231

Unrecognized share-based compensation expense for unvested RSUs and stock options granted and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 was
$40.7 million and $4.3 million, which will be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years and 1.4 years, respectively.

Stock Options

Stock options generally vest over four years and expire ten years from the date of grant. Vested stock options generally expire three months to five
years after termination of employment. Stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2023, consisted of the following (in thousands, except for
share and per share data):
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Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Life =~ Aggregate Intrinsic

Stock options Exercise Price (Years) Value
Balance as of December 31, 2021 15,712,434  $ 2.19 92 $ 120,491
Exercised (1,227,310) 0.88
Cancelled/Forfeited/Expired (1,632,052) 1.67
Balance as of December 31, 2022 12,853,072 $ 2.39 70 $ 7,055
Exercised (1,268,982) 0.64
Cancelled/Forfeited/Expired" (3,770,724) 3.64
Balance as of December 31, 2023 7,813,366 $ 2.06 60 $ 14,942
Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2023 6,599,883 $ 1.93 58 $ 13,272

(1) Effective June 15, 2023, the Company cancelled the CEO Option (as defined below), which was granted under the 2018 Plan. As a result of such cancellation, the
3,122,931 shares of common stock underlying the CEO Option became available for future awards under the 2022 Plan.

There were no stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options
granted during the year ended December 31, 2021 was $2.90 per share. The total grant date fair value of stock options vested during the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $4.9 million, $13.0 million and $4.0 million, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $2.4 million, $5.1 million and $14.2 million, respectively.

Early Exercised Options

Under the 2018 Plan, certain stock option holders may have the right to exercise unvested options, subject to a repurchase right held by the Company
at the original exercise price, in the event of voluntary or involuntary termination of employment of the option holders, until the options are fully vested. As of
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the cash proceeds received for unvested shares of common stock recorded within accrued expenses and other
current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets were $0.2 million and $0.6 million, respectively, which will be transferred to additional paid-in capital
upon vesting.

Performance and Market Condition Options

In May 2021, Legacy Forge’s board of directors granted the Chief Executive Officer a performance and market condition-based option covering
3,122,931 shares of Legacy Forge's Class AA common stock with an exercise price of $3.9760 per share (the "CEO Option"). The awards vest only upon the
satisfaction of (1) certain performance conditions, which is the occurrence of an IPO, merger with a SPAC, or a secondary sale for total proceeds of at least
$250.0 million, and (2) a market condition, which is holders of Legacy Forge's B-1 convertible preferred stock having realized (i) aggregate exit proceeds with
fair market value of at least $9.94, $14.91, and $19.88 per share (the “Share Price Thresholds”); and (ii) an aggregate interest rate compounded annually which,
when used as the discount rate to calculate the net present value, with respect to the occurrence of an IPO, merger with a SPAC or acquisition, that is equal to
or greater than 20.0%, 30.0% and 35.0% (the “IRR Thresholds,” and together with the Share Price Thresholds, the “Aggregate Exit Proceeds Thresholds”).
Upon consummation of the Business Combination, the performance condition was met and the Company recorded cumulative catch-up compensation expense
of $4.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2022.

Effective June 15, 2023, and pursuant to approval by the Company's stockholders at the Company's 2023 annual stockholder meeting held on June 14,
2023 (the "Annual Meeting"), the Company cancelled the CEO Option and concurrently granted a market-based RSU award (the “CEO RSU”) representing the
right to receive up to 2,339,030 shares of the Company’s common stock under the 2022 Plan based on the achievement of three specified stock price
performance metrics. The CEO RSU is divided into three tranches that will vest if the average closing price of the Company’s common
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stock meets or exceeds $4.00, $8.00, or $12.00 for any trailing 20 trading day period. The CEO RSU will be forfeit when the Chief Executive Officer ceases to
provide services to the Company.

The Company concluded that the cancellation of the CEO Option and the concurrent grant of a replacement award, the CEO RSU, was accounted for
as a modification of the terms of the cancelled award. The vesting condition in connection with the achievement of a target price per common stock share
qualifies as a market condition, and the condition related to continuous service as the Chief Executive Officer qualifies as a service condition. The total
incremental costs related to the cancelled CEO Option and reissued CEO RSU was $0.3 million. Total compensation expense recognized for the CEO Option
and CEO RSU, including incremental costs related to the modification, in the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $0.7 million, $6.3 million,
and $0.0 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, the market condition had not been met and none of the CEO RSU was vested.

Options Granted to Directors

In July 2021, Legacy Forge’s board of directors granted options to certain members of the board (the "Board Performance Options") in connection
with their services to purchase 499,669 shares of Legacy Forge's Class AA common stock at exercise price of $5.43 per share. Subject to the option agreement,
the options vested in full and became exercisable immediately prior to the Closing Date. The Company recorded $1.2 million of share-based compensation
expense related to the Board Performance Options during the year ended December 31, 2022.

RSUs

The Company’s RSUs are convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock upon vesting on a one-to-one basis, and generally contain time-
based vesting conditions. RSUs granted to certain executives (the “Executive Retention

89




Table of Contents

RSUs”) also contain market-based vesting conditions (the "Executive Retention RSUs") or performance-based vesting conditions (the "Executive Performance
RSUs"). The RSUs generally vest over the service period of one to four years.

RSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2023 was as follows:

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Total RSUs Time-based Performance-based Market-based Per Share
Unvested as of December 31, 2021 — — — — —
Granted 11,521,853 9,662,716 — 1,859,137 10.82
Vested (445,503) (144,094) — (301,409) 18.82
Forfeited (498,037) (347,333) — (150,704) 20.24
Unvested as of December 31, 2022 10,578,313 9,171,289 — 1,407,024 $ 10.04
Granted" 12,199,830 8,055,250 1,805,550 2,339,030 1.64
Vested® (3,552,392) (3,083,382) — (469,010) 10.09
Forfeited (1,791,613) (1,791,613) — — 8.72
Unvested as of December 31, 2023 17,434,138 12,351,544 1,805,550 3,277,044 § 430

(1) In connection with the cancellation of the CEO Option, the Company granted 2,339,030 market-based RSUs. See Performance and Market Condition Options above for
additional information.

(2) Common stock has not been issued in connection with 69,987 vested RSUs because such RSUs were unsettled as of December 31, 2023.
The total grant date fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $35.4 million and $8.4 million, respectively.

Executive Retention RSUs

On June 1, 2022, as a result of the consummation of the Merger, the Compensation Committee of the Company's board of directors granted a total of
1,859,137 RSUs to certain executives (the “Executive Retention RSUs”) that contained market-based vesting conditions in addition to time-based vesting
conditions. The Executive Retention RSUs vest in three equal tranches on the earlier of: (1) first, second and third anniversaries of the consummation of the
Merger, respectively, (the “Time Vesting Component”) or (2) achievement of following market-based conditions:

(a) in the event the Company’s stock price meets or exceeds the price of $12.50 per share during the RSU Measurement Period (defined below), the
first tranche will vest immediately, and the Time Vesting Component of the second and third tranches will be accelerated by six months;

(b) in the event the Company’s stock price meets or exceeds the price of $15.00 per share during the RSU Measurement Period (defined below), the
second tranche will vest immediately, and the Time Vesting Component of the third tranche will be accelerated by an additional six months.

The RSU Measurement Period is equal to 20 trading days within any 30 trading day period commencing upon the expiration of a six month lock-up
period following the Merger. As of December 31, 2023 the lock-up period has expired.

The fair value per share for the Executive Retention RSUs was determined by reference to the market price of the Company’s shares at the date of the
grant, which was $20.26 per share. The Company used the Monte Carlo simulation model to determine the derived service period for the Executive Retention
RSUs for the purposes of calculating the respective share-based compensation expense. The significant inputs used in the valuation included the Company's
closing stock price as of the grant date of $20.26, cost of equity of 9.0%, dividend yield of 0.0%, volatility of 35.7%, and risk-free rate of 2.8%.
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The derived service period for the first, second, and third tranche of the Executive Retention RSUs was 0.40 years, 0.40 years, and 1.80 years, respectively.

469,010 Executive Retention RSUs were vested as of December 31, 2023. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company
recognized share-based compensation expense of $5.3 million and $24.3 million, respectively. Unrecognized share-based compensation expense for unvested
Executive Retention RSUs as of December 31, 2023 was $1.1 million, which is to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.2 years.

Executive RSUs

On April 24, 2023, the Compensation Committee and the board of directors granted a total of 4.9 million RSUs to certain executives. 3.1 million of
the RSUs granted are subject to time-based vesting conditions (the "Time-Based RSUs") and 1.8 million of the RSUs granted are subject to performance-based
vesting conditions upon certification by the Compensation Committee and the Company's Board of Directors, in addition to time-based vesting conditions (the
"Performance-Based RSUs," and together with the Time-Based RSUs, the "Executive RSUs"). The fair value per share for the Executive RSUs was determined
by reference to the market price of the Company's shares at the date of the grant, which was $1.46 per share. On January 31, 2024, the performance-based
vesting conditions of the Performance-Based RSUs were certified by the Compensation Committee and the board of directors based on the extent of
achievement of the Company's revenue goals for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. Accordingly, the Performance-Based RSUs will vest in accordance
with their terms, subject to the applicable executive's continued service through each applicable vesting date.

Modifications

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company modified options of five of its employees in connection with terminations of their
employment and subsequent transition to service providers under consulting agreements. Under the terms of ASC 718 these employees were not obliged to
perform substantive consulting services to the Company for the continued vesting of their options. The Company recognized incremental share-based
compensation expense as the difference between the fair value of the options before and after the modifications.

The Company calculated the fair value of the options before and after modification using current valuation inputs including the Company’s stock price
of $3.79 - $§17.71, a volatility metric 38.4% - 48.1%, a risk-free interest rate of 0.9% - 3.6% and an expected life 1.0 - 5.5 years. The incremental fair value of
the options resulting from the modifications was $2.2 million that was recognized as part of the share-based compensation expense during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

In December 2022, the Company accelerated vesting of 251,364 stock options and 210,987 Executive Retention RSUs as part of the severance
package of one of its executives in connection with the termination of his employment with the Company. As a result, the Company recognized incremental
share-based compensation expense of $0.5 million calculated by using the modification date valuation inputs including the Company’s stock price of $1.52, a
volatility metric of 47.3%, a risk-free interest rate of 4.1% and an expected life of 3.0 years. In connection with this employment termination, the Company
also reversed a portion of the previously recognized share-based compensation expense resulting in a reduction to share-based compensation of $4.4 million,
net of incremental expense as well as additional share-based compensation recognized due to the acceleration of unvested shares under the executive's original
employment terms.

In June 2023, the Company cancelled the CEO Option and concurrently granted the CEO RSU. See Performance and Market Condition Options
above for additional information.

13. Income Taxes

The components of the loss before income taxes were as follows (in thousands):
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Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Domestic $ (87,409) $ (111,339) $ (16,496)
Foreign (3,321) (239) (1,617)
Total loss before provision for income taxes $ (90,730) $ (111,578) $ (18,113)

The components of the provision for income taxes were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Current:

Federal $ — 3 — S —
State 777 231 50
Foreign — — —
Total Current $ 777 $ 231 § 50

Deferred:
Federal $ 122 $ 922 $ 264
State (80) 4 72
Foreign — — —
Total Deferred $ 42 3 9% $ 336
Total Provision for income taxes $ 819 $ 327 $ 386

Reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax to the Company's effective tax is as follows (amounts in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Tax provision (benefit) at U.S. statutory rate $  (19,053) 21.0% $§ (23,431) 21.0% $ (3,804) 21.0 %
State income taxes (V (2,519) 2.8 (2,514) 2.3 (409) 2.3
Foreign taxes in excess of the U.S. statutory rate 175 0.2) 10 — 74 0.4)
Change of valuation allowance (V 15,288 (16.9) 21,501 (19.3) 2,397 (13.2)
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities ) 1,892 2.1) (4,166) 3.7 1,275 (7.1)
Share based compensation (46) 0.1 8,804 (7.9) 1,548 (8.6)
Tax credits 1,913 2.1) (3,615) 32 (862) 4.8
Section 162(m) limitation 3,354 3.7 3,693 3.3) — —
Other (185) 0.2 45 — 167 (0.9)
Tax Expense $ 819 0.9% $ 327 0.3)Y% $ 386 2.1)%

() Immaterial correction of error of $8.3 million to the change in fair value of warrant liabilities and related $1.8 million to state income taxes for the year
ended December 31, 2022. This correction had no impact on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 and the consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Significant components for the Company's net deferred tax liabilities included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Deferred tax assets

Accrued compensation $ 1,919 $ 2,087

Operating lease liability 1,322 1,822

Share-based compensation 8,377 6,033

Net operating loss carryforwards () 28,430 20,984

Allowance for bad debt 306 223

Tax credits 1,702 3,615

Section 174 capitalization 12,730 5,705

Other 404 (32)
Total deferred tax assets $ 55,190 $ 40,437
Valuation allowance @ (51,398) (36,109)
Net deferred tax assets $ 3,792 § 4,328
Deferred tax liabilities

Depreciation and amortization $ (3,245) § (3,392)

Operating lease assets (1,107) (1,454)

Other — —
Total deferred tax liabilities $ (4,352) $ (4,846)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (560) $ (518)

(M The components of the Company's deferred tax assets and valuation allowance as of December 31, 2022 have been adjusted to reflect immaterial corrections
identified during the year ended December, 31 2023. This correction had no impact on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 and the
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which
those temporary differences become deductible. Management believes it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized; accordingly, a
valuation allowance has been established on U.S. and foreign gross deferred tax assets. The Company's valuation allowance increased $15.3 million and
$21.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of $92.4 million available to reduce
future income subject to income taxes. The federal net operating loss carryforwards of $11.1 million will begin to expire, if not utilized, in fiscal year 2037. The
remaining amount of federal net operating loss carryforwards will be carried forward indefinitely. In addition, the Company has $75.8 million and
$25.5 million of net operating loss carryforwards available to reduce future taxable income subject to California state income taxes and all other applicable
state jurisdictions, respectively. The California net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire, if not utilized, in fiscal year 2036. The foreign net

operating loss carryforwards of $0.7 million will be carried forward indefinitely. The other states’ net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire, if not
utilized, in fiscal year 2037.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the Company's ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards or other tax

attributes in any taxable year may be limited if the Company has experienced an ownership change. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has concluded that
it has experienced ownership changes since inception
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and that its utilization of net operating loss carryforwards will be subject to annual limitations. However, it is not expected that the annual limitations will result
in the expiration of the tax attribute carryforwards prior to utilization.

Changes in our unrecognized tax benefits are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Beginning Balance $ 1,629 § 427 3 43
Additions for current year items 13 842 115
Additions for prior year items — 360 269
Reductions for prior year items (820) — _
Lapse of statute of limitations — — _
Ending Balance $ 822 § 1,629 $ 427

During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, interest and penalties were immaterial. The Company does not expect any significant
change in its unrecognized tax benefits during the next twelve months that would be material to the consolidated financial statements. All of the unrecognized
tax benefits would impact the effective tax rate.

The Company is subject to taxation in the United States and various foreign jurisdictions. All net operating losses incurred to date are subject to
adjustment for U.S. federal income tax purposes, except for the years 2017 to 2019, where the statute of limitations has expired, and for state income tax
purposes. Furthermore, as of December 31, 2023, all tax years remain open to examination in the foreign jurisdictions where we operate in.

14. Net Loss per Share

Prior to the Merger and prior to effecting the recapitalization, the holders of Legacy Forge's Class AA, Class EE-1, and Class EE-2 common stock
were entitled to the same right to participate in the Company’s gains or losses. Therefore, net loss per share is presented as a single class of common stock.
Earnings per share calculations for all periods prior to the Merger have been retrospectively restated to the equivalent number of shares reflecting the Exchange
Ratio established in the reverse capitalization.

Subsequent to the Merger, the Company has one class of common stock. The diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is
calculated by giving effect to all potentially dilutive common stock equivalents during the period using the two-class method. The Company’s stock options,
warrants, and early exercised stock options are considered to be potential common stock equivalents but have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net
loss per share attributable to common stockholders because the holders of these securities do not have a contractual right to share in the Company's losses, and
their effect would be antidilutive. Therefore, the net loss for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was attributed to common stockholders only.
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the periods presented (in

thousands, except for share and per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc., basic $ (90,221) (111,859) (18,499)
Less: Change in fair value of Junior Preferred Stock warrant liability — (3,924) —
Net loss attributable to common stockholders, diluted $ (90,221) (115,783) (18,499)
Denominator:

Weighted-average number of shares used to compute net loss per share attributable to

common stockholders, basic 173,402,167 143,839,981 54,295,304

Dilutive effect of common share equivalents — 1,173,365 —

Weighted-average number of shares used to compute net loss per share attributable to

common Stockho]ders’ diluted 173,402,167 145,013,346 54,295,304

Net loss per share attributed to common stockholders:

Basic $ (0.52) (0.78) (0.34)

Diluted $ (0.52) (0.80) (0.34)

The following potentially dilutive shares were excluded in the calculation of diluted shares outstanding as the effect would have been anti-dilutive:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Convertible preferred stock® — — 73,914,150
Warrants to purchase common stock 3,282,652 3,282,652 3,774,437
Private Placement Warrants 7,386,667 7,386,667 —
Common stock subject to repurchase 435,136 1,064,323 11,400,806
Outstanding options 7,813,366 12,853,072 15,712,437
Restricted stock units 17,434,138 10,884,476 —
Total 36,351,959 35,471,190 104,801,830

(1) Conversion of preferred stock to common stock as part of the Merger. See Note 10, "Capitalization", and Note 11, "Warrants", for additional details of the Company’s

stockholders’ equity prior to and subsequent to the Merger.

15. Related Party Transactions

On September 7, 2022 the Company and DBAG formed a subsidiary, Forge Europe GmbH. DBAG is a stockholder of the Company and one of the
Company's directors is affiliated with this entity. See Note 1, "Organization and Description of Business," for additional information.

Financial Technology Partners LP (“Financial Technology Partners”), a stockholder of the Company and affiliated entity of Steven McLaughlin, one
of the Company's former directors, previously served as financial and strategic advisor to the Company on its financing, merger, and acquisition transactions.
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company incurred $18.3 million in fees to Financial Technology Partners, of which $17.4 million was related to

common stock issued
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during the Merger and was recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital. The remaining $0.9 million was related to issuance of Public and Private
Placement Warrants, including warrants issued to A&R FPA investors, and was expensed immediately upon consummation of the Merger as acquisition-related
transaction cost in the consolidated statements of operations. Mr. McLaughlin resigned from the Company's board of directors on May 27, 2022. As a result,
each of Mr. McLaughlin and Financial Technology Partners ceased being a related party in the quarter ended June 30, 2022.

Prior to the Business Combination, one of Legacy Forge's directors was also a director of Temasek Holding (Private) Limited ("Temasek"). Temasek,
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Ossa Investments Pte. Ltd, purchased 1,000,000 shares of the Company's common stock (for a purchase price of $10.0
million) in the PIPE Investment, concurrently and in connection with the closing of the Business Combination. This transaction was on the same terms as the
other investors who purchased shares in the PIPE Investment pursuant to certain subscription agreements dated September 13, 2021. Prior to November 2022,
Temasek was a 5% stockholder of the Company and thus a related party. Effective November 2022, Temasek ceased being a 5% stockholder and thus a related
party based on the Company's outstanding stock.

The Company entered into customer engagement agreements with certain companies to serve as exclusive transaction agent to help facilitate private
purchases of shares of issuers. These companies are identified as related parties who are holders of the Company’s common stock. The Company recognized
$1.2 million in marketplace revenue (previously called placement fee revenue) in the consolidated statements of operations for trades executed with these
companies for the year ended December 31, 2021. The associated revenue recognized for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is immaterial.

Forge Global Advisors LLC ("FGA"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and an investment adviser registered under the Investment Advisers
Act of 1940, as amended, advises investment funds, each of which are organized as a series of Forge Investments LLC and segregated portfolio companies of
Forge Investments SPC and Forge Investments I SPC (such investment funds and portfolio companies are individually and collectively referred to as
“Investment Funds”). The Investment Funds are each formed for the purpose of investing in securities relating to a single private company and are owned by
different investors. Effective January 1, 2023, FGA serves as the manager of the Forge Investments LLC series Investment Funds. Prior to January 1, 2023, the
Forge Investments LLC series Investment Funds were managed by a third-party fund administrator. The Company utilizes a third-party fund administrator to
manage the Forge Investments SPC and Forge Investments I SPC Investment Funds. The Company has no ownership interest nor participation in the gains or
losses of the Investment Funds. The Company does not consolidate Forge Investments LLC, Forge Investments SPC, Forge Investments I SPC, or any of the
Investment Funds, because the Company has no direct or indirect interest in the Investment Funds and the amount of expenses the Company pays on behalf of
the Investment Funds are not significant to the entities. Investors in the Investment Funds do not have any recourse to the assets of the Company.

While not contractually required, FGA may, at its sole discretion, absorb certain expenses on behalf of the Investment Funds. Transaction-based
expenses include fund insurance and fund management expenses and are recorded in transaction-based expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
Audit and accounting related services are recorded in professional services in the consolidated statements of operations. Professional services expenses of $1.1
million, $0.9 million and $0.8 million were recognized in the consolidated statements of operations during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021
respectively. Transaction-based expenses of $0.0 million, $0.3 million and $0.6 million were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and
2021 respectively.

A family member of one of the Company’s executive officers is a portfolio manager for investment funds that engage in secondary transactions with
the Company in the ordinary course of business. Such transactions became related party transactions upon the employee's appointment to executive officer in
April 2023. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the total value of such transactions was $11.3 million and $0.0 million, respectively, and the
aggregate marketplace revenue (less transaction-based expenses) that the Company received from the funds for such transactions was $0.3 million and $0.0
million, respectively.
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16. Subsequent Events

The Company has analyzed its operations subsequent to December 31, 2023 to the date these financial statements were issued and has determined that
it does not have any material subsequent events to disclose or recognize in the accompanying financial statements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this Report and designed
to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported
within the requisite time periods specified in the applicable rules and forms, and that it is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) of the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Management evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based on criteria established in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSQO"). Based on this
evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 was effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
during the period covered by this Report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls or our internal controls
over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities
that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system
of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in
achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or
fraud may occur and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Executive Officers
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During the three months ended December 31, 2023, no director or officer, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange Act, adopted or terminated a
“Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” each as defined in Regulation S-K Item 408 except as follows:

On December 8, 2023, Kelly Rodriques, the Company's Chief Executive Officer, modified a trading plan he had previously adopted with respect to the
sale of the Company's common stock to increase the number of shares covered by the plan. Mr. Rodriques' initial plan was adopted on June 2, 2023. Mr.
Rodriques' amended plan is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) of the Exchange Act. The plan provides for the sale of up
to 3,989,958 shares, which assumes the maximum achievement of performance conditions of RSU awards included in the plan. Such awards include 2,339,030
performance RSUs approved by the Company’s stockholders at the Company’s 2023 annual stockholder meeting held on June 14, 2023 (the “CEO RSU”). The
CEO RSU is divided into three tranches that will only vest if three separate stock-price based performance metrics of $4.00, $8.00, and $12.00 are met for any
trailing 20 trading day period, as described more fully in the Company’s definitive proxy statement filed on April 28, 2023. Accordingly, the actual number of
shares sold will depend on the extent to which such vesting conditions are satisfied, as well as the number of shares that may be withheld or sold to cover tax
withholding obligations upon the settlement of RSUs. The termination date of the plan is the earliest to occur of all shares under the plan being sold or
December 31, 2024.

On December 15, 2023, Drew Sievers, the Company's Chief Operating Officer, adopted a trading plan for the sale of the Company's common stock
that is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) of the Exchange Act. The plan provides for the sale of up to 225,000 shares. The
termination date of the plan is the earliest to occur of all shares under the plan being sold or December 31, 2024.

On December 15, 2023, Jennifer Phillips, the Company's Chief Growth Officer, modified a trading plan she had previously adopted with respect to the
sale of the Company's common stock to increase the number of shares covered by the plan. Ms. Phillips' initial plan was adopted on September 22, 2022. Ms.
Phillips' amended plan is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) of the Exchange Act. The plan provides for the sale of up to
1,736,546 shares. The actual number of shares sold will depend on the number of shares that may be withheld or sold to cover tax withholding obligations upon
the settlement of RSUs. The termination date of the plan is the earliest to occur of all shares under the plan being sold or October 21, 2024.

On December 15, 2023, the following officers each adopted trading plans (the "STC Plans") providing exclusively for the sale of shares necessary to
satisfy tax withholding obligations arising from the settlement of RSUs: 1) Mr. Rodriques, 2) Mark Lee, the Company's Chief Financial Officer, 3) Mr. Sievers,
4) Ms. Phillips, 5) Johnathan Short, the Company's Chief Legal Officer, and 6) Catherine Dondzila, the Company's Chief Accounting Officer. The STC Plans
are intended to satisfy the affirmative defensive conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c). The number of shares each STC Plan may sell to satisfy applicable tax
withholding obligations upon settlement is indeterminable as the number will vary based on factors such as the extent to which vesting conditions for current
and future RSU awards are satisfied, as well as the market price of the Company's common stock at the time of settlement. The duration of each STC Plan is
indefinite as they cover tax withholding obligations for all RSU awards granted to such officers as of the adoption date, as well as any RSU awards that may be
granted after such date.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdiction that Prevent Inspections

None.
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Part 111

In accordance with General Instruction G.(3) of Form 10-K, certain information required by this Part III will be incorporated into this Report by
reference to our Proxy Statement.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item in our Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated into this Item by reference.
Item 11. Executive Compensation

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item in our Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated into this Item by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owner and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item in our Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated into this Item by reference.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item in our Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated into this Item by reference.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item in our Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated into this Item by reference.
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Part IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Report.

Exhibit Index
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Number Date Filed
Merger Agreement, dated as of September 13, 2021, by and among Motive.
2.1+ Merger Sub and Forge Global, Inc. 8-K 001-39794 2.1 September 13, 2021
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant. 8-K 001-39794 3.1 March 25, 2022
32 Bylaws of the registrant. S-4/A 333-260104 33 February 11, 2022
4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate. S-4/A 333-260104 4.5 January 31, 2022

42 agent. S-4/A 333-260104 44 December 16, 2020

43 Description of Securities. 10-K 001-39794 43 March 1, 2023
Form of Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of

10.1 March 21, 2022. S-4/A 333-260104 Annex G February 11, 2022
Sublease, dated August 22, 2023, by and between Jones Lang LaSalle

10.2+ Americas, Inc. and Forge Global, Inc. 10-Q 001-39794 10.1 November 7, 2023

10.3# Forge Global Holdings, Inc. 2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. 8-K 001-39794 10.3 March 25, 2022

10.4# Forge Global Holdings, Inc. 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 8-K 001-39794 10.4 March 25, 2022
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under Forge Global Holdings,

10.5# Inc. 2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. S-8 333-265232 99.4 May 26, 2022
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Forge Global

10.6# Holdingg, Inc. 2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. S-8 333-265232 99.5 May 26, 2022
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Forge Global

10.7# Holdingg, Inc. 2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. S-8 333-265232 99.6 May 26, 2022
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Forge Global

10.8# Holdings, Inc. 2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. S-8 333-265232 99.7 May 26, 2022
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective June 21, 2023,

10.9#+ by and between Kelly Rodriques and the registrant. 10-Q 001-39794 10.1#+ August 3, 2023
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective March 26, 2024,

10.10%# by and between Mark Lee and the registrant.

10.11# Forge Global, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan. 8-K 001-39794 10.9 March 25, 2022
Loan Offset Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2022, by and among Forge

10.12# Global, Inc. and Kelly Rodriques. 8-K 001-39794 10.1 March 25, 2022
Loan Offset Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2022, by and among Forge

10.13# Global, Inc. and Mark Lee. 8-K 001-39794 10.11 March 25, 2022

10.144# Form of Director Indemnification Agreement. 8-K 001-39794 10.13 March 25, 2022

10.15# Form of Officer Indemnification Agreement. 8-K 001-39794 10.14 March 25, 2022

10.16 Sponsor Support Agreement, dated as of September 13, 2021. 424B3 333-260104 Annex D February 14, 2022

10.174# Outside Director Compensation Policy. 10-Q 001-39794 10.1 August 12,2022
Engagement Agreement, dated June 10, 2022, by and between Johnathan

10.18# Short and Forge Global, Inc. 10-Q 001-39794 10.2 August 12, 2022
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective March 26, 2024,

10.19%# by and between Drew Sievers and the registrant.
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10.20%# by and between Jennifer Phillips and the registrant.

Letter from WithumSmith+Brown, PC to the U.S. Securities and Exchange
16.1 Commission dated March 25, 2022. 8-K 001-39794 16.1 March 25, 2022
21.1%* Subsidiaries of the registrant.

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting
23.1%* Firm.
24.1%* Power of Attorney (included on signature page hereto).

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of
31.1* the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of
31.2% the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Certifications of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial
32.1%* Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
97.1% Compensation Recovery Policy.

Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in
the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the

101.INS Inline XBRL document).

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained
104 in Exhibit 101).

+ Certain of the information, exhibits and schedules, as applicable, to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601. The
registrant agrees to furnish a copy with all omitted information, exhibits and schedules, as applicable, to the SEC upon its request.

* Filed herewith.

# Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.

** The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hereto are deemed to accompany this Report and will not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such certifications will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filings under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Forge Global Holdings, Inc.

Date: March 26, 2024 By: /s/ Kelly Rodriques
Kelly Rodriques

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive
Officer)

Date: March 26, 2024 By: /s/ Mark Lee
Mark Lee

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer)

Date: March 26, 2024 By: /s/ Catherine Dondzila

Catherine Dondzila

Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting
Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Kelly Rodriques and
Mark Lee, and each of them, as their true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for them and in their
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto
and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them,
full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as they might or
could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause
to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Kelly Rodriques Chairman and Chief Executive Officer March 26, 2024
Kelly Rodriques (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Mark Lee Chief Financial Officer March 26, 2024
Mark Lee (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Catherine Dondzila Chief Accounting Officer March 26, 2024
Catherine Dondzila (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Ashwin Kumar Director March 26, 2024
Ashwin Kumar
/s/ Blythe Masters Director March 26, 2024
Blythe Masters
/s/ Kimberley Vogel Director March 26, 2024
Kimberley Vogel
/s/ Asiff Hirji Director March 26, 2024
Asiff Hirji
/s/ Debra Chrapaty Director March 26, 2024
Debra Chrapaty
/s/ Eric Leupold Director March 26, 2024
Eric Leupold
/s/ Larry Leibowitz Director March 26, 2024
Larry Leibowitz
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Ashwin Kumar

Industry Partner, Motive Partners
Asiff Hirji

President, MoonPay

Blythe Masters
Founding Partner, Motive Partners

Debra Chrapaty
Chief Technology Officer, Toast, Inc.

Eric Leupold
Managing Director, Cash Market Division, Deutsche Bérse AG

Kelly Rodriques
Chief Executive Olfficer, Forge Global Holdings, Inc.

Larry Leibowitz
Chief Executive Officer, Entrypoint Capital

Kimberley Vogel
Director, Trico Bancshares and Tricounties Bank
Director, TriplePoint Venture Growth BDC Corp.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Kelly Rodriques
Chief Executive Officer

Mark Lee
Chief Financial Officer

Drew Sievers
Chief Operating Olfficer

Jennifer Phillips
Chief Revenue and Growth Officer

Johnathan Short
Chief Legal Officer
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